

# Nagarro SE, Munich

**Auditor's Report** 

on the audit of the combined financial statements for the financial years 2019, 2018, and 2017



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	<u>Page</u>
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT	1



# ANNEX DIRECTORY

Annex 1: Combined Financial Statements for Nagarro for the fiscal years 2019, 2018 and

2017

Annex 2: General engagement terms for auditors and auditing companies as at January 1,

2017



## **Independent Auditor's Report**

To Nagarro SE, Munich,

We have audited the combined financial statements, which comprise the combined statements of financial positions, the combined statements of comprehensive income, the combined statements of changes in equity and the combined statements of cash flows as well as the notes to the combined financial statements for the years January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2017, January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018 and January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019, prepared by Nagarro SE, Munich, for the business of Nagarro SE of the Allgeier SE Group as described in Notes A. I. and A. II. of the notes to the combined financial statements ("Nagarro + Group").

## Management's Responsibility for the Combined Financial Statements

Nagarro SE's management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these combined financial statements that comply, in all material respects, with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the EU, as well as that the combined financial statements, in compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets and liabilities, financial position and financial performance of Nagarro + Group. In addition, management is responsible for such internal control as management determined is necessary to enable the preparation of combined financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

#### Auditor's Responsibility

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the combined financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with sec. 317 HGB and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the IDW will always detect a material misstatement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decision of users taken on



the basis of these combined financial statements. We exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the combined financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the combined financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the Company's preparation and fair presentation of the combined financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the combined financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

## Opinion

In our opinion, the combined financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Nagarro+ Group as at December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the EU.

## **Emphasis of Matter**

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to the fact that, as described in Note A. I. of the notes to the combined financial statements, the Nagarro + Group included in the combined financial statements has not operated as a separate group of entities. These combined financial statements are, therefore, not necessarily indicative of results that would have occurred if the Nagarro + Group had been a separate stand-alone group of entities during the years presented or of future results of the Nagarro + Group.



# Düsseldorf, 09 November 2020

# LOHR + COMPANY GmbH

# Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Prof. Dr. Jörg-Andreas Lohr - Wirtschaftsprüfer - ppa. Uwe Höschler - Wirtschaftsprüfer -



# ANNEXES

# Combined Financial Statements for Nagarro

For the fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017

# Table of contents

Combined Statements of Financial Position
Combined Statements of Comprehensive Income
Combined Statements of Changes in Equity
Combined Statements of Cash Flow
Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

Α.		
١.		
II.	l. Description of Nagarro	2
В.	Basis of preparation of the combined financial statements	3
I.		
11.		
III	II. Carve-out specific accounting principles	8
c.	General Accounting Principles	10
I.	Accounting standards to be applied for the first time	10
II.	I. Standards and interpretations not yet applied	14
Ш	II. Principles of consolidation	15
IV	V. Currency translation	16
V.	/. Notes to the statements of financial position	16
VI	/I. Notes to the Combined Statements of Comprehensive Income	23
VI	/II. Estimates and assumptions	24
D.	Notes to the Combined Statement of Financial Position	25
1.	Intangible assets	25
2.	. Impairment test for goodwill	26
3.	S. Property, plant and equipment	28
4.	Leases	30
5.	Other financial assets	32
6.	i. Other assets	32
7.	'. Deferred taxes	33
8.	3. Inventories	34
9.	Contract costs	34
10	O. Contract assets and liabilities	34
13	1. Trade receivables	35
12	.2. Cash	36
13	3. Liabilities to banks	36
14	4. Provisions for post-employment benefits	37
15	5. Liabilities from acquisitions	39
16	.6. Other financial liabilities	39
17	.7. Other provisions	40
18	8. Other liabilities	41
19	9. Financial instruments	42
E.	Notes to the Combined Statements of Comprehensive Income	48
	O. Revenue	

21.	Other operating income	48
22.	Cost of materials	48
23.	Staff costs	49
24.	Other operating expenses	49
25.	Depreciation, amortization and impairment	49
26.	Finance income	50
27.	Finance costs	50
28.	Income taxes	50
29.	Non-Controlling Interests	51
F. I	Notes to the Combined Statement of Changes in Equity	52
30.	Other transactions with shareholders	52
G. I	Notes to the Combined Statements of Cash Flows	52
31.		
32.	Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and of financial liabilities	55
Н. (		
,	Other disclosures	57
I.	Other disclosures	
		57
l.	Business combinations	57 65
l. II.	Business combinations	57 65 69
I. II. III.	Business combinations	57 65 69
I. II. III. IV.	Business combinations Related party transactions Segment information Contingent liabilities and guarantees	
I. II. IV. V.	Business combinations Related party transactions Segment information Contingent liabilities and guarantees Capital Management Financial risk management	

# **Combined Statements of Financial Position**

			December 31,		January 1,
ASSETS	Note	2019	2018	2017	2017
in kEUR		_			
Intangible assets	D.1., D.2.	111,388	107,655	45,450	49,270
Property, plant and equipment	D.3.	7,201	6,653	4,227	4,435
Right of use assets	D.4.	54,862	47,258	28,039	22,809
Non-current contract costs	D.9.	332	554	-	-
Other non-current financial assets	D.5.	2,702	3,404	3,580	2,541
Other non-current assets	D.6.	34	34	1	5
Deferred tax assets	D.7.	8,332	4,574	4,168	3,448
Non-current assets		184,853	170,132	85,465	82,508
Inventories	D.8.	9	10	265	2
Current contract costs	D.9.	278	301	-	-
Contract Assets	D.10.	12,562	5,528	-	-
Trade receivables	D.11.	80,320	74,977	50,268	34,719
Other current financial assets	D.5.	6,047	5,190	5,106	4,942
Other current assets	D.6.	8,964	7,724	4,302	2,137
Income tax receivables		5,219	5,304	4,155	4,090
Cash	D.12.	43,758	27,947	16,576	14,222
Current assets		157,158	126,981	80,671	60,112
Total assets		342,011	297,112	166,136	142,620

# **Combined Statements of Financial Position**

		December 31,			January 1,	
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES	Note	2019	2018	2017	2017	
in kEUR						
Equity attributable to the shareholders of Nagarro		50,249	74,533	28,041	29,820	
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests	E.29.	9,693	14,377	5,409	6,337	
Total Equity	F.29.	59,942	88,910	33,450	36,157	
Non-current liabilities to banks	D.13.	244	233	149	365	
Non-current lease liabilities	D.4.	47,232	41,024	25,061	20,286	
Long-term provisions for post-employment benefits	D.14.	3,815	2,767	2,227	1,989	
Other long-term provisions	D.17.	236	241	0	0	
Non-current contract liabilities	D.10.	285	237	-	-	
Other non-current financial liabilities	D.16.	2,125	1,470	1,157	622	
Non-current liabilities from acquisitions	D.15.	10,633	25,202	0	698	
Deferred tax liabilities	D.7.	1,566	1,720	814	260	
Non-current liabilities		66,136	72,894	29,408	24,220	
Current liabilities to banks	D.13.	5,252	5,734	3,534	11,395	
Current lease liabilities	D.4.	12,133	9,664	5,375	3,977	
Short-term provisions for post-employment benefits	D.14.	579	404	289	224	
Other short-term provisions	D.17.	9,927	8,191	6,005	2,773	
Current contract liabilities	D.10.	7,249	4,431	-	-	
Trade payables		16,055	17,358	14,670	8,365	
Current liabilities from acquisitions	D.15.	10,988	879	755	3,176	
Other current financial liabilities	D.16.	140,283	76,755	66,705	46,426	
Other current liabilities	D.18.	2,480	2,553	1,916	1,374	
Income tax liabilities		10,987	9,341	4,029	4,533	
Current liabilities		215,933	135,309	103,277	82,243	
Equity and liabilities		342,011	297,112	166,136	142,620	

# Combined Statements of Comprehensive Income

Profit or loss	Note	2019	2018	2017
in kEUR				
Revenue	E.20.	402,430	287,329	210,551
Changes in work in progress		-	-	-1,333
Own work capitalized		906	512	0
Other operating income	E.21.	12,730	2,443	6,330
Cost of materials	E.22.	49,072	39,866	31,588
Staff costs	E.23.	254,662	179,768	128,039
Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets	D.19.	986	1,011	-
Other operating expenses	E.24.	49,762	37,357	34,564
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)		61,584	32,283	21,357
Depreciation, amortization and impairment	E.25.	19,161	13,714	10,089
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)	•	42,422	18,569	11,268
Finance income	E.26.	212	463	898
Finance costs	E.27.	5,481	4,614	3,925
Earnings before taxes (EBT)	•	37,153	14,418	8,240
Income taxes	E.28.	-6,757	-6,244	-4,591
Profit for the period	•	30,396	8,174	3,649
	•			
Profit for the period attributable to:				
Shareholders of Nagarro		25,481	6,852	3,059
Non-controlling interests	E.29.	4,915	1,322	590
Other comprehensive income	Note	2019	2018	2017
in kEUR				
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or lo	SS			
Actuarial gains (losses)	D.14.	<del>-4</del> 85	-87	196
Tax effects		68	30	-67
		-417	-58	129
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss				
<b>Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss</b> Foreign exchange differences		1,172	2,290	-7,739
-		1,172 1,172	2,290 <b>2,290</b>	-7,739 <b>-7,739</b>
-		· ·		
Foreign exchange differences		1,172	2,290	-7,739
Foreign exchange differences  Other comprehensive income for the period	l <u>e:</u>	1,172 755	2,290 2,232	-7,739 -7,610
Foreign exchange differences  Other comprehensive income for the period  Total comprehensive income for the period	l <u>e:</u>	1,172 755	2,290 2,232	-7,739 -7,610

# Combined Statements of Changes in Equity

	Net assets attributable to the shareholders of Nagarro	Foreign exchange differences	Equity attributable to the shareholders of Nagarro	Equity attributable to Non-controlling interests	Total Equity
in kEUR					
Balance at January 1, 2017	20,066	9,755	29,820	6,337	36,157
Profit for the period	3,059	-	3,059	590	3,649
Other comprehensive income for the period	150	-6,488	-6,338	-1,272	-7,610
Total comprehensive income for the period	3,209	-6,488	-3,279	-682	-3,961
Dividends	0	-	0	0	0
Other transactions with shareholders	1,500	-	1,500	-246	1,254
Balance at December 31, 2017	24,775	3,267	28,041	5,409	33,450
Balance at January 1, 2018	24,775	3,267	28,041	5,409	33,450
Profit for the period	6,852	-	6,852	1,322	8,174
Other comprehensive income for the period	-67	2,660	2,593	-361	2,232
Total comprehensive income for the period	6,785	2,660	9,445	961	10,406
Dividends	0	-	0	0	0
Other transactions with shareholders	37,046	-	37,046	8,007	45,053
Balance at December 31, 2018	68,606	5,927	74,533	14,377	88,910
Balance at January 1, 2019	68,606	5,927	74,533	14,377	88,910
Profit for the period	25,481	-	25,481	4,915	30,396
Other comprehensive income for the period	-484	1,362	878	-122	755
Total comprehensive income for the period	24,997	1,362	26,359	4,793	31,151
Dividends	0	-	0	0	0
Other transactions with shareholders	-50,643	-	-50,643	-9,477	-60,120
Balance at December 31, 2019	42,960	7,289	50,249	9,693	59,942

# **Combined Statements of Cash Flows**

	2019	2018	2017
in kEUR			
Cash flows from operating activities			
EBIT	42,422	18,569	11,268
Depreciation, amortization and impairments of non-current assets	19,161	13,714	10,089
Non-cash purchase price adjustments of liabilities from acquisitions	-7,144	0	0
Change in long-term provisions	428	630	344
Other non-cash income and expenses	1,297	-171	230
Income taxes paid	-9,046	-7,146	-5,575
Cash flows from changes in net working capital	-6,250	-17,020	-10,816
Net cash inflow from operating activities	40,867	8,576	5,540
Cash flows from investing activities			
Payments for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets	-3,082	-2,666	-2,286
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets	430	38	10
Repayments from loans to Allgeier Group	26	410	0
Payments for loans to Allgeier Group	-2,524	0	-322
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash aquired	-2,863	4,950	-4,129
Net cash outflow from investing activities	-8,013	2,731	-6,728
Cash flows from financing activities			
Proceeds from bank loans	293	154	1,759
Repayment of bank loans	-495	-2,088	-11,410
Proceeds from loans from Allgeier Group	5,579	5,057	15,514
Repayment of loans from Allgeier Group	-8,969	-66	0
Principal elements of lease payments	-14,993	-9,780	-7,055
Net cash inflow from factoring	255	1,220	3,111
Interest received	146	185	81
Interest paid	-244	-283	-413
Other transactions with Allgeier Group	1,283	1,744	935
Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities	-17,145	-3,857	2,523
Total cash flow	15,709	7,450	1,335
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	358	386	-675
Total changes in cash and cash equivalents	16,067	7,836	661
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	22,718	14,882	14,222
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	38,786	22,718	14,882

# Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

#### A. General Information

## I. Background

Early November 2019, with the approval of its supervisory board, management of Allgeier SE agreed on a strategic realignment of Allgeier SE and its subsidiaries (the "Allgeier Group" or the "the Group").

Allgeier Group offers IT services, IT solutions and products, as well as personnel services. Allgeier SE is the Group's ultimate parent company. Its registered office is Einsteinstraße 172, 81677 Munich, Germany. It is registered with the commercial register of the District Court of Munich under HRB 198543. Allgeier SE acquires, holds and sells companies in the information technology and service sectors as well as related fields.

In the context of the strategic realignment it is intended to spin-off certain businesses from Allgeier Group to a separate listed entity ("the Transaction"). The new stand-alone group (hereafter "Nagarro") will be developed on the basis of the entrepreneurial organization model of Allgeier Group's previous Nagarro division including Nagarro Holding GmbH, Munich, (until July 2020 Allgeier Nagarro Holding GmbH, Munich) and its subsidiaries (hereafter "Nagarro Base"). Nagarro will also consist of Allgeier Group's previous divisions iQuest group ((hereafter "Nagarro iQuest") and Objectiva group ((hereafter "Nagarro Objectiva"), as well as of the SAP services business (in the following "Nagarro ES"). Within these four business areas, 8,406 employees located in 25 countries as at end of June 2020.

The listing on the stock exchange is contemplated to take place simultaneously with the spin-off. The spin-off will be conducted the way of a demerger into another company (*Abspaltung zur Aufnahme*) with the issuance of new shares to the shareholders of Allgeier SE in exchange for the spun-off net assets, and subsequent listing of those shares. Once the demerger has been entered into the commercial register of the District Court of Munich, it becomes effective retrospectively as per 1 January 2020. The issuer of the new shares and hence the parent company of the future stand-alone Nagarro will be Nagarro SE. Shares of Nagarro SE are to be admitted to trading on the regulated market segment (*regulierter Markt*) of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (*Frankfurter Wertpapierbörse*), Germany, with simultaneous admission to the sub-segment of the regulated market with additional post-admission obligations (Prime Standard) of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. The spin-off has been approved by the Shareholders' Meetings of Allgeier SE on September 24, 2020.

In contemplation of the spin-off the Nagarro SE, a former shelf company, founded on January 29, 2020, was acquired by Allgeier SE on February 19, 2020 and renamed accordingly. Subject to the demerger of Nagarro SE from Allgeier SE, Allgeier Connect AG, Munich, which is currently held by Allgeier SE, will be merged with Nagarro SE.

In the course of the Transaction all businesses that are to be part of the new Nagarro have already been transferred to Nagarro SE through a legal reorganization under common control of Allgeier SE prior to the demerger. Further details on such legal reorganization are provided in sections B.II. *Scope of combination and acquisitions* and H.VIII. *Events after the balance sheet date.* 

According to the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980 (the "Regulation") an issuer must present audited historical financial information covering the latest three financial years in a securities prospectus for the contemplated listing on the stock exchange. Given that Nagarro was not a group in accordance with IFRS 10 prior to the completion of the legal reorganization and due to the significant restructuring in the context of the legal reorganization, Nagarro SE has a "Complex Financial History" according to the Regulation as there is no historical financial information for the Nagarro as of and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 that reflects entire operating activities of Nagarro.

Therefore, Nagarro's management has prepared combined financial statements as of and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 (the "Combined Financial Statements"), which include those businesses of the Allgeier Group that are to be part of the new Nagarro. Detailed information on the businesses included are presented in sections B.II. *Scope of combination and acquisitions*, H.I. *Business combinations* and H.VIII. *Events after the balance sheet date.* 

The Combined Financial Statements comprise the Combined statements of financial position as of December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, as well as of January 1, 2017, Combined statements of comprehensive income, Combined statements of changes in equity, Combined statements of cash flows and Notes to the Combined Financial Statements for the fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017, prepared on a going concern bases.

The Combined Financial Statements are presented in euros. Amounts are stated in thousands of euros (kEUR), except where otherwise indicated. Rounding differences may arise when individual amounts or percentages are added together.

The Combined Financial Statements were prepared and authorized for issuance on October 05, 2020 by the Board of Directors of Nagarro SE.

# II. Description of Nagarro

The Combined Financial Statements reflect the following four business areas that are subject to the Transaction as historically conducted in the entities of the Allgeier Group.

Of the Group's previous segment "Technology", Nagarro Holding GmbH and its subsidiaries, Nagarro iQuest and Nagarro Objectiva are included. Nagarro ES entities are included from the Group's previous segment "Enterprise Services".

With its "thinking breakthroughs" philosophy, Nagarro delivers pioneering technology solutions for industry leaders and aspiring companies all over the world. Nagarro specializes in solving complex and strategic challenges for clients with agile software engineering and co-innovation.

It Nagarro Base employs some 6,608 personnel in 16 countries, of which 5,172 are the engineering professionals employed in India as at June 30, 2020. Clients include market and industry leaders, leading software providers and public authorities. Nagarro currently generates most of its revenue in the United States and the German-speaking countries (Germany and Austria). A smaller proportion derives from Scandinavia and Great Britain, the Asia-Pacific region and the rest of the world. In 2016, Nagarro acquired "Conduct", an information security and IT consulting company based in Oslo, and "Mokriya", a software product development studio with its headquarters in Silicon Valley. In 2018, Nagarro acquired "Anecon" (hereafter "Nagarro Anecon"), a leading Austrian software development, testing and consulting company. In April 2019, Nagarro signed contracts to acquire Farabi and Solutions4Mobility (hereafter "Nagarro MENA"), based in Dubai, which specialize in the development of mobile applications to support digital transformation. On the basis of strategic acquisitions focusing on disruptive technologies and exclusive partnerships with state-of-the-art research and development organizations, Nagarro is steadily advancing its position as a reliable global partner for innovative and transformative technology services.

Nagarro iQuest is a European technology consultancy and software provider that has been part of the Allgeier Group since 2018. Nagarro iQuest currently employs 680 people across 4 countries, but mostly in Romania as at June 30, 2020

Nagarro Objectiva, which has been part of the Group since 2018, is a leading provider of software outsourcing services for independent software vendors, companies and digital agencies. Nagarro Objectiva was founded in 2001 and is headquartered in the US, where most of its clients are located, and has development centers in Beijing and Xi'an in China. Nagarro Objectiva employs 593 people, nearly all of them in China as at June 30, 2020

Nagarro ES covers the entire SAP lifecycle and is considered one of the most powerful full-service providers for SAP in the German-speaking region. It employs 525 personnel, all in Europe, but primarily in Germany as at June 30, 2020.

Nagarro Objectiva and Nagarro iQuest joined the Group in fiscal year 2018. Material assets and processes of Nagarro ES were acquired by the Group by way of asset deals in fiscal year 2017.

Further information as well as disclosures in accordance with IFRS 3 are provided in sections B.II. *Scope of combination and acquisitions* and H.I. *Business Combinations*.

# B. Basis of preparation of the combined financial statements

# I. Compliance with IFRS and other principles

During the reporting periods presented Nagarro is not a group of entities under the control of a parent company as defined by IFRS 10 "Consolidated Financial Statements" and has historically not prepared consolidated financial statements for internal or external reporting purposes. Management has prepared these Combined Financial Statements for the planned listing. The Combined Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") and the interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee as adopted by the European Union.

Since IFRS do not provide specific guidance for the preparation of combined financial statements, in accordance with IAS 8 "Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors" management uses judgement in developing and applying an accounting policy, which produce information that is relevant to users, reliable and free from bias, and complete in all material respects. In doing so, IAS 8.12 requires consideration of recent pronouncements by other standard-setters, other accounting pronouncements and accepted industry practices.

For the preparation of these Combined Financial Statements the predecessor accounting approach has been applied, i.e. the Combined Financial Statements are considered to be an extract from the consolidated financial statements of the parent company Allgeier SE ("Extraction Method") and reflect the businesses attributable to Nagarro as they have been historically included in the IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements of Allgeier SE. Hence, Nagarro is presented using the carrying amounts and historical costs that are also included in the IFRS consolidated financial statements of Allgeier SE. In general, the same accounting policies are applied by the entities in the scope of combination as they were used for the preparation of the IFRS consolidated financial statements of Allgeier SE, unless such accounting policies are not in accordance with IFRS when presenting the Nagarro as a group of companies independent of the Allgeier Group. This approach is globally recognized for the preparation of combined financial statements with respect to reporting in a securities prospectus.

By applying this approach, the carrying amounts used from the IFRS consolidated financial statements of Allgeier SE for the preparation of the Combined Financial Statements also include historical amounts for acquired intangible assets, step ups from purchase price allocation and goodwill, which result from the acquisition of the businesses in scope of the Combined Financial Statements by the Allgeier Group.

New IFRS accounting standards were applied in the Combined Financial Statements of Nagarro in fiscal years 2017 through 2019 (see section C.I. *Accounting standards to be applied for the first time*) in accordance with the same respective dates of first-time adoption of Allgeier SE.

Specifically, for IFRS 16 "Leases" (replacing IAS 17 "Leases"), Allgeier SE adopted the standard for the first time in fiscal year 2019, using the full retrospective method. As the IFRS consolidated financial statements for the Allgeier Group only presented one comparative period, the cumulative transition effects were included in accordance with the transition rules directly in retained earnings at the start of that comparative period on January 1, 2018. However, due to the additional period from January 1 to

December 31, 2017 presented for the Combined Financial Statements, IFRS 16 has been applied starting with the period from January 1 to December 31, 2017, according to the full retrospective approach. Hence, the cumulative effects were included directly in equity as of January 1, 2017 within "Net assets attributable to Nagarro". As for the group of entities in scope of the Combined Financial Statements historically no financial statements have been prepared for periods in which IAS 17 was still applicable, and IFRS 16 was applied for all of the three fiscal years 2017 to 2019 presented in the Combined Financial Statements, the Combined Financial Statements do not include reconciliation statements. However, a separate opening balance sheet as of January 1, 2017 is presented.

All entities included in the Combined Financial Statements prepare their separate financial statements as of December 31.

Transactions between Nagarro and the remaining Allgeier Group are accounted for and classified as related party transactions in accordance with IFRS as further described in section H.II. *Related party transactions*.

# II. Scope of combination

The scope of combination for the Combined Financial Statements of Nagarro for the fiscal years 2017 to 2019 was determined based on the legal reorganization concept. That is, the Combined Financial Statements reflect all businesses which, as a result of the legal reorganization under common control of Allgeier SE, have been transferred to Nagarro SE. For more details on the legal reorganization also refer to section H.VIII. *Events after the balance sheet date*.

The following table represents an overview of the legal entities that are in scope of combination for the reporting periods presented in the Combined Financial Statement. Businesses that were acquired from a third party during the reporting periods of the Combined Financial Statements were included from the date at which Allgeier SE obtained control.

	Dec 31, 2017	Dec 31, 2018	Dec 31, 2019
Nagarro Base			
SPP Co-Investor Verwaltungs GmbH, Munich, Germany	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%
SPP Co-Investor GmbH & Co. KG, Munich, Germany	23.76%	24.57%	16.41%
Nagarro SPP GmbH, Munich, Germany	62.64%	63.04%	59.04%
Allgeier Nagarro Beteiligungs GmbH, Munich, Germany <sup>14)</sup>	50.01%	50.01%	50.01%
Allgeier Nagarro Holding GmbH, Munich, Germany <sup>7)</sup>	84.37%	84.43%	83.83%
Nagarro Inc., San Jose, USA	84.37%	84.43%	83.83%
Nagarro Software Pvt. Ltd., Gurgaon, India	84.37%	84.43%	83.83%
Nagarro Software GmbH, Frankfurt, Germany	84.37%	84.43%	83.83%
Nagarro Software S.A., Monterrey, Mexico	84.37%	84.43%	83.83%
Mokriya Inc., Cupertino, USA	84.37%	84.43%	83.83%
Allgeier Global Services Asia Pte. Ltd., Singapore	84.37%	84.43%	83.83%
Nagarro Enterprise Services Pvt. Ltd., Jaipur, India	84.37%	84.43%	83.83%
Nagarro SDN. BHD., Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia <sup>3)</sup>	84.37%	84.43%	83.83%
Nagarro K.K., Tokio, Japan <sup>3)</sup>	84.37%	84.43%	83.83%
Nagarro Software AB, Stockholm, Sweden	84.37%	84.43%	83.83%
Nagarro GmbH, Vienna, Austria	84.37%	84.43%	83.83%
Nagarro Austria Beteiligungs GmbH, Vienna, Austria <sup>1)</sup>	84.37%	-	-
Nagarro GmbH, Munich, Germany	84.37%	84.43%	83.83%
Nagarro Software srl, Timisoara, Romania	84.37%	84.43%	83.83%
Nagarro Testing Service GmbH, Dresden, Germany 2)	-	84.43%	-
Nagarro Software A/S, Copenhagen, Denmark	84.37%	84.43%	83.83%
Nagarro Software Ltd., London, United Kingdom	84.37%	84.43%	83.83%
Nagarro Software SAS, Paris, France	84.37%	84.43%	83.83%
Nagarro AS, Oslo, Norway	84.37%	84.43%	83.83%
Nagarro Pty. Ltd., Sydney, Australia 3)	84.37%	84.43%	83.83%
Nagarro Oy, Espoo, Finland <sup>3)</sup>	84.37%	84.43%	83.83%
Nagarro Ltd., Valetta, Malta <sup>3)</sup>	-	84.43%	83.83%
Nagarro Pty. Ltd., Pretoria, South Africa 3)	-	84.43%	83.83%
Nagarro Software LLC, Abu Dhabi, UAE 4)	-	84.43%	-
Nagarro Inc., Toronto, Canada <sup>3)</sup>	-	84.43%	83.83%
Nagarro Company Ltd., Bangkok, Thailand 3)	-	-	83.83%
Nagarro Ltd., Port Luis, Mauritius 3)	-	-	83.83%
Farabi Technology Middle East LLC, Dubai, UAE 8)	-	-	83.83%
Solutions4Mobility LLC, Dubai, UAE	-	-	83.83%
Nagarro ES			
Allgeier Midmarket Services GmbH, Bremen, Germany 9)	100.00%	95.00%	95.00%
Allgeier Consulting Services GmbH, Munich, Germany 10)	100.00%	95.00%	95.00%
Allgeier ES France SAS, Entzheim, France 11)	100.00%	95.00%	95.00%
Allgeier Enterprise Services Denmark A/S, Bröndby, Denmark 12)	100.00%	95.00%	95.00%
Nagarro Objectiva			
Objectiva Software Solutions Inc., San Diego, USA	-	100.00%	100.00%
Objectiva Software Solutions Co. Ltd., Beijing, China	-	100.00%	100.00%
Objectiva Software Solutions Co. Ltd., Xi'an, China	-	100.00%	100.00%

	Dec 31, 2017	Dec 31, 2018	Dec 31, 2019
Nagarro iQuest			
iQuest Holding GmbH, Karlsruhe, Germany <sup>13)</sup>	-	60.82%	68.72%
iQuest Technologies GmbH & Co. KG, Bad Homburg, Germany	-	60.82%	68.72%
iQuest Verwaltungs GmbH, Bad Homburg, Germany	-	60.82%	68.72%
iQuest Technologies srl, Cluj-Napoca, Romania	-	60.82%	68.72%
iQuest Solutions srl, Sibiu, Romania <sup>5)</sup>	-	60.82%	-
iQuest Tech Labs srl, Cluj-Napoca, Romania 4)	-	60.82%	-
iQuest Technologies srl, Brasov, Romania 5)	-	60.82%	-
iQuest Schweiz AG, Zürich, Switzerland	-	60.82%	68.72%
iQuest SPZOO, Warschau, Poland	-	60.82%	68.72%
iQuest Technologies North America LLC <sup>6)</sup>	-	-	-

- 1) The company was merged into Nagarro GmbH, Vienna, Austria in 2018
- 2) The company was merged into Nagarro GmbH, Munich, Germany in 2019
- 3) The companies were incorporated in the respective financial year
- 4) The company was liquidated in 2019
- 5) The company was merged into iQuest Technologies srl, Cluj-Napoca, Romania in 2019
- 6) The company was acquired and liquidated in 2018
- 7) Subsequent to the year, the company name was changed to Nagarro Holding GmbH in 2020 (hereafter "Nagarro Holding GmbH" irrespective of the period being referred to)
- 8) Subsequent to the year, the company name was changed to Nagarro MENA LLC, UAE in 2020 (hereafter "Nagarro MENA LLC" irrespective of the period being referred to)
- 9) Subsequent to the year, the company name was changed to Nagarro Allgeier ES GmbH, Kronberg, Germany (hereafter "Nagarro Allgeier ES GmbH" irrespective of the period being referred to)
- 10) Subsequent to the year, the company was merged with Nagarro Allgeier ES GmbH
- 11) Subsequent to the year, the company name was changed to Nagarro Allgeier ES France SAS, Entzheim, France in 2020 (hereafter "Nagarro Allgeier ES France SAS" irrespective of the period being referred to)
- 12) Subsequent to the year, the company name was changed to Nagarro Allgeier ES Denmark A/S, Bröndby, Denmark in 2020 (hereafter "Nagarro Allgeier ES Denmark A/S" irrespective of the period being referred to)
- 13) Subsequent to the year, the company name was changed to Nagarro iQuest Holding GmbH, Karlsruhe, Germany, in 2020 (hereafter "Nagarro iQuest Holding GmbH" irrespective of the period being referred to)
- 14) Subsequent to the year, the company name was changed to Nagarro Beteiligungs GmbH, Munich, Germany, in 2020 (hereafter "Nagarro Beteiligungs GmbH" irrespective of the period being referred to)

In all periods presented the shares in Nagarro Holding GmbH were held by Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH (65.00%), Nagarro SPP GmbH (15.00%) and Nagarro Beteiligungs GmbH (20.00%), where shares in Nagarro SPP GmbH were held by SPP Co-Investor GmbH & Co KG (49.00%) and Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH (51.00%). Of the shares in Nagarro Beteiligungs GmbH 49.99% (December 31, 2018: 49.99%; December 31, 2017: 49.99%) were held by co-founders of Nagarro Inc. and of the shares in SPP Co-Investor GmbH & Co KG 83.59% (December 31, 2018: 75.43%; December 31, 2017: 76.24%) were held by members of management of Nagarro Base. In total, indirectly 16.17% of the shares of Nagarro Holding GmbH (December 31, 2018: 15.57%; December 31, 2017: 15.63 %) were held by the co-founders and management of Nagarro Base. This indirect share of 16.17% remains unchanged to date. Nagarro Holding GmbH by itself, holds 100% of shares in its respective subsidiaries presented in the table above.

Of the shares in Nagarro iQuest Holding GmbH 4.87% (December 31, 2018: 5.84%) were directly held by members of management of the Nagarro iQuest Holding GmbH and 21.53% (December 31, 2018: 27.49%) were directly held by former owners. Additionally, 4.87% (December 31, 2018: 5.84%) were indirectly held by members of management of the Nagarro iQuest Holding GmbH via iQuest SPP GmbH, Munich, the latter acquired as Blitz 18-492 GmbH by Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH and holding 15.01% of the shares in Nagarro iQuest Holding GmbH. All existing Non-Controlling Interests in Nagarro iQuest Holding

GmbH were acquired by Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH which sold 100.00% of the shares of Nagarro iQuest Holding GmbH to Nagarro Holding GmbH in July 2020, so that the Nagarro currently holds 100.00% of the shares of Nagarro iQuest.

Of the shares in Allgeier Consulting Services GmbH as well as in Nagarro Allgeier ES GmbH 5.00% each (December 31, 2018: 5.00% each) were indirectly held by employees and members of the management of these two companies via AES SPP GmbH, Munich. This company was acquired as Blitz 18-616 GmbH by Allgeier Enterprise Service AG, Bremen, in December 2018. All existing Non-Controlling Interests in Allgeier Consulting Services GmbH as well as in Nagarro Allgeier ES GmbH were acquired by Allgeier Enterprise Services AG which sold the remaining 10.00% share of both companies Allgeier Consulting Services GmbH as well as Nagarro Allgeier ES GmbH to Nagarro Holding GmbH in July 2020, so that the Nagarro currently holds 100% of the shares of Nagarro ES. 90.00% of the shares of both the companies were acquired by Nagarro Holding GmbH in December 2019. Allgeier Consulting Services GmbH has been merged into Nagarro Allgeier ES GmbH with effect from January 1, 2020.

Material changes in the scope of combination in fiscal year 2018 result from the acquisition of Nagarro iQuest in July 2018 and Nagarro Objectiva in October 2018 by Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH. Beyond, the acquisition of ANECON Software Design und Beratung GmbH, based in Vienna, Austria, by Nagarro Austria Beteiligungs GmbH in January 2018 with its subsequent merger into Nagarro GmbH, Vienna, as well as the acquisition of Farabi Technology Middle East LLC ((hereafter "Nagarro Farabi") and Solutions 4 Mobility LLC (hereafter "Nagarro S4M") by Nagarro Holding GmbH in April 2019 (in the following together also referred to as "Nagarro MENA") affected the scope of combination.

In fiscal year 2017, significant assets and business processes in the area of SAP-services were acquired by Allgeier Group companies in the way of asset deals.

In Nagarro Farabi, acquired in April 2019, and in Nagarro S4M, also acquired in April 2019, Nagarro Holding GmbH holds 49.00% of the voting rights in legal terms and 100.00% in economic terms. Due to the right to determine the management of the company alone and to exercise a controlling influence, these companies historically were fully included in the Group's IFRS consolidated financial statements.

The aforementioned acquisitions have been accounted for in the Combined Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS 3 *Business Combinations*, as they have been accounted for in the IFRS consolidated financial statements of Allgeier SE. Hence, the respective entities have been included in the Combined Financial Statements starting with the date of their acquisition, i.e. when Allgeier Group obtained control, and for the period of time they have been under common control of Allgeier SE, i.e. through 31 December 2019. Respective disclosures are provided in section H.I. *Business combinations*.

As part of the legal reorganization, the shares held by Allgeier Enterprise Services AG in Allgeier Consulting Services GmbH (90.00%) and Nagarro Allgeier ES GmbH (90.00%), the latter along with its shares in Nagarro Allgeier ES Denmark A/S and Nagarro Allgeier ES France SAS, were sold to Nagarro Holding GmbH in December 2019. Previously, the shares in Nagarro Allgeier ES Denmark A/S (100.00%) had been sold by Allgeier Enterprise Services AG to Nagarro Allgeier ES GmbH. As these transfers constitute business combinations under common control of Allgeier SE, Nagarro elected to apply the predecessor value approach by carrying forward the historical carrying amounts recorded by Allgeier Group without step up to fair value. Accordingly, as the IFRS book values of the respective companies have been already recorded in the Combined Financial Statements, the recognition and subsequent measurement of the purchase price liabilities totaling to kEUR 61,219 (also refer to section H.II. *Related party transactions*) result in a corresponding decrease in equity, which is reported in "Net assets attributable to shareholders of Nagarro" under "Other transactions with shareholders" in the Combined Statements of Changes in Equity in fiscal year 2019.

Also, for all mergers within Nagarro during the reporting periods under consideration the predecessor value approach was applied.

# III. Carve-out specific accounting principles

The businesses transferred to Nagarro SE historically have been conducted already within entire legal entities. Accordingly, aside matters discussed in the following section, no further assets, liabilities or income and expenses were attributed or allocated to the Combined Financial Statements.

#### Purchase price allocation and impairment test

By applying the Extraction Method, the book values used from the IFRS consolidated financial statements of Allgeier SE include acquired intangible assets, step ups from purchase price allocation and goodwill, as they can be attributed to the acquisition of Nagarro in fiscal year 2011 as well as Nagarro iQuest and Nagarro Objectiva in fiscal year 2018 by the Allgeier Group (see also section B.I. *Compliance with IFRS and other principles*). Nagarro Anecon as well as Nagarro MENA have been acquired by Nagarro, hence acquired intangible assets, fair value step ups and goodwill are also reflected in the Combined Financial Statements as they are included in the IFRS consolidated financial statements of Allgeier SE.

Goodwill historically was allocated based on the Group's cash generating units ("CGU"), i.e. Nagarro Holding GmbH and its subsidiaries, Nagarro iQuest and Nagarro Objectiva. As all of the entities comprising these CGUs are transferred in the course of the Transaction, goodwill is reported in the Combined Financial Statements with the same total amount as in the IFRS consolidated financial statements of Allgeier SE. Historically the annual impairment test was performed on the basis of these GCUs. However, for the purpose of the Combined Financial Statements certain assumptions have been adjusted to re-perform the tests, e.g., weighted average cost of capital rate (WACC) based on new peer group, GCUs and level on which goodwill is tested based on new management reporting. As a result, no additional impairment is required for the Combined Financial Statements.

Changes in goodwill through the reporting periods along with the assumptions and estimates made for the impairment test are presented in section D.2. *Impairment test for goodwill*.

The acquisition of Nagarro ES in fiscal year 2017 resulted in a difference between considerations given and the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed ("Badwill") that was recognized in equity through profit and loss in the IFRS consolidated financial statement of Allgeier SE and reported in the Combined Financial Statements accordingly.

The purchase price for the acquisition of Nagarro Objectiva in fiscal year 2018 included a contingent consideration, which is also reflected in the Combined Financial Statements. More information is provided in sections D.19. *Financial Instruments* and H.VIII. *Events after the balance sheet date.* 

#### **Presentation of Equity**

The Combined Statements of Changes in Equity present the changes in equity attributable to the shareholders of the combined entities SPP Co-Investor Verwaltungs GmbH, SPP Co-Investor GmbH & Co. KG, Nagarro Beteiligungs GmbH, Nagarro SPP GmbH and Nagarro Holding GmbH, Nagarro Allgeier ES GmbH and Allgeier Consulting Services GmbH, Nagarro iQuest Holding GmbH and Objectiva Software Solutions Inc., including its subsidiaries (see section B.II. *Scope of combination*) in the respective reporting periods. In the periods under consideration, Nagarro did not constitute a group with one parent company in accordance with IFRS 10 "*Consolidated Financial Statements*". Therefore, "Net assets attributable to the shareholders of Nagarro" and "Equity attributable to Non-controlling interests" (including actuarial gains and losses from remeasurement of postemployment benefits) is shown in lieu of share capital, reserves and retained earnings. Exchange differences on currency translation of foreign operations are reported separately in accordance with IAS 1 "*Presentation of Financial Statements*".

For further information on changes in equity refer to sections F. *Notes to the Combined Statements of Changes in Equity* and H.II. *Related Party Transactions.* 

#### Financing and statements of cash flows

Financing of Nagarro historically was made available by loans within the Allgeier Group and externally with banks. Respective information on financial liabilities to the remaining Allgeier Group are disclosed in section H.II. *Related party transactions*.

In the Combined Statements of Cash Flows, changes in financial liabilities to remaining Allgeier Group are presented separately as cash flows from financing activities, unless they relate to material non-cash transactions. Carve-out specific adjustments, when accounted for as contributions or withdrawals by shareholder, are presented separately in the item "Other transactions with shareholders" in the cash flows from financing activities, unless they are not deemed to be immediately settled.

#### Leases

Lease agreements between Nagarro and remaining Allgeier Group are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16 for all periods under consideration in the Combined Financial Statements. Lease accounting is discussed in section C.I. *Accounting standards to be applied for the first time* and B.I. *Compliance with IFRS and other principles.* Explanation and disclosure on transactions with remaining Allgeier Group are provided in Sections B.I. *Compliance with IFRS and other principles* and H.II. *Related party transactions.* 

#### Allocation of corporate costs

Allgeier SE as well as other Allgeier Group companies, such as Allgeier Enterprise Services AG, provided various central services to Nagarro. The respective costs for such services, that historically have been already recharged to Nagarro companies, have been included in profit or loss with their historical amounts.

Costs for such services that historically have not been recharged to Nagarro companies are allocated to the Combined Financial Statements using reasonable allocation keys. Allocation is based on historical costs incurred and allocated amounts are deemed to be settled immediately by the Nagarro group companies.

Accordingly, they are reported with the total pretax amount of kEUR 544 (2018: kEUR 433, 2017: kEUR 201) within "Other operating expenses" in the Combined Statements of Comprehensive Income, in "Other transactions with Allgeier Group" in the Combined Statement of Changes in Equity, and in "Cashflows from operating activities" in the Combined Statements of Cashflows.

#### **Taxes**

As all of the entities included in the scope of the Combined Financial Statements historically have filed separate tax returns, no stand-alone adjustments for current and deferred taxes with respect to these entities have been necessary, i.e. income tax receivables and payables, expenses and income as well deferred tax assets and liabilities on temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards are included in the Combined Financial Statements as reported for the purpose of preparation of the IFRS consolidated financial statements of Allgeier SE. Deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards are deemed to be recoverable to the same extent as reported for the purpose of preparation of the IFRS consolidated financial statements of Allgeier SE at each balance sheet date, including net operating losses at Nagarro Holding GmbH. For the purpose of the Combined Financial statements a respective tax effect has been recognized in regard to the corporate cost allocation for services that have not been historically recharged to Nagarro Holding GmbH.

#### **Segment Reporting**

In accordance with the management approach required by IFRS 8 "Operating Segments", the internal reporting of Nagarro is

based on the internal organizational and reporting structure of Nagarro that was implemented in August 2020. During the reporting periods as of and for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, there was no central chief operating decision maker (CODM) that reviewed regularly the operating results of Nagarro. As such, the segment reporting structure in the Combined Financial Statement reflects the internal organization and reporting structure that was established after the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 (for more details see section H.III. Segment information).

# C. General Accounting Principles

# I. Accounting standards to be applied for the first time

The Combined Financial Statements were prepared for each of the fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017, including a balance sheet as of January 1, 2017. The IASB and the IFRS Interpretations Committee had issued the following new standards and amendments whose application was mandatory for the first time in the respective reporting periods as follows:

STANDARD/INTERPRETATION	TITLE OF THE STANDARD, INTERPRETATION OR AMENDMENT	FIRST-TIME APPLICATION Jan 1
IFRS 16	Leases	2019
Amendments to IFRS 9	Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation	2019
IFRIC 23	Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments	2019
Amendments to IAS 28	Amendments to IAS 28: Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures	2019
Amendments to IAS 19	Amendments to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement	2019
Improvements to IFRS 2015-2017	Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle	2019
IFRS 9	Financial Instruments	2018
IFRS 15	Revenue from Contracts with Customers	2018
Amendments to IFRS 2	Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions	2018
Amendments to IAS 40	Transfers of Investment Property	2018
Amendments to IFRS 4	Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts	2018
Amendments to IFRS 15	Clarifications to IFRS 15	2018
Improvements to IFRS 2014-2016	Ammendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28	2018
IFRIC 22	Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration	2018
Amendments to IAS 7	Disclosure Initiative	2017
Amendments to IAS 12	Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses	2017
Improvement to IFRS 2014-2016	Amendments to IFRS 12	2017

Effects of the first-time application of the standards and interpretations are discussed below:

First time Application in fiscal year 2019

#### **IFRS 16 - Leases**

IFRS 16 introduces a uniform accounting model according to which leases must be recognized in the balance sheet of the lessee. A lessee recognizes a right-of-use asset that represents its right to use the underlying asset, as well as a liability arising from the lease, that constitutes its obligation to make lease payments. Exemptions exist for short-term leases and leases for low-value assets. IFRS 16 replaces the existing guidelines on leases, including IAS 17 *Leases*, IFRIC 4 *Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease*, SIC-15 *Operating Leases – Incentives* and SIC-27 *Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease*. The Group applied IFRS 16 for the first time with the fiscal year 2019, using the full retrospective method. For further information, please refer to section B.I. *Compliance with IFRS and other principles*.

#### **IFRIC 23 - Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments**

The tax treatment of certain items, circumstances and transactions may depend on the future treatment by the tax administration and the tax courts. IAS 12 *Income Taxes* regulates how current and deferred taxes are to be recognized and measured. IFRIC 23 supplements in the provisions of IAS 12 on accounting for current and deferred taxes with regard to uncertainties over the treatment of particular items, circumstances and transactions by the tax authorities and courts pertaining to income taxes. IFRIC 23 is applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The interpretations have no material effect on the Combined Financial Statements.

#### Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 28 and IAS 19

The Amendments had no impact on the Combined Financial Statements.

#### Improvements to IFRS 2015 - 2017

As a result of the Annual Improvements to IFRS 2015-2017, IFRS 3 *Business Combinations*, IFRS 11 *Joint arrangements*, IAS 12 *Income taxes* and IAS 23 *Borrowing costs* were amended. The amendments had no impact on the Combined Financial Statements.

First time Application in fiscal year 2018

#### **IFRS 9 - Financial instruments**

IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 includes revised guidelines for the classification and evaluation of financial instruments, including the new expected credit loss model for the calculation of impairments of financial assets, as well as the new general accounting provisions for hedging transactions. It also carries forward the guidelines for recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from IAS 39. The Group made use of the exception not to restate comparative information for prior periods in respect of changes in classification and measurement. The first-time application of IFRS 9 as of January 1, 2018 had no material impact on recognition and measurement. However, new disclosures on the impairment of financial assets were included in the notes.

#### **IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers**

IFRS 15 provides a comprehensive framework for determining whether, to what extent, and at what point in time revenues are recognized. It replaces guidelines applied until the 2017 fiscal year for recognizing revenues, including IAS 18 Revenues, IAS 11 *Construction contracts* and IFRIC 13 *Customer loyalty programs*. Furthermore, the standard provides for extensive disclosure requirements concerning the type, amount and timing of recognition of revenues and cash flows, as well as their associated uncertainties, including impairment expenses.

Nagarro applied the modified retrospective method as of January 1, 2018 for the transition to IFRS 15 (refer to section B.I. *Compliance with IFRS and other principles*). Accordingly, previous year's figures are still reported in accordance with IAS 11 and IAS 18 and any cumulative transition effects is included directly in equity in the opening balance sheet as at January 1, 2018. The accounting policies have been changed in accordance with the transitional provisions. In contrast to the previous method, costs to fulfil a contract as well as contract assets and contract liabilities arising from customer-specific fixed fee contracts are not shown under inventories or trade receivables / trade payables, but from the 2018 fiscal year are shown as separate balance sheet items.

As at December 31, 2017, customer-specific fixed fee contracts measured using the percentage-of-completion method amounted to kEUR 5,179, of which kEUR 4,088 related to production costs and kEUR 1,091 to profit shares. Of this amount, a total of kEUR 2,101 of installments received were offset under receivables and payables from customer-specific fixed fee contracts. After

offsetting the amount for contract work against the advance payments received, fixed fee contracts with customers existed with a debit balance of kEUR 3,895 and a credit balance of kEUR 829. In the fiscal year 2017 contract revenue using the percentage-of-completion method in the amount of kEUR 4,359 was recognized. More detailed, the transition to the application of IFRS 15 had the following effects on the respective financial position as of January 1, 2018:

IFRS 15 adjustments

	Dec 31, 2017	Adjustments	Jan 1, 2018
	kEUR	keur	keur
Assets			
Non-current assets			
Inventories	776	-776	0
Contract costs	-	776	776
Current assets			
Inventories	265	-260	5
Contract costs	-	260	260
Contract assets	-	3,895	3,895
Trade receivables	50,268	-3,895	46,373
<b>Equity and Liabilities</b>			
Non-current liabilities			
Contract liabilities	-	0	0
Other liabilities	0	0	0
Current Liabilities			
Contract liabilities	-	2,285	2,285
Trade payables	14,670	-829	13,842
Other liabilities	3,372	-1,456	1,916

As of December 31, 2018 the transition to the application of IFRS 15 had the following effects:

without application of Dec 31, 2018 Adjustments IFRS 15 **kEUR kEUR kEUR Assets** Non-current assets 0 554 554 Inventories -554 0 Contract costs 554 Current assets 301 Inventories 10 311 Contract costs 301 -301 0 Contract assets 5,528 -5,528 0 74,977 80,505 Trade receivables 5,528 **Equity and Liabilities** Non-current liabilities Contract liabilities 237 0 -237 Other liabilities 237 237 0 **Current Liabilities** Contract liabilities 4,431 -4,431 0 Trade payables 17,358 1,809 19,167 Other liabilities 2,553 2,621 5,174

Dec 31, 2018

#### Amendments to IFRS 2, IAS 40 and IFRS 4

The Amendments had no impact on the Combined Financial Statements.

#### **IFRIC 22 - Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration**

This IFRIC addresses an application issue in respect to IAS 21 *The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates.* It is clarified on which date the exchange rate is determined for the translation of transactions in foreign currencies which include consideration paid or received. Decisive for the determination of the exchange rate for the underlying asset, income or expense is the point in time when an asset or a liability resulting from the advance consideration is recognized. The interpretation was to be applied for the first time on January 1, 2018. The interpretation has no material effect on the Combined Financial Statements.

#### Improvements to IFRS 2014 - 2016

The improvements affected three standards of which the amendments of IFRS 1 and IAS 28 were applicable for the first time for fiscal year 2018. The amendments have no effect on the Combined Financial Statements.

First time Application in fiscal year 2017

#### **Amendments to IAS 7 - Disclosure Initiative**

The amendment improves the information on the changes in the entity's indebtedness. The entity discloses information about such financial liabilities, whose changes are reported in the statement of cash flows under cash flows from financing activities. The Combined Financial Statements have been supplemented by a respective reconciliation statement accordingly.

## Amendments to IAS 12 - Recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealized losses

The amendments clarify the recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at fair value. The amendments have no effect on the Combined Financial Statements.

#### Improvements to IFRS 2014 - 2016

The improvements affected three standards of which only the amendment of IFRS 12 was applicable for the first time for fiscal year 2017. The amendments have no effect on the Combined Financial Statements.

# II. Standards and interpretations not yet applied

The IASB and IFRIC have issued the following standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards, the application of which was not yet mandatory for the periods presented in the combined financial statements according to EU regulations:

STANDARD/ INTERPRETATION	TITLE OF THE STANDARD, INTERPRETATION OR AMENDMENT	FIRST-TIME APPLICATION Jan 1	
EU endorsement already issued			
IFRS Framework	Changes in references to the Framework in IFRS Standards	2020	
Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8	Amended by defenition of material	2020	
Amendments IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7	Additional disclosures in IFRS 7 around uncertainty arising from the interest rate benchmark reform	2020	
EU endorsement pending			
Amendments to IFRS 3	Amended by definition of a business	2020	
IFRS 17	Insurance Contracts	2021	
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28	Sales or Contributions of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture	indefinite	

The expected potential impact of these changes on the financial statements of Nagarro going forward is discussed in the following:

#### **IFRS** framework

Together with the revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, amendments to references to the Conceptual Framework in various IFRSs were also issued. For the first time the objectives of the Conceptual Framework were clarified, and three main aspects explained. Firstly, the Conceptual Framework serves to provide consistent concepts for the development of standards and interpretations by the IASB and the IFRS Interpretations Committee. At the same time, it has the purpose of assisting preparers of financial reports to develop accounting policies for transactions if there are no relevant requirements in standards and interpretations in the IFRS Framework. In addition, it simplifies the understanding and interpretation of the standards for all parties involved.

The amendments which are primarily updates are to be applied for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2020. Management does not expect the amendments to have a material impact.

## Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8

To avoid two definitions of materiality in IAS 1 *Presentation of financial statements* and IAS 8 *Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors,* in the future "material" is defined only in IAS 1.7. IAS 8 will indicate merely that "material" is defined in IAS 1 and is to be applied in IAS 8 with the same meaning. The amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 serve the improvement of the definition of materiality by standardizing the wording in various IASB standards and frameworks and providing more precision in the terms related to the definition. The word "obscuring" is introduced and explained using examples. The amended information places the focus on the materiality of information. It is clarified that information is material if omitting, misstating and/or obscuring could reasonably be expected to influence decisions the primary users of financial statements make on the basis of these assumptions.

The amendments are to be adopted for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2020 (prospective application). Management does not expect the amendments to have a material impact.

#### Changes to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7

As a result of the Amendments to IFRS 9 *Financial instruments*, IAS 39 *Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement* and IFRS 7 *Financial instruments: Disclosures*, the impact on financial reporting resulting from the reform of interest rate benchmarks (the IBOR Reform) is to be mitigated. The amendments aim to allow recognized hedging relationships (hedge accounting) to continue or to remain designated despite the uncertainties related to the expected discontinuation of various interest rate benchmarks.

The amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2020. Management does not expect the amendments to have a material impact.

#### **Amendments to IFRS 3**

Amendments to IFRS 3 "Business Combinations" serve to clarify the definition of a business. A business is still defined by the three elements: inputs, processes and output. The inputs and the processes applied should be deployed in such a manner that they contribute to the generation of output. The changed definition of output places the focus on the provision of goods and services to the customer, but also covers investment income such as dividends, interest and other income. On the other hand, cost reduction is no longer a feature of output.

The amendments clarify that a business comprises at least the acquisition of an input and a substantive process that together contribute to the ability to create output. Ultimately the existence of processes is the difference between the acquisition of a business and the acquisition of a group of assets. The examination depends on whether output is generated or not with the acquired group of activities and assets.

In addition, a transaction-relation option was introduced that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets does not represent a business. This is the case if substantially all the fair value of the acquired gross assets is concentrated on an individual identifiable asset (or a group of comparable identifiable assets).

The amendments are applied to transactions whose acquisition date is in the 2020 fiscal year (prospective application). If relevant transactions take place in the future, the amendments in IFRS 3 may have an impact on the Nagarro's financial statements.

## III. Principles of consolidation

The Group consolidates newly acquired companies using the acquisition accounting method. The identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired companies are measured at their fair value at the date of acquisition. Any remaining surplus between the consideration given and the fair values of the net assets acquired are capitalized as goodwill. Acquisition-related costs for legal and consulting services and agency fees are recognized as other operating expenses through profit or loss.

The consolidation of the companies acquired by the Group from third parties occurs from the month that control is obtained. From this point in time, the expenses and revenue of the acquired companies are included in the Combined Financial Statements. Receivables and liabilities, as well as revenue and expenses between the Nagarro companies, are eliminated. Intercompany profit or loss is also eliminated. With respect to consolidation procedures impacting profit or loss deferred taxes are recognized.

# IV. Currency translation

The functional currency of the entities located in the Eurozone is the euro. The functional currency of all other entities is the respective local currency. As part of the preparation of the Combined Financial Statements, the annual financial statements of the entities prepared in a foreign currency were translated into euro, the reporting currency of Nagarro. The closing rates as of December 31, 2019, 2018, 2017 and 2016 respectively were used for the translation of assets and liabilities, and the annual average rates for revenue and expenses.

Differences arising from translation to Nagarro's reporting currency are reported directly in other comprehensive income not impacting profit or loss.

The following exchange rates applied for the translation of annual financial statements prepared in foreign currencies:

			Average rate		P	eriod-end rate	2	
			per 1 EUR			per 1 EUR		
		2019	2018	2017	Dec 31, 2019	Dec 31, 2018	Dec 31, 2017	
Chinese yuan renminbi	CNY	7.714	7.931	_	7.823	7.865	_	
Danish krone	DKK	7.465	7.453	7.439	7.469	7.466	7.444	
Indian rupee	INR	78.605	80.518	73.734	79.823	79.471	76.322	
Japanese yen	JPY	122.081	129.987	133.008	122.160	126.180	134.960	
Canadian dollar	CAD	1.480	1.535	-	1.463	1.559	-	
Mauritian rupee	MUR	38.560	-	-	39.499	-	-	
Mexican peso	MXN	21.545	22.577	21.362	21.115	22.470	23.572	
Malaysian ringgit	MYR	4.627	4.756	4.887	4.600	4.748	4.860	
Polish zloty	PLN	4.301	4.303	-	4.258	4.295	-	
Romanian leu	RON	4.749	4.645	4.569	4.781	4.652	4.652	
Swiss franc	CHF	1.111	1.152	1.116	1.087	1.125	1.169	
Singapore dollar	SGD	1.524	1.590	1.562	1.511	1.562	1.601	
South African rand	ZAR	16.104	15.890	-	15.733	16.485	-	
Thai baht	THB	34.528	-	-	33.574	-	-	
US dollar	USD	1.118	1.179	1.137	1.120	1.144	1.198	
UAE dirham	AED	4.105	4.331	4.174	4.113	4.200	4.399	

Transactions in foreign currencies different to the functional currency of the respective Nagarro company are translated at the exchange rate on the transaction date. If it results in exchange rate gains or losses due to payments or measurements at later points in time, these are recognized in profit or loss. Currency differences from expense and revenue consolidation are also recognized in profit or loss.

# V. Notes to the statements of financial position

The Combined Statements of Financial Position are prepared in accordance with IAS 1 *Presentation of Financial Statements*. Assets that are realized within the next twelve months and liabilities that are due within one year are generally reported as current.

Derivatives and purchase price liabilities from business combinations are measured at fair value. All other assets and liabilities are accounted for at amortized cost.

#### **Intangible assets**

Orders on hand, customer lists, websites, and products acquired in business combinations are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at its cost less accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment. Amortization of orders on hand occurs concurrently with revenue recognition of the orders. Acquired products are amortized on a straight-line basis over four years. Customer lists are amortized on a straight-line basis over five years.

Inhouse developments are recognized as intangible assets, if the development costs can be measured reliably, and from which an economic benefit from a sale of the services anticipated in the future is probable. Capitalized costs for inhouse developments are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment. Inhouse developments are amortized for the first time from the month of completion on a straight-line basis with a term of four years. Interest on borrowing is not included in the cost of production.

Purchased software, licenses and rights are measured at cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. Brands and domains are amortized on a straight-line basis over a term of 15 years. Otherwise software, licenses and rights are subject to amortization on a straight-line basis over three to six years.

Goodwill arising from business combinations is recognized as an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life. Goodwill, and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or intangible assets that are not yet available for use are subject to impairment tests at least once a year. For the aforementioned assets impairment tests are also performed whenever there is an indication or specific event ("triggering event") that an asset may be impaired. If the recoverability is no longer given as the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount of capitalized goodwill, an impairment loss must be recognized. This is also applicable for other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or intangible assets that are not yet available for use. Assets in use and other intangible assets with finite useful live are tested for impairment only if there are specific indications that they may be impaired.

#### Property, plant and equipment

Non-current assets are recognized at cost of acquisition or production, less accumulated depreciation. For internally generated assets, cost of production includes costs that can be directly allocated, proportionate overhead costs and depreciation. Interest on borrowings directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 'qualifying asset' (one that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale) are included in the cost of the asset. Repair and maintenance costs are recognized as expense directly. Straight-line depreciation is applied over the expected, estimated useful life of the assets. The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment are subject to an impairment test as soon as this is indicated. Land, land rights and buildings, including constructions on third-party property, are measured using the cost model. Straight-line depreciation on buildings is recognized over a maximum useful life of 58 years. Other plant, operating and office equipment is subject to straight-line depreciation over a period of three to 15 years.

#### Leases

Nagarro applies IFRS 16 for lease accounting (see section C.I. *Accounting standards to be applied for the first time*) and assesses each individual lease contract as to whether it contains a lease in accordance with IFRS 16.

On the day of the inception of the lease Nagarro recognizes an asset for the right of use in this contract and a lease liability for the present value of future lease payments. The right of use asset corresponds to the present value at lease inception, adjusted for the payments made before the commencement date, plus initial direct costs incurred and estimated costs to dismantle or restore the underlying asset.

The right of use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the underlying asset, adjusted by impairments. The useful life of the right of use asset is determined as the shorter of the asset's economic useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

The lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not yet paid. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions. The incremental borrowing rate is the interest rate based on the Group's borrowing costs.

Assets are not recognized for leases with a useful life of less than twelve months (short-term leases) and for leases where the respective acquisition cost do not exceed kEUR 5 (leases of low-value assets). These leases are recognized in other operating expenses in the Combined Statements of Comprehensive Income.

For leases acquired in the course of a business combination Nagarro recognizes a lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease payments as if the acquired lease were a new lease at the acquisition date and the right-of-use asset at the same amount as the lease liability, adjusted to reflect favorable or unfavorable terms of the lease when compared with market terms.

The Group leases land and buildings as well as equipment and vehicles. Lease contracts for equipment and vehicles are typically made for fixed periods of three to five years, for buildings up to 18 years, but several contracts have extension or termination options. These are used to maximize operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the group's operations. The majority of extension and termination options held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective lessor.

#### **Deferred taxes**

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability and its tax base as well as for tax loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that their utilization is deemed to be probable.

Deferred taxes are calculated at the applicable or expected tax rates at the time of realization according to the current legal situation in the respective countries. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated using country-specific tax rates. The country-specific tax rates are as follows:

	2019	2018	201/
Germany	31.0%	31.0%	31.0%
Austria	25.0%	25.0%	25.0%
USA	27.0%	27.0%	27.0%
India *	25.2%	34.0%	34.0%
Romania	16.0%	16.0%	-
Sweden	21.4%	21.4%	-
Denmark	22.0%	22.0%	22.0%
France	-	33.3%	33.3%
Norway	-	23.0%	23.0%
United Kindgom	-	-	19.0%
Switzerland (Canton of Zürich)	-	21.1%	-
Australia	30.0%	30.0%	-
Malaysia	24.0%	-	-
Malta	-	35.0%	-

2010

<sup>\*</sup> Changes in tax rates for Indian entities effective April 1, 2019.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are set off if the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax positions and if the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reported under non-current assets and non-current liabilities.

#### **Contract costs**

Capitalized contract costs relate to the costs to fulfil a customer contract. If the costs to fulfil the contract are not within the scope of another standard (e.g. inventories, intangible assets or property, plant and equipment), they must be capitalized separately in the balance sheet if they create resources in connection with a customer contract and it is expected that the costs will be covered by future revenue. They are measured at direct costs plus proportionate production overheads. Capitalized costs are expensed according to the scheduled revenue recognition to which the asset relates. The amortization period must also include probable contract extensions in the future. If the expected revenue less expenses still to be incurred is lower than the contract costs, an impairment is recognized.

#### **Inventories**

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs of purchased inventory are generally determined based on the weighted average method after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Impairments are recognized if the cost of purchased inventory or net realizable value has decreased at the reporting date.

In fiscal year 2017 inventories consisted of costs to fulfill a contract. With the first time application of IFRS 15, these costs to fulfil a contract have been excluded from inventories and, as of fiscal year 2018, are reported separately under contract costs.

#### **Contract assets and liabilities**

With the fulfillment of contractual obligations of one of the contractual parties, either Nagarro or a customer, a contract asset or a contract liability is recognized, depending on the net balance of the performed contract work and the customer's advanced payment. Contract assets and contract liabilities are generally reported as current, as they generally arise within the normal operating cycle of less than one year.

Contract assets and contract liabilities include customer-specific fixed fee contracts that are accounted for using the percentage-of-completion method in accordance with IFRS 15. Revenue is recognized in line with the stage of completion at the reporting date. The stage of completion corresponds to the proportion of contract costs incurred for work performed to date and the estimated total contract costs as of the reporting date. After deduction of partial payments received, contract costs are recognized under contract assets if the contract balance is positive, and under contract liabilities if the contract balance is negative. Borrowing costs are not capitalized in customer-specific fixed fee contracts.

For contracts in which the period between the transfers of a promised good or service to a customer and the customer's payment for that good or service will be one year or less, the Group uses the practical expedient in IFRS 15.63 to not adjust the amount of consideration for the effects of a significant financing component.

#### Trade receivable

#### Since January 1, 2018:

Trade receivables are recognized initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional. They are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less loss allowance. The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses. The expected loss rates are based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. Trade receivables are derecognized when they are assessed as uncollectible or with respect to factoring if essentially all risks and rewards associated with ownership are transferred.

#### Until December 31, 2017

Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. This corresponds to the nominal value of the receivables, less individual allowances for doubtful accounts. Impairments on receivables are recognized when there are indications of default or the receivables have been past due for an extended period of time. No lump-sum allowances for doubtful accounts are recognized. Trade receivables are derecognized when they are assessed as uncollectible or with respect to factoring if essentially all risks and rewards associated with ownership are transferred.

#### Other financial assets

Other financial assets are recognized at nominal value, less impairments. For other financial receivables, expected credit losses are determined based on expected credit risks, either on the basis of defaults expected in the next twelve months or on the basis of the remaining term to maturity. Significant changes in credit risks are taken into account.

Nagarro uses foreign exchange forwards contracts as derivative financial instruments to reduce exchange rate risks. These hedging transactions are initially recognized and subsequently measured at each following reporting date at fair value. In the case of derivatives with quoted market prices, fair value is the positive or negative market price. Positive market values result in the recognition of a financial asset and negative market values in the recognition of a financial liability. Gains and losses due to changes in fair value are recognized through profit or loss. Derivatives are recognized on the respective trading day.

#### Other assets and income tax receivables

Other assets and income tax receivables are stated at their nominal amount.

#### Cash

Cash include cash balances, bank balances and current deposits with original terms of less than three months. They are stated at their nominal amount.

#### **Provisions for post-employment benefits**

The Indian companies have obligations for future gratuity payments to employees (gratuity obligations) who have worked with the company for a minimum period of five years that become payable when employees depart, regardless of termination by the employer or employee. These gratuity payments constitute a defined benefit plan according to IAS 19 and are measured using actuarial methods. Calculating the present value of defined benefit obligations is based on country-specific mortality tables for India and the following general parameters:

_	Dec 31, 2019	Dec 31, 2018	Dec 31, 2017
Calculated interest rate	6.45%	7.30%	7.15%
Salary increase p.a.	10.0%	10.0%	10.0%
Rate of staff turnover p.a.	20.0%	20.0%	20.0%
Remaining term of service to retirement in years	30	30	30

#### **Other provisions**

Other provisions are recognized when a legal or constructive obligation to a third party exists due to a past event, which is expected to result in a future outflow of resources to settle the obligation, and this future outflow of resources can be estimated reliably. The provisions are recognized for all identifiable risks as well as contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination at the expected amounts. The provisions are not offset against recourse claims. Warranty provisions are recognized based on past and/or estimated future claims experience. The cost for the recognition of provisions is reported profit or loss after deducting expected reimbursements. Non-current portions of the provisions are discounted.

#### Liabilities to banks and other financial liabilities

Interest-bearing loans, which include liabilities to banks and loans to related parties, are recognized at the amount received on the date the loan is granted. Borrowing costs are recognized as an expense directly in the period in which they are incurred.

Other financial liabilities are initially recognized at settlement amount. Subsequently they are measured at amortized cost. Other financial liabilities include contingent liabilities from business combinations that are recognized and subsequently measured at fair value. The non-current portion of other financial liabilities is recognized at the present value of expected future payments. Market interest rates according to the term are used.

#### **Trade payables**

Trade payables are initially recognized at settlement amount. Subsequently they are measured at amortized cost.

#### **Other liabilities**

Other liabilities are initially recognized at the cost of acquisition. Subsequently they are measured at amortized cost.

#### **Financial instruments**

#### Financial assets

The financial assets include loans, receivables, derivatives with a positive present value and cash. Based on their characteristics and the purpose for which they were acquired, financial assets are allocated to the categories "financial assets measured at fair value", "financial assets not measured at fair value".

## Since January 1, 2018:

Financial assets are subsequently measured in accordance with IFRS 9 in the categories "at amortized cost (AC)", "at fair value through changes in other comprehensive income (FVOCI)" and "at fair value with changes in fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)". The classification of a financial instrument into one of these categories depends on the company's business model, taking into account the risks of the financial assets and the terms of the instrument. The examination of the conditions comprises the assessment of whether contractually agreed cash flows are solely interest and principal payments on the principal amount outstanding.

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method if it is held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows and the terms of the contract result solely in interest and principal payments on the outstanding principal amount on specified dates. Changes in value are recognized through profit or loss.

The FVOCI category includes financial assets held within the framework of a business model whose objective is both to collect the contractual cash flows and to sell those assets, provided that the terms of the contract result solely in interest and principal payments on the outstanding principal on specified dates. Subsequent measurement is at fair value. Changes in value are recognized directly in other comprehensive income (OCI).

Equity instruments and derivative financial instruments are allocated to the FVTPL category and net gains or losses and dividends are recognized through profit or loss.

Impairment losses on financial assets in the category "measured at amortized cost" and on contract assets are recognized in the amount of the expected credit loss if the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. For receivables and contract assets, this involves checking at each reporting date whether there is evidence of credit impairment and whether the credit risk has thereby increased significantly. Both quantitative and qualitative information and analyses such as the length of time past due, the nature and duration of financial difficulties or the geographical location are taken into account, and forward-looking assessments are made on the basis of past experience. Past due more than 90 days is considered objective evidence that the credit quality of an asset is impaired. If the asset is credit-impaired or defaulted, the expected credit losses are recognized as an impairment loss over the entire term of the financial asset. If the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, but no credit impairment or default exists, the expected credit losses over the entire term are taken into account as impairment. In the case of trade receivables and contract assets, expected credit losses are measured with historical probabilities of default on the basis of an impairment matrix by maturity class. For all other financial assets, impairments are made in an amount equal to the share of the expected credit losses that are possible within twelve months of the reporting date or are expected to be incurred within the remaining term. The expected loss model of IFRS 9 requires discretionary decisions in forecasting the development of future economic conditions. However, the assumptions made are subject to uncertainties.

### Until December 31, 2017:

In accordance with IAS 39, financial assets were classified in the categories "at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)", "held-to-maturity", "loans and receivables (LoR)" and "available-for-sale" for subsequent measurement. Loans and receivables as well as held-to-maturity investments were measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, and changes in value were recognized in profit or loss. Financial assets in the "held-to-maturity" and "loans and receivables" categories were tested for impairment on the balance sheet date. Available-for-sale financial assets were recognized at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses being reported separately under equity with no effect on profit or loss until realized, taking deferred taxes into account. All other assets are measured at fair value. Interest income, dividends and other net gains or losses are recognized in the Combined Statements of Comprehensive Income.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are non-derivative financial assets with payments that are fixed or can be determined, and not listed in an active market. After they are initially recognized, such financial assets with respect to subsequent measurement are measured at amortized cost less possible impairments. Impairments are recognized under other operating expenses and reversals are recognized under other operating income. On every reporting date, the Group conducts a review for indications of the need for impairments. If there are indications that the present value of the expected future cash flows is less than the carrying amount, the impairment loss is the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of its expected future cash flows. The carrying amount of the assets is reduced using an impairment account and the impairment loss is recognized through profit or loss. If the impairment loss is increased or reduced in one of the following reporting periods due to an event that occurs after the impairment is recognized, the previous impairment loss is increased or decreased through profit or loss by adjusting the impairment account.

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss include derivatives that are classified as recognized at fair value through profit or loss when they are initially recognized and shares in an unlisted venture capital company that has been classified as "available for sale". Subsequently these financial assets are measured according to the assignment to this category.

### Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include amounts due to financial institutions, trade payables, lease liabilities, liabilities from acquisitions and other financial liabilities. Based on their characteristics, financial liabilities are allocated to the categories "financial liabilities measured at fair value".

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are non-derivative financial liabilities with payments that are fixed or can be determined. They are recognized and subsequently measured using the effective interest method. When liabilities are derecognized, the resulting gains are recognized under other operating income. The financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss include contingent purchase price liabilities from business combinations that are classified as measured at fair value through profit or loss when they are recognized. Subsequently these financial liabilities are measured according to the assignment to this category. Effects from the remeasurement of contingent purchase price liabilities are recognized through profit or loss.

## VI. Notes to the Combined Statements of Comprehensive Income

The Combined Statements of Comprehensive Income were prepared applying the cost by nature method.

#### Revenue

### Since January 1, 2018

The Group recognizes revenue when control over goods or services is transferred to the customer. After the transfer, the customer has the ability to determine the use of the goods or services and obtain substantially the remaining benefits. This requires that a contract with enforceable rights and obligations exists and that it is probable that the consideration will be received, taking into account the creditworthiness of the customer. Revenue corresponds to the transaction price that the Group is expected to be entitled to. Revenue is reduced by rebates, customer discounts and bonuses granted to customers. Variable consideration (performance bonuses) is included in the transaction price when it is highly probable that there will be no significant reversal of revenue when the uncertainty related to the variable consideration no longer exists.

If a contract comprises several goods or services which are distinct, the transaction price is allocated to the performance obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling prices. For each performance obligation, revenue is recognized either at a point in time or over a period of time.

Revenue from products is recognized as soon as control of the products sold has been passed on to the buyer along with the associated rewards and risks. This is usually the case upon delivery of the product. Service revenue is recognized depending on the contract provisions under consideration of the services provided. This is usually performed on the basis of days and hours worked. In case of fixed price contracts, service revenue is recognized based on the percentage of order completion and under consideration of realized partial performance. In addition, revenue from user fees (licenses) is recognized on an accrual basis in accordance with the commercial substance of the underlying contract.

#### Until December 31, 2017

Revenues and other income generally are realized when goods are delivered or services are rendered, that is, when the material risks and rewards are transferred to the buyer and it is sufficiently likely that the Group will obtain the economic benefit. Revenues are reduced by rebates, customer discounts and bonuses granted to customers.

Product revenues are realized when the risks and rewards associated with ownership of the products sold are transferred to the buyer. This is usually the case upon delivery of the product. Service revenues are recognized depending on the contract provisions under consideration of the services provided. This is usually done on the basis of days and hours worked. In case of fixed price contracts, service revenues are recognized based on the percentage of completion method and the stage of completion of the order. The stage of completion hereby is determined as the proportion that contract costs incurred by the end of the reporting period bear to the estimated total contract costs. Furthermore, licensing revenues are recognized according to the period of the contract provisions.

#### **Staff costs**

Obligations for defined contribution plans are recognized directly as an expense after the related employee service.

### **Operating expenses**

Operating expenses are recognized when incurred.

#### **Financial result**

Borrowing costs are recognized in the period in which they are incurred.

#### **Taxes**

Income taxes are determined according to the tax law provisions of the countries where the respective Nagarro company is based.

### VII. Estimates and assumptions

When preparing the Combined Financial Statements estimates and assumptions were made that affect the amount and recognition of the reported assets and liabilities, as well as the recognition of revenue and expenses. Even though these estimates and assumptions were made to the best of our knowledge, actual amounts can deviate. The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Necessary adjustments are recognized prospectively.

The estimates and assumptions mainly relate to impairment testing of goodwill and the valuation of contingent purchase price components resulting from business combinations, the impairment assessment with respect to current assets, the calculation of income tax liabilities and the measurement of provisions. If the estimates and assumptions are significant and a material adjustment could be necessary, reference is made to this in the notes to the balance sheet. From today's perspective, material adjustments to the assets and liabilities recognized on the consolidated balance sheet are not expected in the following fiscal year.

## D. Notes to the Combined Statement of Financial Position

# 1. Intangible assets

Intangible assets developed as follows:

Titaligible assets developed as follows.							
				Software,	Inhouse		
	Orders on			licences,	develop-		
	hand	lists	Products	rights	ments	Goodwill	Total
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR 51.0
Gross carrying amount as at Jan 1, 2017		4,540	-	2,160	772	43,746	51,218
Acquisitions through business combinations	321	2,024	454	243	-	-	3,041
Additions	-	-	-	1,016	119	-	1,136
Disposals	-	-	-	-0	-	-	0
Currency differences		-457	0	-173	0	-4,757	-5,388
Gross carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2017	321	6,107	453	3,246	891	38,989	50,006
Accumulated amortization and impairment							
as at Jan 1, 2017		-521	-	-1,427	-		-1,948
Amortization of the year	-210	-1,158	-68	-1,161	-193	-	-2,790
Impairment	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Disposals	-	-	-	0	-	-	0
Currency differences		61	0	121	-		182
Accumulated amortization and impairment							
as at Dec 31, 2017	-210	-1,618	-68	-2,466	-193	<del>-</del> -	-4,556
Net carrying amount as of Dec 31, 2017	110	4,488	385	780	698	38,989	45,450
		_		Software,	Inhouse		
	Orders on		Donalis ata	licences,	develop-	Constant	Takal
	hand	lists	Products	rights	ments	Goodwill	Total
C	kEUR 221	kEUR	kEUR 452	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR 20.000	kEUR 50.000
Gross carrying amount as at Jan 1, 2018	321	6,107	453	3,246	891	38,989	501006
Acquisitions through business combinations	501	4,712	552	222	102	56,202	50,006
Additions	_			===	= 4.0	,	62,291
		-	-	520	512	-	62,291 1,033
Disposals	-	-	-	-243	-	-	62,291 1,033 -243
Currency differences	-	- 170	29	-243 -86	- 6	- - 2,284	62,291 1,033 -243 2,402
•	822	170 10,989		-243	-	-	62,291 1,033 -243
Currency differences Gross carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2018  Accumulated amortization and impairment		10,989	29 1,034	-243 -86 3,659	- 6 1,511	- - 2,284	62,291 1,033 -243 2,402 115,489
Currency differences Gross carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2018	-210	10,989 -1,618	29 1,034 -68	-243 -86 3,659 -2,466	- 6 1,511 -193	- - 2,284	62,291 1,033 -243 2,402 115,489 -4,556
Currency differences Gross carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2018  Accumulated amortization and impairment		10,989	29 1,034	-243 -86 3,659	- 6 1,511	- - 2,284	62,291 1,033 -243 2,402 115,489
Currency differences Gross carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2018  Accumulated amortization and impairment as at Jan 1, 2018	-210	10,989 -1,618	29 1,034 -68	-243 -86 3,659 -2,466	- 6 1,511 -193	- - 2,284	62,291 1,033 -243 2,402 115,489 -4,556
Currency differences Gross carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2018  Accumulated amortization and impairment as at Jan 1, 2018  Amortization of the year	-210	-1,618 -1,627	29 1,034 -68	-243 -86 3,659 -2,466	- 6 1,511 -193	- - 2,284	62,291 1,033 -243 2,402 115,489 -4,556 -3,309
Currency differences Gross carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2018  Accumulated amortization and impairment as at Jan 1, 2018  Amortization of the year Impairment Disposals Currency differences	-210 -465 -	-1,618 -1,627	29 1,034 -68 -154	-243 -86 3,659 -2,466 -795	-193 -269	- - 2,284	62,291 1,033 -243 2,402 115,489 -4,556 -3,309 -235
Currency differences Gross carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2018  Accumulated amortization and impairment as at Jan 1, 2018  Amortization of the year Impairment Disposals Currency differences Accumulated amortization and impairment	-210 -465 - -	-1,618 -1,627 -235 - -46	29 1,034 -68 -154 - -	-243 -86 3,659 -2,466 -795 - 243 71	-193 -269 	- - 2,284	62,291 1,033 -243 2,402 115,489 -4,556 -3,309 -235 243 22
Currency differences Gross carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2018  Accumulated amortization and impairment as at Jan 1, 2018  Amortization of the year Impairment Disposals Currency differences	-210 -465 -	-1,618 -1,627 -235	29 1,034 -68 -154 -	-243 -86 3,659 -2,466 -795 - 243	- 6 1,511 -193 -269 -	- - 2,284	62,291 1,033 -243 2,402 115,489 -4,556 -3,309 -235 243
Currency differences Gross carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2018  Accumulated amortization and impairment as at Jan 1, 2018  Amortization of the year Impairment Disposals Currency differences Accumulated amortization and impairment	-210 -465 - -	-1,618 -1,627 -235 - -46	29 1,034 -68 -154 - -	-243 -86 3,659 -2,466 -795 - 243 71	-193 -269 	- - 2,284	62,291 1,033 -243 2,402 115,489 -4,556 -3,309 -235 243 22

	Orders on	Customer		Software, licences,	Inhouse develop-		
	hand	lists	Products	rights	ments	Goodwill	Total
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Gross carrying amount as at Jan 1, 2019	822	10,989	1,034	3,659	1,511	97,474	115,489
Acquisitions through business combinations	97	862	-	-	-	3,420	4,379
Additions	-	33	30	376	875	-	1,315
Disposals	-6	-	-	-291	-	-	-298
Currency differences	0	88	12	-33	8	1,501	1,577
Carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2019	913	11,972	1,077	3,710	2,394	102,395	122,461
Accumulated amortization and impairment							
as at Jan 1, 2019	-675	-3,525	-222	-2,946	-465	<u> </u>	-7,834
Amortization of the year	-237	-2,535	-247	-96	-370	-	-3 <b>,4</b> 85
Impairment	-	-	-30	-	-	-	-30
Disposals	-	-	-	274	-	-	274
Currency differences	(0)	-32	(0)	41	-6	-	2
Accumulated amortization and impairment							
as at Dec 31, 2019	-913	-6,092	-500	-2,727	-841	-	-11,073
Net carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2019	0	5,880	577	983	1,553	102,395	111,388

With the exception of inhouse developments, all intangible assets were acquired.

The orders on hand were measured at its expected net amount determined as the order value for the orders less full costs.

To measure customer lists, historical revenues were analyzed for regular and other customers, in order to determine what revenue with regular customers can be expected within the next five years with. Customer lists were recognized at the amount of expected revenues less full costs and risk discounts, as well as amounts already recognized as orders on hand.

The acquired products are measured based on sales planning and the expected result for the products less risk discounts due to aging and technical obsolescence. A planning period of five years was used.

## 2. Impairment test for goodwill

Goodwill is subject to regular annual impairment tests or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. The Group applies the value-in-use method and determines the value-in-use based on a three-years planning for the respective CGUs. For the perpetual period, it extrapolates the cash flows of the third detailed planning year for all other future years. These cash flows are discounted using a WACC after tax of 5,41% (2018: 3,42%; 2017: 3,20%), which corresponds to a WACC before taxes of 5,49% (2018: 3,94%; 2017: 3,77%). In the planning phase after the third planning year, the interest rates are reduced by a growth discount of 1 percentage point. The interest rate takes into account debt and equity ratios derived from peer groups.

The following parameters were incorporated in calculating the WACC rate:

	2019	2018	2017
Interest rate for 10-year bonds	0.30%	0.97%	0.95%
Equity ratio peergroup comparison	83.00%	80.08%	76.87%
Debt ratio peergroup	17.00%	19.92%	23.13%
5-year beta factor Nagarro SE	0.7955	0.5949	0.5635
Tax rate	30.00%	30.00%	30.00%
Interest rate on debt	1.70%	1.93%	1.88%
Risk premium for equity	7.50%	5.00%	5.00%
WACC pre-tax	5.49%	3.94%	3.77%
WACC after tax	5.41%	3.42%	3.20%

The following growths rates have been applied:

	North Nagarro Base	America Nagarro Objectiva	Central Nagarro Base	Europe Nagarro iQuest	Rest of Europe Nagarro Base	Rest of World Nagarro Base
Growth rates 2017						
Average annual revenue growth in %	11.3	-	11.3	-	11.3	11.3
in %	12.6	-	12.6	-	12.6	12.6
Growth rates 2018						
Average annual revenue growth in %	10.4	31.4	10.4	10.8	10.4	10.4
in %	11.6	58.8	11.6	-10.1	11.6	11.6
Growth rates 2019						
Average annual revenue growth in %	17.9	20.4	17.9	8.0	17.9	17.9
in %	9.0	15.2	9.0	9.9	9.0	9.0

All goodwill was considered recoverable. Goodwill changed as follows:

			Currency		
	Dec 31, 2017	Impairment	differences	Additions	Jan 1, 2017
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
North America	34,493	_	-4,724	0	39,217
Central Europe	4,067	-	-33	0	4,100
Rest of Europe	429	-	0	0	429
Rest of World	0	<u> </u>	0	0	0
	38,989	_	-4,757	0	43,746
			Currency		
	Dec 31, 2018	Impairment	differences	Additions	Dec 31, 2017
	Dec 31, 2018 kEUR	Impairment kEUR	differences kEUR	Additions kEUR	Dec 31, 2017 kEUR
North America	-	•			•
North America Central Europe	kEUR	•	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
	kEUR 69,783	•	kEUR 2,288	kEUR 33,002	kEUR 34,493
Central Europe	69,783 27,300	•	2,288 0	kEUR 33,002	kEUR 34,493 4,100
Central Europe Rest of Europe	kEUR 69,783 27,300 392	•	2,288 0 -4	kEUR 33,002	kEUR 34,493 4,100

			Currency		
	Dec 31, 2019	Impairment	differences	Additions	Dec 31, 2018
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
North America	71,274	_	1,491		69,783
Central Europe	27,300	-	0		27,300
Rest of Europe	395	-	3		392
Rest of World	3,427	<u> </u>	7	3,420	0
	102,395		1,501	3,420	97,474

# 3. Property, plant and equipment

The changes in property, plant and equipment were as follows:

	Other plant, vehicles,			
	Land and	operating and office		
	buildings	equipment	Total	
	keur	kEUR	kEUR	
Gross carrying amount as at Jan 1, 2017	3,335	5,231	8,566	
Acquisitions through business combinations	-	220	220	
Additions	79	1,048	1,126	
Disposals	-6	-123	-129	
Currency differences	-214	-291	-505	
Gross carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2017	3,193	6,085	9,279	
Accumulated depreciation and impairment as at Jan 1, 2017	-384	-3,747	-4,130	
Depreciation of the year	-152	-1,135	-1,287	
Impairment	-	-	-	
Disposals	-	96	96	
Currency differences	29	240	270	
Accumulated depreciation and impairment as at Dec 31, 2017	-506	-4,546	-5,052	
Net carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2017	2,687	1,540	4,227	

	Other plant,			
		vehicles, operating and		
	Land and			
	buildings	office equipment	Total	
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	
Gross carrying amount as at Jan 1, 2018	3,193	6,085	9,279	
Acquisitions through business combinations	-	1,972	1,972	
Additions	8	2,110	2,117	
Disposals	-	-1,039	-1,039	
Currency differences	-126	-157	-284	
Gross carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2018	3,074	8,971	12,045	
Accumulated depreciation and impairment as at Jan 1, 2018	-506	-4,546	-5,052	
Depreciation of the year	-143	-1,378	-1,521	
Impairment	-	-	-	
Disposals	-	1,023	1,023	
Currency differences	18	139	157	
Accumulated depreciation and impairment as at Dec 31, 2018	-631	-4,762	-5,392	
Net carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2018	2,443	4,209	6,653	

	Land and buildings kEUR	Other plant, vehicles, operating and office equipment kEUR	Total kEUR
Gross carrying amount as at Jan 1, 2019	3,074	8,971	12,045
Acquisitions through business combinations	42	221	263
Additions	0	3,122	3,122
Disposals	-	-883	-883
Currency differences	-13	-129	-143
Gross carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2019	3,103	11,301	14,404
Accumulated depreciation and impairment as at Jan 1, 2019	-631	-4,762	-5,392
Depreciation of the year	-150	-2,105	-2,254
Impairment	-	-	-
Disposals	-	379	379
Currency differences	5	60	65
Accumulated depreciation and impairment as at Dec 31, 2019	-775	-6,427	-7,203
Net carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2019	2,328	4,873	7,201

## 4. Leases

With the adoption of IFRS 16 assets used under lease agreements were determined and respective right-of-use assets were recognized, unless relating to leases of low-value assets or short-term leases. The right-of-use assets developed as follows:

	V		
	Land use rights and buildings kEUR	and office equipment kEUR	Total kEUR
Gross carrying amount as at Jan 1, 2017	16,120	8,921	25,041
Acquisitions through business combinations	9,828	805	10,633
Additions	119	1,282	1,402
Disposals	-164	-1,076	-1,240
Currency differences	-683	-359	-1,042
Gross carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2017	25,221	9,573	34,794
Accumulated depreciation and impairment as at Jan 1, 2017	- <del> </del>	-2,233	-2,233
Depreciation of the year	-3,285	-2,727	-6,012
Impairment	-	-	-
Disposals	164	1,072	1,236
Currency differences	89	165	253
Accumulated depreciation and impairment as at Dec 31, 2017	-3,033	-3,723	-6,756
Net carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2017	22,188	5,850	28,039

	\		
	Land use rights and buildings	and office equipment	Total
	keur	kEUR	kEUR
Gross carrying amount as at Jan 1, 2018	25,221	9,573	34,794
Acquisitions through business combinations	11,075	6	11,081
Additions	9,373	8,047	17,420
Disposals	-162	-1,893	-2,055
Currency differences	-560	-240	-800
Gross carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2018	44,947	15,494	60,441
			_
Accumulated depreciation and impairment as at Jan 1, 2018	-3,033	-3,723	-6,756
Depreciation of the year	-5,317	-3,332	-8,649
Impairment	-	-	-
Disposals	162	1,884	2,047
Currency differences	63	113	176
Accumulated depreciation and impairment as at Dec 31, 2018	-8,124	-5,058	-13,182
Net carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2018	36,823	10,435	47,258

	\		
	Land use rights and buildings	and office equipment	Total
Construction and the 1 2010	KEUR	kEUR	kEUR 60 441
Gross carrying amount as at Jan 1, 2019	44,947	15,494	60,441
Acquisitions through business combinations	105	-	105
Additions	11,516	9,692	21,207
Disposals	-989	-1,981	-2,970
Currency differences	-358	-51	-409
Gross carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2019	55,222	23,153	78,375
Accumulated depreciation and impairment as at Jan 1, 2019	-8,124	-5,058	-13,182
Depreciation of the year	-8,204	-5,188	-13,392
Impairment	-	-	-
Disposals	989	1,974	2,963
Currency differences	80	20	99
Accumulated depreciation and impairment as at Dec 31, 2019	-15,260	-8,252	-23,512
Net carrying amount as at Dec 31, 2019	39,962	14,901	54,862

The lease liabilities are as follows:

_	D	ec 31, 2019	)	Dec 31, 2018			Dec 31, 2017			
	_	of which:		_	of which:		_	of which:		
	Total kEUR	non- current kEUR	current kEUR	Total kEUR	non- current kEUR	current kEUR	Total kEUR	non- current kEUR	current kEUR	
Properties	43,914	36,049	7,865	39,885	33,837	6,048	24,242	21,334	2,908	
Motor vehicles	1,966	811	1,155	2,294	1,075	1,219	1,950	1,010	940	
Operating and office equipment	13,485	10,372	3,113	8,509	6,112	2,397	4,244	2,717	1,527	
	59,365	47,232	12,133	50,688	41,024	9,664	30,436	25,061	5,375	

The lease liabilities were translated at the closing rate on 31 December.

In the fiscal year 2019 expenses relating to leases of low-value assets totaled kEUR 92 (2018: kEUR 41; 2017: kEUR 7). For short-term leases, there were expenses of kEUR 441 in fiscal year 2019 (2018: kEUR 1,116; 2017: kEUR 75).

## 5. Other financial assets

Other financial assets break down as follows:

	De	ec 31, 201	9	De	ec 31, 201	8	Dec 31, 2017		
	of which:			of which:				of w	hich:
	-	non-			non-		-	non-	
	Total	current	current	Total	current	current	Total	current	current
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Security deposits	2,900	2,493	408	2,660	2,283	377	1,952	1,784	168
Loans to Allgeier SE	2,009	-	2,009	-	-	-	362	-	362
Loans to Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH	1,205	-	1,205	651	-	651	632	-	632
Receivables from employees	756	-	756	874	-	874	857	-	857
Securities to suppliers	756	-	756	687	-	687	685	-	685
Derivative financial instruments	455	-	455	1,040	-	1,040	458	-	458
Creditors with debit balances	116	-	116	207	-	207	57	-	57
Receivable from loss transfer to Allgeier									
Enterprise Services AG	-	-	-	882	-	882	1,000	-	1,000
Other	552	210	342	1,594	1,122	472	2,683	1,795	887
	8,750	2,702	6,047	8,595	3,404	5,190	8,685	3,580	5,106

Other mainly comprises loans and advances granted to vendors as well as receivables from the national health insurance in Romania.

Further information on receivables from Allgeier Group companies is provided in section H.II. Related party transactions.

## 6. Other assets

The other assets are composed as follows:

	Dec 31, 2019			Dec 31, 2018			Dec 31, 2017		
	_	of which:		of which:			of which:		
		non-			non-			non-	
	Total	current	current	Total	current	current	Total	current	current
_	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Prepayments and accrued income	4,568	34	4,534	3,900	34	3,866	2,051	1	2,050
VAT receivables	4,430	-	4,430	3,858	-	3,858	2,252	-	2,252
-	8,998	34	8,964	7,758	34	7,724	4,303	1	4,302

### 7. Deferred taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized in respect of the following types of temporary differences and unused tax losses:

	Dec 31,	, 2019	Dec 31	, 2018	Dec 31, 2017		
	Deferred	Deferred	Deferred	Deferred	Deferred	Deferred	
	tax	tax	tax	tax	tax	tax	
	assets	liabilities	assets	liabilities	assets	liabilities	
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	
Intangible assets	1,050	1,899	957	1,584	1,185	447	
Property, plant and equipment	186	130	490	285	420	245	
Contract costs	-	186	-	267	-	-	
Contract assets and liabilities	202	256	73	156	-	-	
Miscellaneous financial assets	220	17	183	286	172	482	
Provisions for post-employment benefits	79 <del>4</del>	-	1,100	-	-	-	
Other provisions	1,857	205	992	-	1,787	129	
Other financial liabilities	58	-	273	-	77	-	
Temporary differences	4,367	2,693	4,068	2,578	3,641	1,303	
Loss carryforwards	5,092	_	1,364	_	1,016		
Offsetting	-1,127	-1,127	-858	-858	-489	-489	
	8,332	1,566	4,574	1,720	4,168	814	

As of December 31, 2019, Nagarro had corporate income tax loss carryforwards of kEUR 28,647 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 24,664; December 31, 2017: kEUR 13,977) and trade tax loss carryforwards of kEUR 14,041 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 12,589; December 31, 2017: kEUR 9,894). Deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards of kEUR 5,092 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 1,364; December 31, 2017: kEUR 1,016) were recognized. An amount of kEUR 2,785 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 5,602; December 31, 2017: kEUR 3,062) were not recognized as deferred tax asset due to uncertainty concerning their utilization. The expiry dates of the unrecognized deferred taxes are as follows:

	Dec 31, 2019 kEUR	Dec 31, 2018 kEUR	Dec 31, 2017 kEUR
Forfeiture within less than 4 years	50	0	0
Forfeiture within 4 to 7 years	377	300	247
Forfeiture within more than 7 years	16	102	186
Non-forfeitable	2,342	5,201	2,630
	2,785	5,602	3,063

Deferred tax assets exceeding deferred tax liabilities in the amount of kEUR 4,544 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 1,276; December 31, 2017: kEUR 655) for companies that generated a loss in the current or previous period were recognized as these are considered to be recoverable based on current tax planning.

Of the deferred tax assets, kEUR 7,337 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 3,497; December 31, 2017: kEUR 2,504) are current and kEUR 995 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 1,076; December 31, 2017: kEUR 1,664) are non-current. Of the deferred tax liabilities, kEUR 526 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 467; December 31, 2017: kEUR 0) are current and kEUR 1,040 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 1,253; December 31, 2017: kEUR 814) are non-current. Current deferred taxes are reported within non-current assets and non-current liabilities.

Deferred tax liabilities on temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries have not been recognized as it is not likely that these temporary differences will be reversed in the foreseeable future.

### 8. Inventories

Inventories include advance payments to suppliers amounting to kEUR 9 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 10; December 31, 2017: kEUR 5). In fiscal year 2017, inventories also consist of capitalized costs amounting to kEUR 260 to fulfill a contract. With the first time application of IFRS 15 as of January 1, 2018, these costs have been excluded from inventories and are reported separately within contract costs.

No impairment losses are recognized on inventories in fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017. In fiscal year 2019, the cost of purchased materials for inventories amounted to kEUR 301 (2018: kEUR 206; 2017: kEUR 56).

### 9. Contract costs

Capitalized contract costs in connection with customer projects were amortized in the amount of kEUR 222 (2018: kEUR 155; 2017: kEUR 25). No impairment losses were recognized on capitalized contract costs.

### 10. Contract assets and liabilities

Contract assets and liabilities as of the reporting dates were as follows:

_	Dec 31, 2019			Dec 31, 2018		
	of which:			_	of which:	
		non-			non-	
	Total	current	current	Total	current	current
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Customer projects measured according to						
the percentage-of-completion method	12,562	-	12,562	5,528	-	5,528
Contract assets	12,562	-	12,562	5,528	-	5,528
Customer projects measured according to						
the percentage-of-completion method	4,976	-	4,976	1,809	-	1,809
Accruals and deferred income	2,234	2	2,232	2,624	2	2,621
Other timing differences between revenue recognition						
and customer billing	324	283	41	235	235	
Contract liabilities	7,534	285	7,249	4,668	237	4,431

Contract assets and liabilities developed as follows in the fiscal years 2018 and 2019:

	Contract assets kEUR	Contract liabilities kEUR
Balance on January 1, 2018	3,895	2,285
Revenue recognition	5,386	-2,477
Addition due to business combinations	109	271
Currency effect	62	58
Reclassification to trade receivables	-3,924	-
Advance payments received from customers	-	4,531
Disposal due to business combinations		-
Balance on December 31, 2018	5,528	4,668

Revenue recognized in fiscal year 2018 include kEUR 2,266 which was reported under contract liabilities at the beginning of the fiscal year.

	Contract assets	Contract liabilities
	keur	kEUR
Balance on January 1, 2019	5,528	4,668
Revenue recognition	12,551	-4,450
Addition due to business combinations	-	70
Currency effect	16	22
Reclassification to trade receivables	-5,533	-
Advance payments received from customers	-	7,224
Disposal due to business combinations	-	-
Balance on December 31, 2019	12,562	7,534

Revenue recognized in fiscal year 2019 include kEUR 4,439 which was reported under contract liabilities at the beginning of the fiscal year.

### 11. Trade receivables

Trade receivables are composed as follows:

	Dec 31, 2019	Dec 31, 2018	Dec 31, 2017
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Customer receivables	82,502	76,707	51,377
Impairment of customer receivables	-2,182	-1,730	-1,109
	80,320	74,977	50,268

For financing customer receivables the Allgeier Group has a factoring volume of EUR 60 million (2018: EUR 50 million; 2017: EUR 50 million), in which Nagarro also participated. The Group derecognizes customer receivables after the entire risk associated with the sold receivables are transferred. Interest on the factored receivables is calculated at Euribor plus a margin of up to 1.3 percentage points. In December 2019, an interest rate of 0.94% p.a. was applied as a result of ongoing negative short-term interest rates (December 31, 2018: 0.94% p.a.; December 31, 2017: 0.94% p.a.).

As of December 31, 2019, kEUR 6,249 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 6,111; December 31, 2017: kEUR 4,791) of the factoring volume were used. Of this amount, a portion of kEUR 4,586 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 4,332; December 31, 2017: kEUR 3,111) was offset against trade receivables. The remaining portion of kEUR 1,663 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 1,779; December 31, 2017: kEUR 1,680) paid by customers was recognized under liabilities to banks. The factor pays the submitted receivables lists on two specified days in the month. In cases in which the individual receivables are paid by customer in the period between payment by the factor and the end of the month, the amounts received by the factor are recognized as liability. The liabilities have floating interest rates. At the end of 2019 an interest rate of 0.87% p.a. was applied (2018: 0.94% p.a.; 2017: 0.94% p.a.).

### 12.Cash

Cash is composed as follows:

	Dec 31, 2019	Dec 31, 2018	Dec 31, 2017
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Bank balances	43,745	27,934	16,538
Cash on hand	13	13	37
	43,758	27,947	16,576

Bank balances include term deposits and current account balances. They are highly liquid and available on short notice. Demand deposits are not subject to fluctuation risks, or subject to such risk only to an insignificant extent. Cash is part of the funds of Nagarro.

### 13. Liabilities to banks

Outstanding balances with banks are composed as follows:

	De	ec 31, 201	19	De	ec 31, 20	18	Dec 31, 2017			
		of which:			of which:			of which:		
	Total	non- current	current	Total	non- current	current	Total	non- current	current	
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	
Overdraft facility of				,						
Nagarro Software Pvt. Ltd.	2,760	-	2,760	2,900	-	2,900	-	-	-	
Liabilities from factoring	1,663	-	1,663	1,779	-	1,779	1,680	-	1,680	
Overdraft facility of Nagarro										
Enterprise Services Pvt. Ltd.	550	-	550	549	-	549	-	-	-	
Bank Ioan Nagarro Software srl	245	198	47	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Bank loans iQuest Technlogies srl	222		222	502	222	240				
	232	-	232	582	233	349	-	-	-	
Mortgage of Nagarro Enterprise				450		450	224	4.40	474	
Services Pvt. Ltd.	-	-	-	156	-	156	321	149	171	
Bank loan Nagarro Inc.	-	-	-	-	-	-	1,670	-	1,670	
Other	46	46	_		-		13	-	13	
	5,496	244	5,252	5,967	233	5,734	3,683	149	3,534	

Nagarro Software Pvt. Ltd. uses term loans denominated in euro at a local bank to finance working capital fluctuations. As of December 31, 2019, these term loans denominated in euro totaled kEUR 2,760 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 2,900) out of which kEUR 1,525 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 2,900) was secured by an exclusive charge over all its current and movable assets except assets financed under finance lease and exclusive charge over its entire immovable fixed assets. In fiscal year 2019, the loans had an average interest rate of 1.65% p.a. (2018: 1.72%).

Nagarro Enterprise Services Pvt. Ltd. has concluded a current account credit line with a local bank in the amount of kEUR 550. As of December 31, 2019, this credit line was utilized in the amount of kEUR 550 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 549) which was fully secured by an exclusive charge over its current assets excluding those assets which are charged under mortgage loan mentioned below and the assets which are financed under finance lease. The interest rate was 1.9% p.a. (2018: 1.85% p.a.).

In November 2019, Nagarro Software srl, Timisoara, Romania, concluded a bank loan to finance investments in a new office building. The loan has a duration to October 2024 and will be repaid in equal monthly installments. The loan has a floating interest rate based on 6-month Euribor plus a margin of 2.5 percentage points, with a minimum interest rate of 2.5% p.a.

In the 2017 fiscal year, iQuest Technologies srl, Cluj-Napoca, Romania, took out a bank loan totaling kEUR 1,045. This loan is being repaid in equal monthly installments to August 2020. The loan has a floating interest rate based on 1-month Euribor plus a margin of 1.6%, with a minimum interest rate of 1.6%. As of December 31, 2019, the remaining amount from this loan was kEUR 232 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 582).

Nagarro Enterprise Services Pvt. Ltd. entered into a mortgage loan in 2012 to finance an office building in Jaipur. This loan was fully repaid in 2019. The remaining debt of the loan, which was issued in US dollars, amounted to kUSD 179 or kEUR 156 on December 31, 2018 (December 31, 2017: kUSD 384 or kEUR 321). This loan had a variable interest rate and is linked to the development of USD-LIBOR. The interest rate as of December 31, 2018 was 8.88% p.a. (December 31, 2017: 7.67% p.a.) The loan was repaid in monthly installments of kUSD 17 each. The borrower's property, plant and equipment was pledged as collateral. It had a carrying amount of kEUR 2,165 as of December 31, 2018 (December 31, 2017: kEUR 2,420).

As of December 31, 2017, of the credit facilities of USD 3 million which it had been granted, Nagarro Inc., Cupertino, USA, utilized USD 2 million (kEUR 1,670). The credit facility had a duration to September 30, 2018, further extended for 3 months and attracts interest at Libor plus a margin of 2 percentage points.

There were no defaults on payments during or after the reporting periods. All financial ratios to which the companies committed themselves within the framework of loans and credit agreements were complied with in fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017.

## 14. Provisions for post-employment benefits

The Indian companies have obligations for future gratuity payments to employees who have worked with the company for more than 5 years (gratuity obligations) that become payable when employees depart, regardless of termination by the employer or employee. These severance payments represent a defined benefit plan in accordance with IAS 19. To cover these post-employment benefit obligations, provisions of kEUR 4,394 were recognized as of December 31, 2019 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 3,171; December 31, 2017: kEUR 2,516). The amounts can be reconciled as follows:

	2019	2018	2017
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Present value of the defined benefit obligation on January 1	3,171	2,516	2,213
Current service cost	803	678	606
Actuarial gains or losses	485	87	-196
Interest cost	219	161	134
Currency translation	3	-71	-115
Benefits paid	-287	-200	-126
Present value of the defined benefit obligation on December 31	4,394	3,171	2,516

The change in defined benefit obligations affected the Combined Statements of Comprehensive Income as follows:

	2019	2018	2017
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Staff costs			
Current service cost	803	603	606
Past service cost	-	75	_
	803	678	606
Finance expenses			
Interest cost	219	161	134
Recognized in profit and loss	1,022	839	740
Losses (Gains) from remeasurement of defined benefit obligations			
due to experience adjustments	293	111	143
due to changes in financial assumptions	192	-24	-339
Included in other comprehensive income	485	87	-196

As of December 31, 2019, the average expected length of service until an employee leaves the company was 5.0 years (December 31, 2018: 5.0 years; December 31, 2017: 5.0 years).

### Sensitivity analysis

As a result of the existing benefit commitments, Nagarro is exposed to the following actuarial risks:

Longevity risk	The higher life expectancy is higher than the best possible estimate according to the
	mortality tables. This increases an actual pension obligation at a later date.
Interest rate risk	The calculated interest rate to determine the present value of the defined benefit
	obligations is derived from the yield on high-quality corporate bonds. A decrease in
	interest on corporate bonds leads to an increase in benefit obligations.
Salary risk	Subsequent, unexpected salary increases lead to an increase in benefit obligations
	linked to remuneration.

The actuarial parameters used for calculating the present value of defined benefit obligations are the calculated interest rate, the expected annual salary increases for commitments linked to remuneration (salary trend), and the annual increase in current pensions (pension trend). On the assumption that the remaining parameters are constant, the present value of the defined benefit obligations as of December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 increases or decreases by changing one assumption at a time according to the following sensitivity analysis:

	Increase	Decrease
Dec 31, 2017	kEUR	kEUR
Calculated interest rate (1.00% change)	-125	138
Salary trend (1.00% change)	119	-113
Pension trend (0.25% change)	0	0
	Increase	Decrease
Dec 31, 2018	keur	kEUR
Calculated interest rate (1.00% change)	-154	171
Salary trend (1.00% change)	157	-147
Pension trend (0.25% change)	0	0
	Increase	Decrease
Dec 31, 2019	kEUR	kEUR
Calculated interest rate (1.00% change)	-221	245
Salary trend (1.00% change)	221	-208
Pension trend (0.25% change)	0	0

The above sensitivity analyses were performed by extrapolating the effects of realistic changes in key assumptions at the end of the reporting period on the defined benefit obligation.

## 15. Liabilities from acquisitions

For details on liabilities from acquisitions refer to sections D.19 Financial Instruments and H.I. Business Combinations.

## 16. Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are composed as follows:

	Dec 31, 2019			Dec 31, 2018			Dec 31, 2017		
		of which:		,	of which:			of which:	
	-	non-		•	non-		•	non-	
	Total	current	current	Total	current	current	Total	current	current
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Liabilities to Allgeier Enterprise Services AG	61,219	-	61,219	0	-	0	0	-	0
Loan Allgeier SE	37,954	-	37,954	34,257	-	34,257	31,585	-	31,585
Loan Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH	17,564	-	17,564	17,594	-	17,594	13,707	-	13,707
Wages and salaries	7,956	-	7,956	4,892	-	4,892	3,830	-	3,830
Leave obligations	4,702	-	4,702	4,196	-	4,196	2,682	-	2,682
Outstanding incoming invoices	2,908	-	2,908	2,696	-	2,696	3,692	-	3,692
Social security liabilities	3,953	-	3,953	3,463	-	3,463	523	-	523
Loan Allgeier Enterprise Services AG	3,091	-	3,091	5,432	-	5,432	5,340	-	5,340
Derivative financial instruments	404	-	404	314	-	314	254	-	254
Working time accounts	345	-	345	380	-	380	332	-	332
Customers with credit balances	154	-	154	159	-	159	20	-	20
Loan Allgeier IT Solutions GmbH	0	-	0	2,806	-	2,806	2,724	-	2,724
Other	2,157	2,125	33	2,036	1,470	566	3,172	1,157	2,015
	142,408	2,125	140,283	78,225	1,470	76,755	67,862	1,157	66,705

Obligations arising from vacation days not yet taken and granted to employees of Nagarro companies as of the reporting date are recognized as leave obligations. Expenditure per vacation day is calculated according to the individual average salary (excluding one-time payments) of the employees in the fiscal year under review, including social security contributions.

Refer to section H.II. Related party transactions for information on liabilities with the companies of the Allgeier Group.

## 17. Other provisions

Other provisions are composed as follows:

	Dec 31, 2019			D	ec 31, 2018	3	Dec 31, 2017			
		of which:			of which:			of whi		
		non-			non-			non-		
	Total	current	current	Total	current	current	Total	current	current	
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	
Bonuses	8,119	-	8,119	7,056	-	7,056	4,862	-	4,862	
Preparation and audit of										
statutory financial statements	497	-	497	242	-	242	216	-	216	
Employers' liability insurance										
association	164	-	164	162	-	162	140	-	140	
Restructuring, severance pay	100	-	100	14	-	14	41	-	41	
Miscellaneous	1,285	236	1,049	958	241	717	745	-	745	
	10,164	236	9,927	8,432	241	8,191	6,005	-	6,005	

Provisions for bonuses relate to performance-based remuneration of management and employees of Nagarro companies.

Provision for financial statements include expected costs to be incurred with respect to the preparation and the audit of the annual financial statements as well as preparation of the tax returns.

Other provisions developed as follows:

	Jan 1, 2017 kEUR	Additions through business combi- nation kEUR	Use kEUR	Release kEUR	Additions kEUR	Currency kEUR	Dec 31, 2017 kEUR
Bonuses	1,932	209	-2,098	-87	4,963	-57	4,862
Preparation and audit of statutory financial statements Employers' liability insurance	209	-	-114	-88	215	-6	216
association	36	-	-30	-6	140	-	140
Restructuring, severance pay	-	13	-	-	29	-	41
Miscellaneous	596	-	-383	-13	580	-36	745
	2,773	221	-2,625	-193	5,928	-99	6,005

	Jan 1,	Additions through business combin-	Uee	Deleges	A daliki a ma	C	Dec 31,
	2018	ation	Use	Release	Additions	Currency	2018
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Bonuses	4,862	938	-5,083	-157	6,506	-10	7,056
Preparation and audit of statutory financial statements Employers' liability insurance	216	62	-206	-2	170	2	242
association	140	2	-139	-5	164	-	162
Restructuring, severance pay	41	-	-28	-	-	-	14
Miscellaneous	745	237	-602	-34	638	-26	958
	6,005	1,239	-6,057	-198	7,477	-34	8,432

	Jan 1, 2019 kEUR	Additions through business combin- ation kEUR	Use kEUR	Release kEUR	Additions kEUR	Currency kEUR	Dec 31, 2019 kEUR
Bonuses	7,056	-	-9,480	-11	10,564	-9	8,119
Preparation and audit of statutory financial statements Employers' liability insurance	242	-	-171	-7	432	1	497
association	162	-	-153	-8	162	-	164
Restructuring, severance pay	14	-	-14	-	100	-	100
Miscellaneous	958	-	-514	-271	1,119	-6	1,285
	8,432	-	-10,331	-298	12,375	-15	10,164

## 18. Other liabilities

Other liabilities are composed as follows:

	Dec 31, 2019		Dec 3:	1, 2018	Dec 31, 2017				
		of which:		of which:		of which:			
	Total	current	Total	current	Total	current			
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR			
Liabilities from VAT	2, <del>4</del> 58	2,458	2,537	2,537	1,897	1,897			
Other	22	22	15	15	19	19			
	2,480	2,480	2,553	2,553	1,916	1,916			

## 19. Financial instruments

The carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments are classified as follows:

	Ca	arrying amount	:S	Fair values				
		at						
Dec 31, 2019	at fair	amortized						
keur	value	costs	Total	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total	
Financial assets								
<u>FVTPL</u>								
Other financial assets	455		455		455		455	
Foreign exchange forward transactions	455		455		455	-	455	
	455		455		455	-	455	
<u>AC</u>								
Trade receivables	-	80,320	80,320				80,320	
Other financial assets	-	8,295	8,295				8,295	
Cash		43,758	43,758			_	43,758	
		132,373	132,373			_	132,373	
	455	132,373	132,828				132,828	
Financial liabilities  FVTPL						_		
Liabilities from acquisitions	21,398	-	21,398	-	-	21,398	21,398	
Other financial liabilities								
Foreign exchange forward transactions	404		404		404	-	404	
	21,802		21,802		404	21,398	21,802	
<u>AC</u>								
Liabilities from acquisitions	-	223	223				223	
Liabilities to banks	-	5,496	5,496				5,496	
Trade payables	-	16,055	16,055				16,055	
Other financial liabilities		142,004	142,004			_	142,004	
		163,778	163,778			_	163,778	
	21,802	163,778	185,580			_	185,580	

	Carrying amounts Fair values						
Doc 21 2019	at fair	at amortized					
Dec 31, 2018 kEUR	value	costs	Total	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial assets							
<u>FVTPL</u>							
Other financial assets							
Foreign exchange forward transactions	1,040	<u>-</u> .	1,040		1,040	-	1,040
	1,040	<u> </u>	1,040		1,040	-	1,040
<u>AC</u>							
Trade receivables	-	74,977	74,977				74,977
Other financial assets	-	7,555	7,555				7,555
Cash		27,947	27,947			_	27,947
		110,479	110,479			_	110,479
	1,040	110,479	111,518			_	111,518
Financial liabilities <u>FVTPL</u>							
Liabilities from acquisitions	25,202	-	25,202	-	-	25,202	25,202
Other financial liabilities							
Foreign exchange forward transactions	314		314		314	-	314
	25,517		25,517		314	25,202	25,517
<u>AC</u>							
Liabilities from acquisitions	-	879	879				879
Liabilities to banks	-	5,967	5,967				5,967
Trade payables	-	17,358	17,358				17,358
Other financial liabilities		77,911	77,911				77,911
		102,114	102,114				102,114
	25,517	102,114	127,630			_	127,630

Contract assets (December 31, 2019: kEUR 12,562; December 31, 2018: kEUR 5,528) and lease liabilities (December 31, 2019: kEUR 59,365; December 31, 2018: kEUR 50,688) are not allocated to any of the measurement categories under IFRS 9 and are therefore not included in the tables above.

		Carrying am	nounts		Fair values			
			Other					
Dec 31, 2017	Hedging	Loans and	financial					
keur	instruments	receivables	liabilities	Total	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial assets measured at fair value								
through profit or loss								
Other financial assets								
Foreign exchange forward transactions	458	-	-	458		458	-	458
	458	-	-	458		458	-	458
Financial assets recognized at amortized cost								
Trade receivables	-	50,268		50,268				50,268
Other financial assets	-	8,227		8,227				8,227
Cash		16,576		16,576			_	16,576
	-	75,071	-	75,071			_	75,071
Financial assets	458	75,071	-	75,529			_	75,529
Financial liabilities measured at fair value								
through profit or loss								
Other financial liabilities								
Foreign exchange forward transactions	254	-	-	254		254	-	254
	254	-	-	254	_	254	-	254
Financial liabilities recognized at amortized cost								
Liabilities from acquisitions	-	-	755	755				755
Liabilities to banks	-	-	3,683	3,683				3,683
Trade payables	-	-	14,670	14,670				14,670
Other financial liabilities		-	67,608	67,608				67,608
		-	86,717	86,717				86,717
Financial liabilities	254	-	86,717	86,971			<del>-</del>	86,971

For items for which fair value is not disclosed, the carrying amounts are deemed a fair representation of the fair value.

For determining the fair value of assets and liabilities, if possible Nagarro uses prices that can be observed in the market. Depending on the input factors, the fair value is classified in different levels of the measurement hierarchy:

Level 1: Prices for identical assets and liabilities are used that are available in active markets.

Level 2: Other measurement factors are used for an asset or a liability that can be observed directly or indirectly,

or that can be derived from market prices.

Level 3: Measurement factors are used that are not based on observable market data.

In the periods under consideration there were no reclassifications between hierarchy levels.

Forward rate pricing: The fair value is determined using quoted forward rates on the balance sheet date and net present value calculations based on yield curves with high credit ratings in corresponding currencies.

Financial instruments categorized in Level 3 are derived as follow:

	Nagarro Anecon	Nagarro Objectiva	Nagarro MENA	Total
value	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Balance as at Dec 31, 2017				
Additions	2,926	21,573	_	24,499
Fair value changes recognized through profit or loss	-	_	_	_
Interest effect	35	259	_	294
Reduction due to payments	-	-	-	-
Currency differences		409		409
Balance as at Dec 31, 2018	2,961	22,241	_	25,202
Additions	-	-	2,370	2,370
Fair value changes recognized through profit or loss	-	-7,144	_	-7,144
Interest effect	39	433	18	490
Reduction due to payments	-	_	_	_
Currency differences		476	4	480
Balance as at Dec 31, 2019	3,000	16,006	2,392	21,398

Contingent purchase price liabilities are measured on the basis of the respective planning. The criteria agreed in the purchase agreements for achieving the contingent purchase prices are compared with the plans, and the fair value of the contingent purchase price liabilities is determined on this basis.

For the fair values of the contingent consideration, a change (increase or decrease) of input factors while keeping the remaining input factors constant has the following effects:

	Profit for the period				
	20:	19	201	18	
	Increase	Increase Decrease		Decrease	
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	
<u>Anecon</u>					
Change in the earn-out relevant EBITDA					
by 10% relative to plan	0	0	0	0	
<u>Objectiva</u>					
Change in the earn-out relevant EBITDA by 10% relative to plan	0	0	0	2,411	
Change of 10% in the USD exchange rate	-1,786	1,461	-2,471	2,022	
<u>Farabi</u>					
Change contribution margin relevant					
to earn-out by 10% relative to plan	0	0	-	-	
Change of 10% in the USD exchange rate	-218	179	<u> </u>		
	-2,004	1,640	-2,471	4,433	

### **Derivative financial instruments**

Nagarro concludes foreign exchange forward transactions to hedge foreign currency risks of future cash flows. When the contract is concluded, it is determined whether the derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge.

In the Nagarro India companies, the euro (EUR), US dollar (USD), the Swedish krone (SEK), the British pound (GBP) and the Australian dollar (AUD) are the currencies that are hedged as the customer receivables are mainly in these currencies while purchasing costs (staff costs and the purchase of third-party services) are incurred in Indian rupees (INR). In each case the maturity of the foreign exchange forward transactions is less than one year. There are no derivatives designated or qualified as hedging relationships for the transactions concluded. Since the conditions for the application of hedge accounting are not fully met, all changes in the value of these forward transactions were recognized through profit or loss.

The foreign exchange forward transactions are as follows:

	Dec 3	1, 2019		Dec 31, 2018			Dec 31, 2017		
Foreign exchange	Nominal	Assets	Liabilities	Nominal	Assets	Liabilities	Nominal	Assets	Liabilities
r oreign exertainge	amount	ASSCES	Liabilities	amount	Assets	Liabilities	amount	ASSCES	Liabilities
forwards	(in thousands)	kEUR	kEUR	(in thousands)	kEUR	kEUR	(in thousands)	kEUR	kEUR
INR / USD	USD 40,070	332	90	USD 25,580	375	311	USD 18,785	360	64
INR / EUR	EUR 12,255	119	69	EUR 12,012	534	0	EUR 10,545	55	131
INR / SEK	SEK 59,475	4	193	SEK 25,860	87	3	SEK 33,675	37	57
INR / GBP	GBP 1,114	0	49	GBP 627	44	0	GBP 600	6	2
INR / AUD	AUD 285	0	3	AUD 0	-		AUD 0		
		455	404		1,040	314		458	254

If the income or expenses for the foreign exchange forward transactions are not recognized for tax purposes until settlement or sale, deferred taxes are recognized.

The following sensitivity analysis shows the effects of foreign exchange forward transactions if one of the foreign currencies increases or decreases by 5%. The analysis assumes that all other such as the interest rate remain constant.

2019	Profit for	the period	Equ	uity	
Effect in kEUR	5% increase	5% decrease	5% increase	5% decrease	
INR / EUR	2,761	-2,761	2,761	-2,761	
INR / USD	-1,879	1,879	-1,879	1,879	
INR / SEK	-285	285	-285	285	
INR / GBP	-65	65	-65	65	
INR / AUD	-9	9	-9	9	
2018	Profit for	the period	Equity		
Effect in kEUR	5% increase	5% decrease	5% increase	5% decrease	
INR / EUR	2,026	-2,026	2,026	-2,026	
INR / USD	-1,249	1,249	-1,249	1,249	
INR / SEK	-141	141	-141	141	
INR / GBP	-35	35	-35	35	
2017	Profit for	the period	Equ	uity	
Effect in kEUR	5% increase	5% decrease	5% increase	5% decrease	
INR / EUR	1,516	-1,516	1,516	-1,516	
INR / USD	-784	784	-784	784	
INR / SEK	-171	171	-171	171	
INR / GBP	-34	34	-34	34	

## Net gains and losses from financial instruments

The net gains and losses from financial instruments are composed as follows:

	Dec 31, 2019			2019		
	Category in	Other	Other			
	accordance	operating	operating	Finance	Finance	
in kEUR	with IFRS 9	income	expenses	income	costs	Total
Cash	AC	-	-	101	-	101
Factoring	AC	-	-	-	-60	-60
Trade and other receivables	AC	111	-986	14	-	-861
of which impairments			<i>-984</i>			-984
Other financial assets	AC	-	-	66	-	66
Liabilities from Acquisitions	FVTPL	7,144	-	-	-489	6,654
Derivative financial instruments	FVTPL	-	-656	-	-	-656
Leases	n/a	-	-	-	-2,699	-2,699
Other financial liabilities	AC	-	-	-	-1,963	-1,963
		7,255	-1,642	181	-5,212	581
	Dec 31, 2018			2018		
	Category in	Other	Other			
	accordance	operating	operating	Finance	Finance	
in kEUR	with IFRS 9	income	expenses	income	costs	Total
Cash	AC	-	-	80	-	80
Factoring	AC	-	-	-	-42	-42
Trade and other receivables	AC	561	-1,011	186	-	-264
of which impairments			<i>-923</i>			<i>-923</i>
Other financial assets	AC	-	-	67	-	67
Liabilities from Acquisitions	FVTPL	-	-	-	-294	-294
Derivative financial instruments	FVTPL	547	-104	-	-	443
Leases (under IFRS 16)	n/a	-	-	-	-2,239	-2,239
Other financial liabilities	AC		-	-	-1,869	-1,869
		1,108	-1,115	334	-4,444	-4,117

	Dec 31, 2017			2017		
	Category in	Other	Other			
	accordance	operating	operating	Finance	Finance	
in kEUR	with IAS 39	income	expenses	income	costs	Total
Cash	LoR	-	-	72	-	72
Factoring	LoR	-	-	-	-24	-24
Trade and other receivables	LoR	185	-1,189	764	-	-240
of which impairments			-1,062			-1,062
Other financial assets	LoR	-	-	58	-	58
Derivative financial instruments	FVTPL	1,956	-527	-	-	1,429
Leases (under IFRS 16)	n/a	-	-	-	-2,076	-2,076
Other financial liabilities	AC	-	-	-	-1,686	-1,686
		2,140	-1,716	894	-3,786	-2,468

## E. Notes to the Combined Statements of Comprehensive Income

### 20. Revenue

Almost all revenue is recognized with performance obligations satisfied over time from period-related services, the annual amount of which can be clearly derived from the contractual agreements, as well as from customer-specific orders (contracts for work and services) generally to be completed in the following year, the amount of which is derived from the unsatisfied, firmly agreed order values considering any updates.

For customer contracts whose original duration was at least one year, expected revenue from performance obligations yet to be fulfilled are as follows:

	Total	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023
as of	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
December 31, 2019	6,256	-	2,821	2,209	1,094	132
December 31, 2018	7,604	3,456	1,659	1,659	830	-

The above amounts do not include variable remuneration components that are subject to a limit.

More information on revenue is provided in section H.III. Segment information.

## 21. Other operating income

Other operating income is broken down as follows:

	2019	2018	2017
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Fair value changes recognized as income through profit or loss	7,144	0	0
Income from currency translation	3,5 <del>4</del> 2	371	1,568
Income from the sale of fixed assets	369	38	9
Reversal of value adjustments on receivables	111	507	35
Release of provisions	298	198	193
Income from foreign exchange forward transactions	0	5 <del>4</del> 7	1,956
Collection of derecognized receivables	0	54	150
Recognition of badwill from business combinations	-	-	1,129
Miscellaneous	1,267	729	1,291
	12,730	2,443	6,330

### 22. Cost of materials

The cost of materials is composed as follows:

2019	2018	2017
kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
40,875	32,672	29,102
8,197	7,194	2,486
49,072	39,866	31,588
	kEUR 40,875 8,197	kEUR         kEUR           40,875         32,672           8,197         7,194

Purchased services include external temporary staff and subcontractors engaged on a project-specific basis.

## 23. Staff costs

Staff costs are composed as follows:

	2019	2018	2017
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Salaries and wages	218,795	151,951	109,854
Social security contributions	22,120	17,107	10,562
Bonuses	13,747	10,710	7,624
	254,662	179,768	128,039

Staff costs of kEUR 556 (2018: kEUR 610; 2017: kEUR 343) were incurred for non-capitalizable activities in connection with product development.

## 24. Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses are composed as follows:

2019	2018	2017
kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
12,573	9,459	8,572
4,907	3,899	6,926
4,034	1,844	310
3,953	3,128	2,551
3,423	3,173	2,722
3,055	2,456	1,574
2,687	2,429	1,600
1,775	1,264	975
1,675	1,449	1,743
1,435	1,337	322
1,384	1,183	739
1,105	1,090	669
887	482	440
669	443	497
656	104	527
647	380	304
471	549	380
-	-	1,189
4,424	2,687	2,525
49,762	37,357	34,564
	kEUR 12,573 4,907 4,034 3,953 3,423 3,055 2,687 1,775 1,675 1,435 1,384 1,105 887 669 656 647 471 - 4,424	kEUR         kEUR           12,573         9,459           4,907         3,899           4,034         1,844           3,953         3,128           3,423         3,173           3,055         2,456           2,687         2,429           1,775         1,264           1,675         1,449           1,435         1,337           1,384         1,183           1,105         1,090           887         482           669         443           656         104           647         380           471         549           4,424         2,687

## 25. Depreciation, amortization and impairment

For information on depreciation, amortization and impairment please refer to Sections *D.1. Intangible Assets, D.2. Impairment test for goodwill* and *D.3. Property, plant and equipment.* 

### 26. Finance income

Finance income is composed as follows:

	2019	2018	2017
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Interest income on bank balances	101	80	72
Interest income on security deposits	0	178	759
Other finance income	112	204	67
	212	463	898

Other finance income mainly includes interest from income tax refunds as well as interest income relating to loans granted to the remaining Allgeier Group.

Further information relating to interest income from related party transactions included in other finance income is set out in Section H.II. *Related party transactions.* 

#### 27. Finance costs

Finance costs are composed as follows:

	2019 kEUR	2018 kEUR	2017 kEUR
Interest on leases	2,699	2,239	2,076
Interest on loans from Allgeier Group	1,829	1,638	1,302
Interest on liabilities from acquisitions	489	294	-
Interest on bank loans	134	231	384
Factoring interest	60	42	24
Interest portion of additions to pension provisions	219	161	134
Other interest expenses	50	10	5
	5,481	4,614	3,925

For further Information please refer to Section H.II. Related party transactions and Section D.13. Liabilities to banks.

## 28. Income taxes

The income tax expense is composed as follows:

	2019	2018	2017
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Current tax result	-10,799	-7,036	-5,542
Deferred tax result	4,042	792	951
	-6,757	-6,244	-4,591

Income taxes are calculated on the basis of the applicable or expected tax rates of the countries and municipalities in which the Nagarro companies are domiciled. In the following tax reconciliation, the expected income tax result is reconciled to the actual tax result. The expected tax result is based on a group tax rate of 30%.

	2019	2018	2017
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Earnings before income taxes	37,153	14,418	8,240
Tax rate	30.0%	30.0%	30.0%
Expected income taxes	-11,146	-4,325	-2,472
Tax rate differences	917	-86	-1,011
Changes in tax rates	-542	32	-326
Non-deductible expenses	-420	-363	-208
Tax-free income	794	518	224
Tax loss carryforwards for which no deferred tax assets were recognized	-826	-1,497	-333
Use of tax loss carryforwards for which no deferred tax assets were recognized	258	42	104
Reversal of valuation allowance on deferred tax assets	3,055	44	0
Additions to value allowance on deferred tax assets	-44	-23	-70
Adjustment of earn-out liabilities	1,751	-212	0
Expenses relating to IFRS 16	-234	-262	-75
Tax effects relating to prior periods	-337	-43	7
Others	17_	-69	-431
Effective income taxes	-6,757	-6,244	-4,591
	18.2%	43.3%	55.7%

## 29. Non-Controlling Interests

For the purpose of the report, in all periods, an indirect share of Non-Controlling Interests of 16.17% was recorded. This share corresponds to the unchanged share of the Non-Controlling Interests of Nagarro Holding GmbH as of December 31, 2019 (Sections B.II. *Scope of combination*) and as of today.

In the second quarter of the fiscal year 2016 Allgeier offered two co-founders of Nagarro Inc. who were also management members of Nagarro Base of Nagarro Inc. to acquire shares in Nagarro Holding GmbH at fair market value through Nagarro Beteiligungs GmbH (refer to section *B.II. Scope of combination*). For this participation through Nagarro Beteiligungs GmbH there was no vesting schedule or period and the shares have been immediately vested. The shareholders agreement provided for put and call options for defined events. The total indirect participation in Nagarro Holding GmbH and its subsidiaries of the two participants through Nagarro Beteiligungs GmbH amounted to 10.00% at each balance sheet date.

Further, starting in the second quarter of fiscal year 2016 Allgeier and Nagarro offered certain members of the top management and key employees of Nagarro Base to invest in shares in Nagarro Holding GmbH at fair market value under a share participation program (SPP) through the investment vehicles SPP Co-Investor GmbH & Co KG and Nagarro SPP GmbH (refer to section B.II. Scope of combination). Under the SPP there was a vesting period that equaled to the shorter of an expected exit event and five years with the first part of 1/6 of the investment being vested immediately. If a participant in SPP Co-Investor GmbH & Co KG left before the vesting period of five years ended, she/he only received a proportional amount at fair market value (calculated through an EBITA-Multiple, net debt and cash) according to every year since shares were granted (vesting schedule) and the other portion was paid at the lower of the fair market value or the initial investment by the participant. In addition, the SPP provided for call and put options for specific events. While the call option enabled SPP Co-Investor GmbH & Co KG and the other participants in the SPP to purchase the shares from a participant, the put option enables the participant to sell her/his shares at the fair market value in defined cases. At December 31, 2019 the total indirect participation in Nagarro Holding GmbH and its subsidiaries of the participants of the SPP through SPP Co-Investor GmbH & Co KG and Nagarro SPP GmbH amounted to 6.17% (December 31, 2018: 5.57%; December 31, 2017: 5.63%).

The different Non-Controlling Interests correspond to a total number of shares in Nagarro Holding GmbH in December 31, 2019 of 16.17% (December 31, 2018: 15.57%; December 31, 2017: 15.63%). In 2020, both the shareholder agreements among the shareholders of Nagarro Beteiligungs GmbH as well as the SPP agreements have been amended and with that all participations have fully vested with no remaining option rights.

## F. Notes to the Combined Statement of Changes in Equity

### 30. Other transactions with shareholders

The changes in "Total Equity" result from "Other transactions with shareholders" in the amount of kEUR -60,120 (2018: kEUR 45,053; 2017: kEUR 1,254).

In fiscal year 2019 it relates to the purchase price for Nagarro ES (refer to section B.II. *Scope of combination)* and to the allocation of corporate costs (refer to section B.III. *Carve-out specific accounting principles*).

In fiscal year 2018 goodwill and contingent purchase price consideration (liabilities from acquisition) arising from the acquisition of Nagarro iQuest and Nagarro Objectiva are considered. By applying the Extraction Method, they are attributed to and presented in the Combined Financial Statements with the same amounts as reported in the consolidated financial statements of Allgeier SE. Hence, equity is affected accordingly, as purchase price have been paid by Allgeier Group. Furthermore, the loss transfer from Allgeier Consulting GmbH to Allgeier Enterprise Services AG for fiscal year 2018 is included (see section H.II. *Related party transactions*). The allocation of corporate cost for fiscal year 2018 (refer to section B.III. *Carve-out specific accounting principles*) is also included.

In fiscal year 2017 the "Other transactions with shareholders" mainly result from the loss transfer from Allgeier Consulting Services GmbH to Allgeier Enterprise Services AG for fiscal year 2017 (see section H.II. *Related party transactions*) and from the allocation of corporate cost for fiscal year 2017 (refer to section B.III. *Carve-out specific accounting principles*)

### G. Notes to the Combined Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities are reported using the indirect method. Interest paid and received are included in cash flows from financing activities.

Cash flows from financing activities include "Other transactions with Allgeier Group", of which kEUR 375 (2018: kEUR 299; 2017: kEUR 139) relate to the allocation of corporate costs, net of tax, that are deemed to be immediately settled through equity and kEUR 882 (2018: kEUR 1,000; 2017: kEUR 729) relate to the cash inflow from loss transfer from Allgeier Consulting Services GmbH to Allgeier Enterprise Services AG.

## 31. Net Cash flows from business combinations

Cash outflows for the acquisition of subsidiaries from third parties in fiscal year 2019, net of cash acquired, reconcile as follows:

	Nagarro
	MENA
	kEUR
Acquisition cost	5,313
Non cash share in 2019	-2,371
Purchase price paid in cash in 2019	2,942
Acquired cash and cash equivalents	-79
Outflow of cash and cash equivalents	2,863

In fiscal year 2018 there have been net cash inflows on the acquisition of Nagarro Anecon, Nagarro Objectiva and Nagarro iQuest in the amount of kEUR 4,950, net of cash acquired:

	Nagarro Anecon	Nagarro Objectiva	Nagarro iQuest <sup>2)</sup>	Total
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Acquisition cost	8,117	21,573	-	29,690
Non cash share in 2018	-2,926	-21,573	-	-24,499
Purchase price paid in cash in 2018	5,191	-	-	5,191
Acquired cash and cash equivalents	-1,307	-2,6 <del>4</del> 9	-6,185	-10,141
Outflow (inflow) of cash and cash equivalents	3,884	-2,649	-6,185	-4,950

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1)</sup> Acquisition cost has been taken only to the extent the liabilities are recognised by Nagarro. The balance purchase price was paid by Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH.

Cash outflows for the acquisition of businesses from third parties in fiscal year 2017, net of cash acquired, relate to the asset deals with respect to Nagarro ES (refer to section H.I. *Business combinations*) with a total amount of kEUR 1,184.

	Ciber			Ciber	Allgeier ES	
	Germany	Blitz 17-72	Blitz 17-73	Denmark	France	Total
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	<u>kEUR</u>
Acquisition cost	1,000	-	-	328	10	1,338
Purchase price paid in cash in 2017	1,000	-	-	328	10	1,338
Acquired cash and cash equivalents		-24	-24	-	-106	-154
Outflow of cash and cash equivalents	1,000	-24	-24	328	-96	1,184

Additionally, for the acquisition of subsidiaries in prior years kEUR 2,945 (e.g., Hexa, Mokriya), subsequently have been paid in fiscal year 2017.

In the course of business combinations in fiscal years 2017 through 2019, assets acquired and liabilities assumed have been as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2)</sup> The purchase price was paid by Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH, for Nagarro iQuest.

	2019
	Nagarro
	MENA
	kEUR
Intangible assets	959
Property, plant and equipment	263
Right of use assets	105
Contract assets	15
Trade receiveables	816
Other financial assets	164
Other assets	153
Cash	79
Assets acquired	2,554
Lease liabilities	105
Contract liabilities	81
Trade payables	115
Other financial liabilities	326
Other liabilities	35
Liabilities assumed	662
Net assets	1,892

	2018					
	Nagarro	Nagarro	Nagarro			
	Objectiva	iQuest	Anecon	Total		
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR		
Intangible assets	1,290	3,839	1,006	6,135		
Property, plant and equipment	114	1,651	212	1,977		
Right of use assets	1,604	9,477	395	11,081		
Contract assets	-	101	8	109		
Trade receiveables	3,411	7,520	2,498	13,429		
Other financial assets	144	934	387	1,465		
Other assets	71	681	187	939		
Income tax recievables	-	198	28	226		
Cash and cash equivalents	2,649	6,185	1,353	10,187		
Deferred tax assets		322	131	453		
Assets acquired	9,283	30,908	6,205	46,001		
Bank borrowings	-	672	47	719		
Lease liabilties	1,604	9,477	395	11,081		
Provisions	858	1,625	765	3,248		
Contract liabilities	-	212	59	271		
Trade payables	57	447	556	1,060		
Other financial liabilities	1,851	1,962	1,051	4,864		
Other liabilities	8	487	429	924		
Income tax liabilities	4,148	208	147	4,503		
Deferred tax liabilities	166	1,187	236	1,589		
Liabilities assumed	8,692	16,277	3,685	28,259		
Net assets	591	14,631	2,520	17,742		

			201	7			
		Nagarro ES					
	Ciber		<b>-</b>	Ciber	Allgeier ES		
	Germany	Blitz 17-72	Blitz 17-73	Denmark	France	Total	
	kEUR	<u>k</u> EUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	
Intangible assets	2,587	-	_	454	-	3,041	
Property, plant and equipment	183	-	-	38	-	221	
Inventories	-	-	-	-	61	61	
Trade receiveables	-	-	-	435	445	880	
Other assets	-	-	-	245	29	274	
Cash and cash equivalents	-	24	24	-	106	154	
Deferred income	-	-	-	8	-	8	
Deferred tax assets	99				77	176	
Assets acquired	2,869	24	24	1,180	718	4,815	
Trade payables	-	-	-	-	389	389	
Other provisions	13	-	-	195	14	222	
Income tax liabilities	-	-	-	-	165	165	
Other liabilities	133	-	-	657	131	921	
Deferred tax liabilities	602	-	-	-	-	602	
Liabilities assumed	748			852	699	2,299	
Net assets	2,121	24	24	328	19	2,516	

## 32. Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and of financial liabilities

Cash and cash equivalents comprised as follows:

	Dec 31, 2019 kEUR	Dec 31, 2018 kEUR	Dec 31, 2017 kEUR
Cash	43,758	27,947	16,576
Liabilities from factoring	-1,663	-1,779	-1,680
Overdraft facilities	-3,310	-3,449	-13
	38,786	22,718	14,882

Cash and cash equivalents include restricted cash balances of kEUR 635 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 256; December 31, 2017: kEUR 282) in favor of third parties and of kEUR 1,822 (December 31, 2018: none; December 31, 2017: none) with transfer restrictions to Germany.

Financial liabilities reconcile to the cashflows from financing activities as follows:

			Non-			
		Cash flows	Additions	Currency differences	Accrued interests	
	Dec 31,		_			Dec 31,
	2018	2019	2019	2019	2019	2019
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Liabilities to banks						
Bank loans	739	-202	-	-13	-	524
Lease Liabilities	50,688	-14,993	21,313	1,692	665	59,365
Other financial liabilities						
Loans from Allgeier Group	60,090	-3,390	61,219	82	1,829	119,830
	111,516	-18,584	82,532	1,761	2,494	179,719

		_	Non-	ns		
		Cash flows	Additions	Currency differences	Accrued interests	
	Dec 31,					Dec 31,
	2017	2018	2018	2018	2018	2018
	kEUR	keur	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Liabilities to banks						
Bank loans	1,990	-1,934	672	10	-	739
Lease Liabilities	30, <del>4</del> 36	-9,780	28,501	1,032	499	50,688
Other financial liabilities						
Loans from Allgeier Group	53,357	4,991	-	105	1,638	60,090
	85,783	-6,724	29,173	1,147	2,137	111,516

			Non-cash transactions			
				Currency	Accrued	
		Cash flows	Additions	differences	interests	
	Jan 1,				_	Dec 31,
	2017	2017	2017	2017	2017	2017
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Liabilities to banks						
Bank loans	11,759	-9,651	-	-118	-	1,990
Lease Liabilities	24,263	-7,055	10,633	2,275	320	30, <del>4</del> 36
Other financial liabilities						
Loans from Allgeier Group	36,541	15,514	_	0	1,302	53,357
	72,563	-1,192	10,633	2,157	1,622	85,783

For net cash inflows from factoring refer to section D.11. *Trade receivables*. Other transactions with Allgeier Group are discussed in section F.30. *Other transactions with shareholders*.

### H. Other disclosures

### I. Business combinations

#### Acquisition of the previous "Ciber Germany" business in fiscal year 2017

On April 6, 2017, Allgeier Enterprise Services AG, Munich, acquired all shares in Blitz 17-72 GmbH, Munich, and Blitz 17-73 GmbH, Munich. The purchase price for both companies was kEUR 54. At the time of acquisition, the companies each had equity and cash and cash equivalents of kEUR 24. The difference between the purchase price and the equity of kEUR 6 was written off. With the two companies, on April 7, 2017 the Group acquired specific assets and contractual relationships of Ciber AG, Heidelberg which was involved in insolvency proceedings and also Ciber Managed Services GmbH, Heidelberg ("Ciber Germany") which was also involved in insolvency proceedings. Both Ciber companies were specialized in SAP consulting, SAP implementation and SAP managed services for medium-sized customers and large customers. A purchase price of kEUR 1,000 was agreed for the assets acquired. The purchase price and net assets of kEUR 2,121 resulted in a negative difference of kEUR 1,121, which was recognized in other operating income. In connection with the transaction there were costs of kEUR 291 which were recognized in other operating expenses.

The following assets were acquired and liabilities assumed with the acquisition of the business:

	Fair values kEUR
Intangible assets	2,587
Property,plant and equipment	183
Deferred tax assets	99
Assets acquired	2,869
Other provisions	13
Other liabilities	133
Deferred tax liabilities	602
Liabilities assumed	748
Net assets	2,121

.

In fiscal year 2017, Blitz 17-72 GmbH, Munich, and Blitz 17-73 GmbH, Munich, were merged into Allgeier Consulting Services GmbH and Nagarro Allgeier ES GmbH, respectively. No information is provided on the share of revenues and results in the period between April and December 2017 relating to the businesses acquired, because due to mergers this would have entailed a disproportionate expense.

### Acquisition of the previous "Ciber Denmark" business in fiscal year 2017

With the sale and purchase agreement dated May 5, 2017, Nagarro Allgeier ES Denmark A/S, Copenhagen, Denmark, acquired the business of Ciber Denmark by way of an asset deal. Ciber Denmark is the developer of the SAP add-on solution, Ciber Compliance Suite (CCS) and the ComplianceNow (CN) solution and provides these solutions for deployment at more than 100 international customer companies. The ComplianceNow solution consists of six highly effective individual products to optimize and manage complex, modern processes in companies with an SAP environment. The unit thus makes a material contribution to the sharper focus on the important growth areas of SAP Compliance. For the acquired assets and liabilities and the transfer of employees, a purchase price of kDKK 2,438 (kEUR 328) was agreed. Further transaction costs of kEUR 106 were recognized as expenses.

The following assets were acquired and liabilities assumed with the acquisition of the business:

	Fair values kEUR
Intangible assets	454
Property, plant and equipment	38
Trade receivables	435
Other assets	245
Deferred income	8
Assets acquired	1,180
Provisions	195
Other liabilities	657
Liabilities assumed	852
Net assets	328

In the 2017 fiscal year, Nagarro Allgeier ES Denmark A/S generated revenues of kEUR 2,453 and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization of kEUR -301. The trade receivables acquired were paid in the 2017 fiscal year.

### Acquisition of Nagarro Allgeier ES France SAS in fiscal year 2017

On June 21, 2017, Nagarro Allgeier ES GmbH acquired all shares in AI2S-Consulting SAS, Entzheim, France (subsequently renamed Allgeier ES France). Allgeier ES France provides IT consultancy and managed services in the SAP environment. The purchase price for the company was kEUR 10.

On the date of initial consolidation, May 31, 2017, Allgeier ES France recognized assets of kEUR 718 and liabilities of kEUR 699. The difference between the purchase price and the net assets of kEUR 19 resulted in a negative difference of kEUR 9, which was recognized in other operating income and was the result of expected synergies.

As of May 31, 2017, the fair values of the net assets acquired were:

	Fair values kEUR
Inventories	61
Trade receivables	445
Other assets	29
Cash and cash equivalents	106
Deferred tax assets	77
Assets acquired	718
Trade payables	389
Other financial liabilities	14
Income tax liabilities	165
Deferred tax liabilities	131
Liabilities assumed	699
Net assets	19

All third-party receivables acquired were paid in full in the 2017 fiscal year. In the period from June to December 2017, the company generated revenues of kEUR 2,541 and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization of kEUR 286. Historically Nagarro ES was integrated into the segment "Enterprise Services" of the Allgeier Group. Based on new management reporting goodwill is allocated to segment "Central Europe".

## **Acquisition of ANECON Software Design und Beratung GmbH in fiscal year 2018**

On January 8, 2018, Nagarro Austria Beteiligungs GmbH, Vienna, Austria, acquired all business shares of ANECON Software Design und Beratung GmbH, Vienna, Austria. Nagarro Anecon is one of the leading companies for software development and consulting in the Austrian market. The company offers the highest quality for its customers' IT projects and maps the entire software lifecycle.

ANECON Software Design und Beratung GmbH, Vienna, Austria in turn held all shares in ANECON Software Design und Beratung GmbH, Dresden (both companies together referred to as "Nagarro Anecon"). ANECON Software Design und Beratung GmbH, Dresden, was renamed Nagarro Testing Service GmbH in fiscal year 2018 and merged into Nagarro GmbH, Munich, effective January 1, 2019. Nagarro Austria Beteiligungs GmbH was merged into Nagarro GmbH, Vienna, effective January 1, 2018.

A purchase price of kEUR 5,191 was paid for the acquisition of Nagarro Anecon in fiscal year 2018. In addition, the purchaser has undertaken to pay an earn-out of a maximum of EUR 3 million. The earn-out depends on reaching specified profit margins in the fiscal years 2018 to 2020. The company expects the earn-out to reach its full amount in 2020 and to be due for payment in 2021. After discounting, the capitalized variable purchase price thereby amounts to kEUR 2,926. In return for the purchase price, Nagarro received cash and cash equivalents amounting to kEUR 1,307. In addition, costs of kEUR 116 were incurred, which were recognized as other operating expenses.

With the acquisition of Nagarro Anecon, Nagarro received assets of kEUR 6,205 and liabilities of kEUR 3,685 on January 1, 2018. This includes identified customer relationships in the amount of kEUR 952 and an increase of kEUR 7 in allowances for doubtful accounts. Acquired lease agreements have been recognized in accordance with IFRS 16, i.e., a lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease payments of kEUR 395 and a right-of-use asset at the same amount. Deferred tax liabilities of kEUR 236 were considered. The purchase price of kEUR 8,117 and the net assets of kEUR 2,519 resulted in goodwill of kEUR 5,598. The goodwill reflects the future potential arising from the integration of Nagarro Anecon.

The fair values of the net assets acquired as of January 1, 2018, including right of use assets and lease liabilities resulting from the retrospective application of IFRS 16, are as follows:

	E-1
	Fair values
	<u>keur</u>
Intangible assets	1,006
Property, plant and equipment	212
Right of use assets	395
Contract assets	8
Trade receivables	2,498
Other financial assets	387
Other assets	187
Income tax receivables	28
Cash and cash equivalents	1,353
Deferred tax assets	131
Assets acquired	6,205
Bank borrowings	47
Lease liabilties	395
Provisions	765
Contract liabilities	59
Trade payables	556
Other financial liabilities	1,051
Other liabilities	429
Income tax liabilities	147
Deferred tax liabilities	236
Liabilities assumed	3,685
Net assets	2,520

Trade receivables comprise gross contractual amounts due of kEUR 2,604, of which kEUR 106 were expected to be uncollectable at the date of acquisition. The net receivables of kEUR 2,498 were paid in fiscal year 2018.

In 2017, Nagarro Anecon achieved revenues of kEUR 17,256 and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization of kEUR 1,638. In fiscal year 2018, ANECON Software Design und Beratung GmbH, Vienna, Austria was merged into Nagarro GmbH, Vienna, so that no separate disclosures can be made for Nagarro Anecon for the year 2018. Historically Nagarro Anecon was integrated into segment "Technology" of the Allgeier Group. Based on new management reporting goodwill is allocated to segment "Central Europe".

#### Acquisition of Objectiva Software Solutions, Inc., San Diego, USA in fiscal year 2018

On June 8, 2018, Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH signed a purchase agreement for the acquisition of 100% of the shares of Objectiva Software Solutions, Inc. with headquarters in San Diego, California, USA. The company specializes in software development solutions and cross-platform technology implementation, particularly in the areas of e-commerce and content. Nagarro Objectiva has a sales network at several US locations and maintains with its two subsidiaries Objectiva Software Solutions (Beijing) Co. Ltd., Beijing, China, and Objectiva Software Solutions (Xi'an) Co. Ltd., Xi'an, China, two software development centers in China.

A fixed purchase price of USD 14.0 million (EUR 12.0 million) and variable purchase price components of up to USD 26 million were agreed for the acquisition of the company. The variable purchase prices was dependent on reaching certain EBITDA targets in the 2018 to 2021 years. At the time of the acquisition maximum amounts of USD 7.0 million for 2018, USD 9.0 million for 2019 and USD 10.0 million for 2020 were contemplated to be paid, with unused maximum amounts increasing the cap for the following year. When calculating the variable purchase price to be capitalized, the Allgeier Group assumed that the planning submitted by the company would be adhered to. According to this plan, the earn-out initially should be achieved in full and paid in installments

of USD 8.2 million, USD 8.1 million and USD 9.7 million in the years 2020 to 2022 in euros and after discounting, the capitalized variable purchase price amounted to kEUR 21,573.

Affecting fiscal year 2019 the variable purchase price component was subsequently reassessed, which resulted in a decrease of the fair value of the respective liability from acquisitions by kEUR 7,144 and gain of kEUR 7,144 in the statement of total comprehensive income (refer to section D.19. *Financial instruments*). Additionally, further information on the treatment of the contingent liability resulting from that acquisition is provided in sections B.III. *Carve-out specific accounting principles* and VIII. *Events after the balance sheet date*.

In addition to the purchase price, consulting and due diligence costs of kEUR 243 were incurred, which have not been allocated to the Combined Financial Statements.

Nagarro Objectiva was initially consolidated on July 1, 2018. With the fulfillment of the closing conditions, control over the company was obtained by the Group at that time. The consolidated financial statements of the Nagarro Objectiva prepared as of the initial consolidation date considered assets of kEUR 7,065 and liabilities of kEUR 5,153. The purchase price allocation led to the recognition of customer relationships in an amount of kEUR 683. In addition, valuation allowances of kEUR 69 on receivables were recognized and a liability of kEUR 1,770 was recognized for tax risks. Acquired lease agreements have been recognized with a lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease payments of kEUR 1,604 and a right-of-use asset at the same amount. In total, the Group acquired net assets of kEUR 591 with Nagarro Objectiva. The capitalized purchase price of kEUR 33,592 and the net assets accordingly resulted in a difference of kEUR 33,002, which was capitalized as goodwill. The goodwill from the acquisition of Nagarro Objectiva is justified by the potential from future cooperation between Nagarro Objectiva and the Group companies and the expansion of joint activities in Germany, Europe and the USA.

The fair values of the net assets acquired as of July 1, 2018, including right of use assets and lease liabilities resulting from the retrospective application of IFRS 16, are as follows:

	Fair values kEUR
Intangible assets	1,290
Property, plant and equipment	114
Right of use assets	1,604
Trade receivables	3,411
Other financial assets	144
Other assets	71
Cash and cash equivalents	2,649
Assets acquired	9,283
Lease liabilties	1,604
Provisions	858
Trade payables	57
Other financial liabilities	1,851
Other liabilities	8
Income tax liabilities	4,148
Deferred tax liabilities	166
Liabilities assumed	8,692
Net assets	591

The acquired trade receivables are meanwhile fully paid, except an amount of kEUR 111 that have been written off in July 2020.

In the second half of 2018, Nagarro Objectiva achieved sales revenues of kEUR 10,386 and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization of kEUR 1,030. Historically Nagarro Objectiva was integrated into the segment "Technology" of the Allgeier Group. Based on new management reporting goodwill is allocated to segment "North America".

## Acquisition of Nagarro iQuest Holding GmbH, Karlsruhe

On August 13, 2018 Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH acquired all shares of Blitz 18-492 GmbH, Munich, which immediately was renamed iQuest SPP GmbH and 38.9% of the shares in which were sold to the management of the Nagarro iQuest Holding GmbH. At the same time, Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH and iQuest SPP GmbH signed agreements to acquire 66.7% of the shares of Nagarro iQuest Holding GmbH, Karlsruhe. As a result Allgeier SE directly and indirectly held 60.82% of the shares in Nagarro iQuest as of December 31, 2018. Via iQuest SPP GmbH and a direct participation in Nagarro iQuest Holding GmbH the Non-Controlling Interests held a total of 11.7% of the shares in Nagarro iQuest Holding GmbH and its subsidiaries. The remaining shares were held by the founder of Nagarro iQuest. At the time of acquisition Nagarro iQuest Holding GmbH was a parent company of a total of eight subsidiaries based in Germany, Romania, Poland and Switzerland. Nagarro iQuest develops individual software solutions for large international customers, particularly in the life sciences, telecommunications, financial services, transport and energy sectors.

A purchase price of kEUR 26,500 was paid for the acquisition of the Nagarro iQuest shares. In addition, costs of kEUR 521 were incurred, which have not been allocated to the Combined Financial Statements. When closing conditions were met on October 1, 2018 Nagarro iQuest was consolidated for the first time. With the acquisition of Nagarro iQuest, the Group acquired assets totaling kEUR 21,431 and liabilities totaling kEUR 6,802. Customer relationships and orders on hand totaling kEUR 3,602 were recognized. Acquired lease agreements have been recognized with a lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease payments of kEUR 9,477 and a right-of-use asset at the same amount. Deferred taxes of kEUR 866 net were attributable to the purchase price allocation. The purchase price and net assets of kEUR 14,631 and the non-controlling shareholder of kEUR 5,731 resulted in a difference of kEUR 17,600, which was capitalized as goodwill. The goodwill from the acquisition of Nagarro iQuest is based on the potential from the future cooperation of the Nagarro iQuest with the other Group companies and the expansion of joint activities in Germany and Europe.

The fair values of the net assets acquired as of October 1, 2018, including right of use assets and lease liabilities resulting from the retrospective application of IFRS 16, are as follows:

	Fair values kEUR
Intangible assets	3,839
Property,plant and equipment	1,651
Right of use assets	9,477
Contract assets	101
Trade receivables	7,520
Other financial assets	934
Other assets	681
Income tax receivables	198
Cash and cash equivalents	6,185
Deferred tax assets	322
Assets acquired	30,908
Bank borrowings	672
Lease liabilties	9,477
Provisions	1,625
Contract liabilities	212
Trade payables	447
Other financial liabilities	1,962
Other liabilities	487
Income tax liabilities	208
Deferred tax liabilities	1,187
Liabilities assumed	16,277
Net assets	14,631

Trade receivables comprise gross contractual amounts due of kEUR 7,617, with loss allowances of kEUR 126. The net amount have been meanwhile fully paid.

In the fourth quarter of 2018, Nagarro iQuest generated revenues of kEUR 9,049 and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization of kEUR 382. Historically Nagarro iQuest was integrated into the segment "Technology" of the Allgeier Group. Based on new management reporting goodwill is allocated to segment "Central Europe".

### Acquisition of Farabi Technology Middle East LLC and SOLUTIONS 4 MOBILITY L.L.C. in fiscal year 2019

On April 1, 2019, Nagarro Holding GmbH, Munich, signed contracts to acquire Nagarro Farabi and Nagarro S4M, experts in the development of mobile applications to support digital transformation. Their activities focus on computer animation, graphics work, information technology networks and computer system hardware for large customers in the banking, telecommunications and transport sectors in particular. The transaction gives Nagarro valuable access to market and industry-leading customers in the Middle East, wand strengthens its consulting and implementation expertise on local markets.

A maximum purchase price of USD 6.5 million was agreed for the acquisition of the Nagarro MENA shares. In addition, the buyer pays EUR 0.5 million for the acquisition of working capital which is not necessary for operations. The fixed component of the purchase price of USD 3.3 million (kEUR 2,941) was paid in the first half of 2019. The remaining purchase price is due between 2019 and 2022, depending on the achievement of targets. USD 1.0 million of the variable purchase price is recognized as other operating expenses if the criteria are fulfilled. The other components are fully capitalized. Calculated on the basis of the exchange rate on the acquisition date, and after discounting the longer-time purchase price components, a total purchase price of kEUR 5,312 was capitalized. There were also costs of kEUR 138 which were not capitalized, but recognized under other operating expenses.

Nagarro MENA was consolidated for the first time as of April 1, 2019. On the acquisition of the two companies, Nagarro acquired total assets of kEUR 2,554 and assumed total liabilities of kEUR 662. Customer relationships and orders on hand totaling kEUR 959 were recognized. Goodwill of kEUR 3,420 resulted from the difference between the purchase price and the net assets acquired. The goodwill reflects the potential arising from the integration of the two companies into the Group. Acquired lease agreements have been recognized with a lease liability of kEUR 105 and a right-of-use asset at the same amount.

As of April 1, 2019, the fair values of the net assets were as follows:

	Fair values
	kEUR
Intangible assets	959
Property, plant and equipment	263
Right of use assets	105
Contract assets	15
Trade receivables	816
Other financial assets	164
Other assets	153
Cash and cash equivalents	79
Assets acquired	2,554
Lease liabilities	105
Contract liabilities	81
Trade payables	115
Other financial liabilities	326
Other liabilities	35
Liabilities assumed	662
Net assets	1,892

All acquired trade receivables were paid in the 2019 fiscal year.

In the period from April to December 2019, Nagarro MENA generated revenue of kEUR 4,410 and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization of kEUR 529. Historically Nagarro MENA were integrated into the "Technology" segment of Allgeier Group. Based on new management reporting goodwill is allocated to segment "Rest of World".

#### **Pro forma earnings**

The companies acquired in 2018 have been shown below for the full years 2017 and 2018 and the companies acquired in 2019 have been shown for the full years 2018 and 2019.

	2019	2018	2017*
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Revenue	404,068	327,759	281,273
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)	61,851	37,476	30,296

<sup>\*</sup>The revenue and EBITDA of the two companies acquired in 2019, Nagarro Farabi and Nagarro S4M are combined together for the year 2017 and were kEur 3,617 and kEur 635 respectively.

If the acquired businesses had been acquired and consolidated for the first time at the beginning of the respective fiscal year of the acquisition, revenues and results of Nagarro would have been as follows:

	2019	2018	2017
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Revenue	404,068	322,894	210,551
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)	61,851	36,656	21,277

No respective IFRS earnings information is available for Nagarro ES acquired in 2017 in the context of asset deals and could therefore not be taken into account. The effects of the full retrospective application of IFRS 16 were taken into account.

# II. Related party transactions

Transactions and outstanding balances with related parties exist between the combined Nagarro companies (see section B.II. *Scope of combination and acquisitions*) and the companies of the remaining Allgeier Group, i.e. Allgeier SE and its direct and indirect subsidiaries outside the scope of combination, as well as with the members of the Nagarro's key management personnel.

## **Outstanding balances with Allgeier Group companies**

	Allgeier SE			Other Allg	jeier Group c	ompanies
	Dec 31,	Dec 31,	Dec 31,	Dec 31,	Dec 31,	Dec 31,
	2019	2018	2017	2019	2018	2017
	keur	keur	keur	kEUR	keur	kEUR
Total assets						
Trade receivables	1	1	2	1,323	1,731	842
Other current financial assets	2,009	0	362	1,205	1,533	1,632
	2,010	1	364	2,528	3,265	2,474
Total liabilities						
Trade payables	1,605	1,504	1,593	2,320	4,046	3,879
Other current financial liabilities	37,954	34,257	31,585	81,875	25,832	21,771
	39,559	35,761	33,178	84,195	29,878	25,650

In addition to the balances presented above, lease agreements exist between Nagarro and the remaining Allgeier Group. As at December 31, 2019 the carrying amounts of the respective right-of-use assets amounted to kEUR 3,745 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 4,376; December 31, 2017: kEUR 4,763), the respective lease liabilities amounted to kEUR 3,878 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 4,479; December 31, 2017: kEUR 4,830).

The other current financial assets and liabilities presented in the table result from loans and other receivables to and loans from Allgeier Group companies as further discussed in the following.

## Loans and other receivables to Allgeier Group companies

			Carrying amounts including accrued interests			
keur	Maturity	Interest rate	Dec 31, 2019	Dec 31, 2018	Dec 31, 2017	
Nagarro Inc. (USA)	<del></del> -	-				
to Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH	monthly	3% p.a.	535	-	-	
Nagarro GmbH (Germany)						
to Allgeier SE	monthly	3% p.a.	-	-	362	
to Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH	monthly	3% p.a.	671	651	632	
iQuest Holding GmbH						
to Allgeier SE	monthly	3% p.a.	2,009	-	-	
Allgeier Consulting Services GmbH						
to Allgeier Enterprise Services AG	monthly	5% p.a.	-	882	1,000	
			3,215	1,533	1,994	

Up to and including fiscal year 2018, a profit and loss transfer agreement between Allgeier Enterprise Services GmbH and Allgeier Consulting Services GmbH was effective. Under this agreement losses have been transferred to Allgeier Enterprise Services GmbH. The respective receivables amounting to kEUR 882 as of December 31, 2018 and kEUR 1,000 as of December 31, 2017 are interest bearing with an interest rate of 5% p.a. as agreed with respect to such receivables.

### Loans from Allgeier Group companies

			Carrying amounts including accrued interests			
kEUR	Maturity	Interest rate	Dec 31, 2019	Dec 31, 2018	Dec 31, 2017	
Allgeier Nagarro Holding						
from Allgeier SE	monthly	3% p.a.	37,95 <del>4</del>	34,257	31,585	
from Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH	monthly	3% p.a.	5,206	2,094	2,058	
from Allgeier Enterprise Services AG	monthly	3% p.a.	61,219	-	-	
Nagarro SPP GmbH						
from Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH	3 month's	EURIBOR				
	notice	plus 3%p.a.	6,719	6,523	6,333	
Nagarro Inc. (USA)						
from Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH	monthly	3% p.a.	-	3,502	-	
Allgeier Nagarro Beteiligungen GmbH						
from Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH	3 month's					
	notice	3% p.a.	5,640	5,476	5,316	
Allgeier Consulting Services GmbH		0 / 0 p.u.	3,010	5, 5	3,313	
from Allgeier IT Solutions GmbH	monthly	3% p.a.	-	1,249	1,213	
from Allgeier Enterprise Services AG	monthly	3% p.a.	-	2,418	2,348	
Allgeier Midmarket Services GmbH						
from Allgeier IT Solutions GmbH	monthly	3% p.a.	-	1,557	1,511	
from Allgeier Enterprise Services AG	monthly	3% p.a.	2,761	2,683	2,605	
Allgeier Enterprise Services Denmark A/S						
from Allgeier Enterprise Services AG	monthly	3% p.a.	331	331	388	
Hom August Enterprise Services Ad	Monday	5 /0 p.u.	119,830	60,090	53,357	
					33,337	

Loans from Allgeier Enterprise Services AG amounting to kEUR 61,219 as of December 31. 2019 were granted in connection with the acquisition of Nagarro Allgeier ES GmbH, Allgeier Consulting Services GmbH and Nagarro Allgeier ES Denmark A/S in December 2019 to Nagarro Holding GmbH (refer to section B.II. *Scope of combination and acquisitions*). The loans have an indefinite term and may be terminated by both parties on a one month's notice. The loans can be early repaid partially or in full without any additional costs.

The loans from Allgeier SE and Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH mainly relate to the financing of purchase prices for various acquisitions by Nagarro Holding.

A credit agreement with several banks is contemplated to finance the repayment of the loan liabilities to Allgeier Group with a net amount of kEUR 116,615. The agreement shall include a redeemable credit line in the amount of EUR 100 million and a revolving credit line in the amount of EUR 100 million (refer to section H.VIII. *Events after the balance sheet date*).

## **Equity transactions with Allgeier Group**

Transactions between Nagarro and remaining Allgeier Group directly impacting equity, either cash or non-cash, are reported as "Other transactions with shareholders" within "Net asset attributable to shareholders of Nagarro" in the Combined Statements of

Changes in Equity, and further discussed in section F.30. Other transactions with shareholders, if material.

## **Equity transactions with Non-Controlling Interest**

Transactions between Nagarro and Non-Controlling Interest directly impacting equity, either cash or non-cash, are reported as "Other transactions with shareholders" within "Net asset attributable to shareholders of Nagarro" in the Combined Statements of Changes in Equity, and further discussed in section E.29. *Non-Controlling Interest*, if material.

# Income and expense resulting from transactions with Allgeier Group

	Allgeier SE			Other Allge	eier Group c	ompanies
	2019	2018	2017	2019	2018	2017
	<u>k</u> EUR	<u>kEUR</u>	kEUR	<u>keur</u>	kEUR	kEUR
Revenue and other income						
Revenue	14_	6	20	5,147	3,827	2,791
Operating expenses						
Cost of materials	0	-1	-1	-2,780	-3,404	-2,228
Other operating expenses	-723	-583	-214	-3,196	-2,795	-2,056
	-723	-584	-215	-5,976	-6,199	-4,284
Amorization and Depreciation						
Depreciation right-of-use assets	0	0	0	-766	-704	-408
Financial result						
Interest income	9	3	12	57	64	46
Interest expense	-1,093	-982	-714	-838	-770	-663
	-1,084	-979	-702	-782	-706	-618

#### Revenue

Revenues realized with remaining Allgeier Group predominantly relate to software development, consulting and managed services.

## Operating expense

Cost of materials result predominantly from the purchase of services from remaining Allgeier Group with respect to delivering projects and managed services.

For staff costs see sections B.III. Carve-out specific accounting principles, F.30. Other transactions with shareholders..

Other operating expenses relate to rental costs for buildings and vehicles not accounted for under IFRS 16 and other services rendered by the Allgeier Group, including e.g., legal and consulting fees. Expenses for such services include the allocation of corporate costs discussed in section B.III. *Carve-out specific accounting principles*.

## Financial result

Interest income and expense mainly relate to the loans to and from remaining Allgeier Group presented above as well as from the lease agreements between Nagarro and the other Allgeier Group companies.

## **Depreciation**

Depreciation of right-of-use assets result from the lease agreements.

## **Remuneration of key management personnel**

The Nagarro organization is developing many verticals and horizontals in its quest to be a full service company. These are typically in the form of business units, each of which is led by a senior person who makes or reviews decisions on strategy, pricing, staffing, etc. Similarly, Nagarro operates in 25 countries, and has many priority sales and marketing regions defined, which are each led by a senior person who represents Nagarro in that market and plans the outreach in the market and the investments there. Then Nagarro has service region custodians and some HR people in the largest regions in senior management who oversee payroll of many employees as well as hiring, salary planning, decisions, etc. There is central planning and directing efforts. It is a very complex enterprise for just 400 million Euro - with clients in over 40 countries across all types of industries and technologies. Last but not the least, many of these colleagues are founders or early employees of companies that have merged with Nagarro.

Cost incurred for the above described key management personnel, excluding Nagarro SE's oversight board, historically have been already fully charged within the entities in scope of the Combined Financial Statements. Key management personnel for the period 2017-19 include two out of three dedicated members of the board of directors of Nagarro SE as the third member joining Nagarro in 2020. No additional allocations of personnel expenses, e.g., with respect to the Group's management board, the third dedicated member of the board of directors of Nagarro SE, or the oversight boards have been made.

	2019	2018	2017
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits	8,193	7,367	5,788
Termination benefits	-	-	-
Post-employment benefits	90	96	61
Other long-term benefits	-	-	-
Total	8,283	7,463	5,849

The total number of colleagues who were a part of key management during the year 2019 were 54.

Loans have been granted by Nagarro companies to certain members of the key management personnel in the total amount of kEUR 5 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 18; December 31, 2017: kEUR 35).

Of the provisions for post-employment benefits kEUR 175 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 147; December 31, 2017: kEUR 129) relate to the members of the key management personnel.

## III. Segment information

Segment reporting for the periods under consideration of the Combined Financial Statements is based on the management reporting established in August 2020 (refer to section B.III. *Carve-out specific accounting principles*).

The segment report for Nagarro has been prepared using the guiding principle of IFRS 8 and the Custodian of Entrepreneurship in the Organization of the company has been identified as the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM).

The company has chosen Client Region for its segments to reflect the primary approach by which Nagarro allocates its resources, especially the significant investments in M&A, and how it assesses the financial performance of the investments. Nagarro has acquired/merged with many companies over the years, including those domiciled in and mainly serving clients in Germany, Austria, USA, Norway, and the UAE. A major motivation for, and natural outcome of, this M&A activity has been the increased access to clients in the geographical area of the target company's domicile. Assessing the performance of such investments is also therefore tied to Nagarro's performance in relation to clients in that region, including in some cases for the purpose of "earn out" calculations for the final acquisition price. In addition, even besides the M&A, the chain of responsibility for a Client Region is established with the Sales & Marketing Unit leaders corresponding to the region tasked with driving the company's success with clients in that region. Finally, the Client Regions are, given the nature of geography, rather stable in their definitions, whereas Nagarro is constantly re-organizing its global delivery units, both for internal reasons and for external reasons such as industry trends and technology changes.

There are four reportable operating Client Region segments: North America, Central Europe, Rest of Europe, and Rest of World. The definition of Central Europe used is Austria, Croatia, Czech Republic, Germany, Hungary, Poland, Romania, Serbia, Slovakia, Slovenia, and Switzerland. The other segments are rather self-explanatory.

The measures used to report to the CODM for assessing the segments' performance are third-party (non-intersegment) revenues and gross margin. Third-party revenues are categorized on the basis of the country of a customer's domicile and are then attributed to the appropriate segment. Cost of revenues is the total direct costs needed to service the revenue. It includes direct costs related to colleagues (employees and freelancers) allocated to engineering topics, costs related to travel of these colleagues, and other, smaller, reimbursable, and non-reimbursable cost components. The direct costs incurred by each legal entity are spread across the Client Regions it services proportionately to the volume of business it is supporting for each Client Region. The segment's gross margin is calculated as the difference between the total performance of the segment and the cost of revenues, expressed as a percentage of the Revenue of the segment. Given the definition of Client Regions and how revenues and costs are apportioned, the question of intersegment transactions does not arise.

Certain items like sales expense, general and administrative expense, depreciation, results related to currency fluctuations, results unrelated to the accounting period, interest income and expense, goodwill, tax depreciation of intangible assets, income taxes, etc. are not allocated to any segment but are used to reconcile the net income for the segments to the net income of the company. The CODM does not review assets and liabilities at the reportable segment level, thus segment disclosure relating to total assets and liabilities is not included in the report.

	North America 2019 kEUR	Central Europe 2019 kEUR	Rest of Europe 2019 kEUR	Rest of World 2019 kEUR	Total 2019 kEUR
Revenue	135,998	164,923	60,918	40,592	402,430
Own work capitalized	0	647	259	0	906
Total performance	135,998	165,570	61,177	40,592	403,336
Costs of revenues	-89,857	-112,829	<del>-44</del> ,581	-26,973	-274,240
Segment gross profit	46,141	52,741	16,596	13,618	129,096
as % of revenue	34%	32%	27%	34%	32%
Selling, General and Administrative expenses as % of revenue Adjusted EBITDA				-	-71,399 -18% 57,697
as % of revenue				<del>-</del>	14%
Special items					3,886
EBITDA				_	61,584
as % of revenue				-	15%
	North America 2018 kEUR	Central Europe 2018 kEUR	Rest of Europe 2018 kEUR	Rest of World 2018 kEUR	Total 2018 kEUR
Revenue	90,504	128,833	48,972	19,020	287,329
Own work capitalized	0	298	215	0	512
Total performance	90,504	129,130	49,187	19,020	287,841
Costs of revenues	-57,383	<del>-94,003</del>	-34,660	-11,896	-197,943
Segment gross profit	33,121	35,127	14,527	7,123	89,898
as % of revenue	37%	27%	30%	37%	31%
Selling, General and Administrative expenses as % of revenue Adjusted EBITDA as % of revenue				- -	-55,552 -19% 34,346 12%
Special items EBITDA as % of revenue				-	-2,063 32,283 11%

	North America	Central Europe	Rest of Europe	Rest of World	Total
	2017	2017	2017	2017	2017
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Revenue	69,088	94,675	37,700	9,088	210,551
	,	•	,		-
Changes in work in progress	-707	82	-149	-559	-1,333
Total performance	68,381	94,756	37,551	8,529	209,218
Costs of revenues	-46,622	-66,682	-25,791	-5,874	-144,970
Segment gross profit	21,759	28,074	11,761	2,655	64,248
as % of revenue	31%	30%	31%	29%	31%
Selling, General and Administrative expenses					-38,748
as % of revenue					-18%
Adjusted EBITDA					25,500
as % of revenue					12%
Special items					-4,144
EBITDA					21,357
as % of revenue					10%

Of the revenues kEUR 119,854 (2018: kEUR 94,744; 2017: kEUR 78,285) have been recognized from customers domiciled in Germany and kEUR 135,923 (2018: kEUR 90,143; 2017: kEUR 67,874) have been recognized from customers in the US.

Nagarro derives its revenue predominantly from the provision of software services to its clients. This type of work makes up for more than 90% of Nagarro's business. This is true for all the segments in which Nagarro operates. The services revenue growth is mainly driven by growth in existing accounts. In the 2017-2019 period, a large part of Nagarro's business was contracted on a time and expense basis. In 2019 time and expense based services accounted for about 79% of the total revenue, with almost all of the remaining being contracted on a fixed bid basis.

Nagarro is not dependent on single major customers contributing more than 10% to Nagarro's total revenues.

The items "Costs of revenues" and "Selling, General and Administrative expenses", both not including depreciation and amortization, reconcile to income and expense presented in Combined Statements of Comprehensive Income as follows:

	2019									
		thereof								
	Cost by nature	Costs of revenues	Selling, General and Administrative expenses	Special items	Total					
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	<u>k</u> EUR					
Cost of materials	49,072	49,072	0	0	49,072					
Staff costs	254,662	212,408	41,522	732	254,662					
Other operating expenses	49,762	12,761	34,594	2,407	49,762					
Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets	986	0	0	986	986					
Other operating income	-12,730	0	-4,718	-8,012	-12,730					
Total	341,752	274,240	71,399	-3,886	341,752					

			2018						
		thereof							
	Cost by	Costs of	Selling, General and Administrative	Special items	Total				
	nature kEUR	revenues kEUR	expenses kEUR	kEUR	kEUR				
Cost of materials	39,866	39,866			39,866				
Staff costs	179,768	149,407		771	179,768				
Other operating expenses	37,357	8,670	27,464	1,223	37,357				
Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets	1,011	0	0	1,011	1,011				
Other operating income	-2,443	0	-1,502	-941	-2,443				
Total	255,558	197,943	55,552	2,063	255,558				

		2017								
		thereof								
	Cost by nature	Costs of revenues	Selling, General and Administrative expenses	Special items	Total					
	<u>kEUR</u>	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	<u>keur</u>					
Cost of materials	31,588	31,588	0	0	31,588					
Staff costs	128,039	104,357	19,256	4,426	128,039					
Other operating expenses	34,564	9,024	23,259	2,281	34,564					
Other operating income	-6,330	0	-3,767	-2,563	-6,330					
Total	187,861	144,970	38,748	4,144	187,861					

The "Special items" relate to non-recurring items, purchase price adjustments and acquisition costs, and effects with respect to prior periods as discussed in the following.

Adjusted EBITDA is calculated according to economic criteria and is independent from IFRS rules. It provides information on the profitability of Nagarro and contain elements of the Combined Statement of Comprehensive Income relating to operating performance. It is adjusted for the "Special items". All items mentioned in the table below and qualifying as special items are generally eliminated irrespective of the amount. Therefore, Adjusted EBITDA is more suitable for comparing operating performance over several periods.

The reconciliation of EBITDA (as reported in the Combined Statements of Comprehensive Income) to Adjusted EBITDA is presented below:

2019	2018	2017
Total	Total	Total
kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
61,584	32,283	21,357
105	7	37
875	504	1,154
-	-	-1,129
-7,1 <del>44</del>	0	0
116	124	0
173	128	181
732	771	4,426
1,256	529	-524
57,697	34,346	25,500
	Total kEUR 61,584 105 8757,144 116 173 732 1,256	Total KEUR KEUR 61,584 32,283 105 7 875 504

Information about assets and liabilities and additions to non-current assets by segment are not regularly provided in the management reporting. Goodwill by segments, the level at which it is monitored, is disclosed in section D.2. *Impairment test for goodwill*.

Total non-current assets other than goodwill, financial instruments and deferred tax assets amount to kEUR 25,117 (December 31, 2018: 24,534; December 31, 2017: 12,371) located in Germany and kEUR 46,305 (December 31, 2018: 40,145; December 31, 2017: 27,134) located in foreign countries. Thereof there are no material assets in an individual foreign country, that needs to be disclosed separately. Of the goodwill kEUR 20,059 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 20,059; December 31, 2017: kEUR 2,457) is allocated to Germany.

# IV. Contingent liabilities and guarantees

No contingent liabilities and guarantees existed during the fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017.

# V. Capital Management

During the periods under consideration Nagarro companies have been integral part of the Group's capital management. The Group ensures that there is sufficient liquidity at all times and a balanced capital structure. These objectives are achieved by focusing on a strong business performance, a forward-looking dividend policy and equity measures to increase equity. Decisions regarding the acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries are made under consideration of the impact on the capital structure and the effects of the transactions on future years. The Group also utilizes opportunities to finance acquisitions with debt. In some cases the financing conditions are variable, also dependent on the equity structure and other key indicators. Another objective of the capital management is the reduction of existing debt.

The key figures used for capital management are as follows with respect to Nagarro at the respective balances sheet dates.

	Dec 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2		Dec 31, 2017
	Total	Total	Total
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Cash	43,758	27,947	16,576
Loans to Allgeier Group companies	3,215	1,533	1,994
Liabilities to banks	5, <del>4</del> 96	5,967	3,683
Loans from Allgeier Group companies	119,829	60,090	53,356
Lease liabilities	59,365	50,688	30,436
Net debt	137,718	87,264	68,906
Adjusted EBITDA	57,697	34,346	25,500
Debt ratio (Net debt to adjusted EBITDA)	2.4	2.5	2.7
Total assets	342,011	297,112	166,136
Equity	59,942	88,910	33,450
Equity ratio (% of total assets)	17.5%	29.9%	20.1%

# VI. Financial risk management

The financial instruments of Nagarro are subject to various risks, such as liquidity risks, credit risks and market risks from changes in market prices and exchange rates. For the identification, evaluation and limitation of these risks, tiered risk management and

control systems are used. Nagarro also implements safeguards and concludes hedges for the avoidance, early identification and mitigation of risks arising from financial instruments.

## **Liquidity risks**

Liquidity risk is the risk that Nagarro may not be able to meet obligations associated with its financial liabilities. To ensure that adequate liquidity is available at all times, Nagarro uses instruments to control the cash flows and uses debt and equity instruments to finance its operations and its investment activities. On December 31, 2019, the financial liabilities of Nagarro amounted to kEUR 244,945 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 178,318; December 31, 2017: kEUR 117,406), of which kEUR 184,711 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 110,390; December 31, 2017: kEUR 91,039) are due within one year.

As of December 31, 2019, 100% of the current financial liabilities excluding Loans from Allgeier Group (December 31, 2018: 100%; December 31, 2017: 100%) were covered by current financial assets in the amount of kEUR 130,125 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 108,114; December 31, 2017: kEUR 71,950). The value of Loans from Allgeier Group included in the current financial liabilities is kEUR 119,829 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 60,090; December 31, 2017: kEUR 53,356).

To meet out the current financial liabilities for Loans from Allgeier Group see Financing section VIII. *Events after the balance sheet date* 

Future undiscounted cash flows associated with financial liabilities were as follows based on contractually agreed terms and conditions at the respective balance sheet dates:

	Dec 31, 2019	' Cash Outtlow 2020		Cash outl	Cash outlow 2021		Cash outflow 2022		ow >2022
	amount	Repay- ment	Interest	Repay- ment	Interest	Repay- ment	Interest	Repay- ment	Interest
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Overdraft facility of Nagarro Software Pvt. Ltd.	2,760	2,760	13	-	-	-	-	-	-
Liabilities from factoring	1,663	1,663	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Overdraft facility of Nagarro Enterprise Services Pvt. Ltd.	550	550	1	-	-	-	-	-	-
Bank loan Nagarro Software srl	245	52	8	52	6	52	4	90	3
Bank loans iQuest Technlogies srl	232	232	2	-	-	-	-	-	-
Trade payables	16,055	16,055	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Loans from Allgeier Group	119,829	119,829	359	-	-	-	-	-	-
Derivative financial instruments	404	404	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Contingent purchase price liabilities	21,397	10,988	-	6,590	-	3,564	-	479	-
Other financial liabilities	22,445	20,274	-	425	-	425	-	1,321	-
	185,579	172,806	383	7,067	6	4,041	4	1,890	3

	Dec 31, 2018	Cash outfl	ow 2019	Cash outle	ow 2020	Cash outf	low 2021	Cash outfle	ow >2021
	Carrying amount	Repay- ment	Interest	Repay- ment	Interest	Repay- ment	Interest	Repay- ment	Interest
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Overdraft facility of									
Nagarro Software Pvt. Ltd.	2,900	2,900	20	-	-	-	-	-	-
Liabilities from factoring	1,779	1,779	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Overdraft facility of Nagarro Enterprise									
Services Pvt. Ltd.	549	549	4	-	-	-	-	-	-
Bank loan Nagarro Software srl	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Bank loans iQuest Technlogies srl Mortgage of Nagarro Enterprise Services	582	349	11	233	2	-	-	-	-
Pvt. Ltd.	156	156	8	-	-	-	-	-	-
Bank loan Nagarro Inc.	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Trade payables	17,358	17,358	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Loans from Allgeier Group	60,090	60,090	207	-	-	-	-	-	-
Derivative financial instruments	314	314	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Contingent purchase price liabilities	25,203	3,582	-	10,988	-	6,590	-	4,043	-
Other	18,700	17,230	-	294	<u>-</u>	294		882	-
Financial liabilities	127,632	104,308	250	11,515	2	6,884	-	4,925	

	Dec 31, 2017	Cash outflow 2018		Cash outlow 2019		Cash outflow 2020		Cash outflow >2020	
	Carrying amount	Repay- ment	Interest	Repay- ment	Interest	Repay- ment	Interest	Repay- ment	Interest
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Overdraft facility of Nagarro Enterprise									
Services Pvt. Ltd.	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Liabilities from factoring Overdraft facility of	1,680	1,680	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Nagarro Software Pvt. Ltd.	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Bank loan Nagarro Software srl	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Bank loans iQuest Technlogies srl Mortgage of Nagarro Enterprise Services	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Pvt. Ltd.	321	171	18	149	5	-	-	-	-
Bank loan Nagarro Inc.	1,670	1,670	43	-	-	-	-	-	-
Trade payables	14,670	14,670	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Loans from Allgeier Group	53,356	53,356	190	-	-	-	-	-	-
Derivative financial instruments	254	254	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Contingent purchase price liabilities	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Other	15,020	13,108	-	986	-	231	-	694	-
Financial liabilities	86,971	84,910	251	1,136	5	231	_	694	-

In addition to the tables above, financial liabilities include lease liabilities in the amount of kEUR 59,365 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 50,688; December 31, 2017: kEUR 30,436). Information on future cash outflows related to leases are shown in section D.4. *Leases*.

## **Credit risks**

For financial assets a general risk exists that customers or contracting parties will not meet their obligations and that contract assets, receivables and other financial assets, including loans granted and cash, default. Credit risks arise from operations and from certain financing activities. Receivables are managed, and incoming payments tracked on a decentralized basis in the Nagarro companies. The theoretical maximum credit risk corresponds to the carrying amount totaling kEUR 145,390 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 117,046; December 31, 2017: kEUR 75,529). Impairments of kEUR 2,202 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 1,789; December 31, 2017: kEUR 1,109) were recognized on the gross amount of total customer receivables and other financial assets as of December 31, 2019. The impairment ratio on the gross amount was 1.7% (December 31, 2018: 1.6%; December 31, 2017: 1.5%).

The specific credit risks are as follows:

### Contract assets and trade receivables

Nagarro has a broad-based customer structure which minimizes larger individual risks. The largest individual customer accounted for less than 7% of revenue of Nagarro in the 2019, 2018 and 2017 fiscal year. Trade receivables are generally due within 30 to 90 days. Credit checks occur on a regular basis for customers with whom Nagarro has an ongoing business relationship. The creditworthiness of new customers is checked before order commitments are made, and information is obtained in specific cases. If customers default on payments, the steps required to collect the receivables are taken in a timely manner. Certain companies have granted credit insurance in the event of unexpected defaults. Wherever possible, trade receivables are subject to retention of title which expires only when the respective receivable is paid. Currently Nagarro has no indications that the credit risk for financial assets exceeds the carrying amount.

#### <u>Impairments until December 31, 2017:</u>

Allowances for doubtful accounts are recognized at 50% for receivables past due more than 180 days and 100% for receivables past due more than one year. As a rule, impairments are made to the amounts reduced by value added tax if the tax laws of that country allow. More recent customer receivables are also impaired in whole or in part as soon as indications of default are identified.

#### Impairments after December 31, 2017:

Under the simplified approach in accordance with IFRS 9 expected credit losses on trade receivables are calculated on the basis of calculated loss rates derived from historical and forecast data and taking into account the respective customer and the economic environment of the region.

Impaired receivables and the respective accumulated impairments are derecognized if there is no probability of payment. Trade receivables do not bear interest.

The past due structure of contract assets and trade receivables is as follows:

	As of	not	days past due						
	Dec 31, 2019	past due	<30	30-60	61-90	91-180	181-360	>360	
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	
Expected loss rate		0%	0%	0%	0%	13%	15%	66%	
Gross carrying amount									
Contract assets	12,562	12,562	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Customer receivables	82,502	51,611	15, <del>4</del> 05	4,068	4,685	3,278	1,420	2,036	
Impairment	-2,182	-193	-	-	-11	-419	-216	-1,342	
Carrying amount	92,882	63,979	15,405	4,068	4,674	2,859	1,204	693	

	As of Dec 31,	not past due			days pa	st due		
	2018		<30	30-60	61-90	91-180	181-360	>360
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Expected loss rate		0%	0%	0%	0%	9%	43%	74%
Gross carrying amount								
Contract assets	5,528	5,528	-	-	-	-	-	-
Customer receivables	76,707	50,010	14,237	3,558	2,792	3,701	1,392	1,017
Impairment	-1,730	-16	-41	-	0	-320	-597	-756
Carrying amount	80,505	55,521	14,196	3,558	2,792	3,381	795	261
	As of	not past due			days pa	st due		
	Dec 31, 2017	past due	<30	30-60	61-90	91-180	181-360	>360
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Customer receivables not impaired	50,144	35,462	7,409	2,561	1,673	2,645	346	47
Gross amount of impaired	,	•	,	,	,	,		
customer receivables	1,233	-	-	_	152	323	620	137
Impairment	-1,109	-	-	_	-152	-310	-528	-120
Carrying amount	50,268	35,462	7,409	2,561	1,673	2,659	438	65

Impairment losses on trade receivables have developed as follows:

	2019	2018	2017
	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Balance as of January 1	-1,730	-1,109	-109
Additions to the scope of combination	-	-254	-
Allocation to expenses	-984	-923	-1,062
Disposal value from internal transaction	84	-	-
Consumption and reversal	441	572	35
Currency differences	-	2	-
Other	7	-18	27
Balance on December 31	-2,182	-1,730	-1,109

The theoretical maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of customer receivables of kEUR 80,320 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 74,977; December 31, 2017: kEUR 50,268). This risk is reduced by collateral and other credit rating improvements. Additionally, as of December 31, 2017 credit insurance covers 9% of contractual customer receivables.

## Other financial assets

The gross carrying amounts before impairment losses and net carrying amounts of other financial assets are shown in the following tables:

	FVTPL	At armotized cost			
		Expected credit loss			
			over the	term	
		Expected	No impaired	Impaired	
		12-month	credit	credit	
		credit loss	quality	quality	Total
Dec 31, 2019	keur	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Gross value before value adjustment		8,255	60	-	8,315
Value adjustments		_	-20	-	-20
Residual carrying amount	455	8,255	40	-	8,295
	FVTPL		At armotiz	ed cost	
			Expected cr	edit loss	
			over the	term	
		Expected	No impaired	Impaired	
		12-month	credit	credit	
		credit loss	quality	quality	Total
Dec 31, 2018	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR	kEUR
Gross value before value adjustment		7,555		59	7,614
Value adjustments		-	-	-59	-59
Residual carrying amount	1,040	7,555	-	0	7,555

The impairment of other financial assets at amortized cost can be reconciled as follows:

	At armotized cost					
	Expected credit loss over the term					
2019	Expected 12-month credit loss kEUR	No impaired credit quality kEUR	Impaired credit quality kEUR	Total kEUR		
Balance as at January 1	- KEOK	- REOR	-59	-59		
Net revaluation of value adjustments	-	-20	59	39		
Reclassification to lifetime expected credit loss - no credit-impaired Reclassification to lifetime expected credit loss	-	-	-	-		
- credit-impaired	-	-	-	-		
Additions from business combinations	_		<u> </u>	<u>-</u>		
Balance on December 31	-	-20		-20		

	At armotized cost			
	Expected credit loss over the term			
2018	Expected 12-month credit loss kEUR	no impaired credit quality kEUR	Impaired credit quality kEUR	Total kEUR
Balance as at January 1	-	-		
Net revaluation of value adjustments	-	-	-	-
Reclassification to lifetime expected credit loss - no credit-impaired Reclassification to lifetime expected credit loss	-	-	-	-
- credit-impaired	-	-	-	-
Additions from business combinations			-59	-59
Balance on December 31	-	-	-59	-59

#### Derivative assets

Derivatives are entered into with banks where investments are considered financially sound. To diversify the risk business relationships are maintained with various banks. As of December 31, 2019, there were assets resulting from foreign exchange forward transactions of kEUR 455 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 1,040; December 31, 2017: kEUR 458).

#### Cash

As of December 31, 2019, Nagarro had cash of kEUR 43,758 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 27,947; December 31, 2017: kEUR 16,576). Cash is deposited with banks that have a first-class rating. To diversify the risk business relationships are maintained with various banks. Nagarro assumes that its cash has a very low credit risk based on expected losses within twelve months.

#### **Interest rate risks**

Some of the financial liabilities have floating interest rates and are subject to the risk that interest rates can change and thereby impact the results of Nagarro.

The floating-rate financial liabilities totaled kEUR 8,858 on December 31, 2019 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 9,041; December 31, 2017: kEUR 10,003). A change in interest rates of 100 basis points p.a. would result in an increase or decrease in the financial result of kEUR 80 in 2019 (2018: kEUR 78; 2017: kEUR 160). In this case and applying a tax rate of 30%, equity would increase or decrease by kEUR 56 (December 31, 2018: kEUR 55; December 31, 2017: kEUR 112).

Due to the European Central Bank's continuing low-interest policy and the weakening economy, as well as the still very moderate inflation rates, management does not expect any significant interest rate increases for the rest of 2020 and in 2021. Nagarro closely monitors the developments on the interest and capital markets and, if necessary, interest rate hedging might be contemplated.

## **Currency risks**

The following sensitivity analysis shows the impact of currency risks in accordance with IFRS 7 for the most important foreign currencies in the event of a strengthening or weakening of the foreign currency of 5 percent against the EUR. All monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated in a foreign currency different from the functional currency of the respective Nagarro company were analyzed at the respective balance sheet date and sensitivity analyzes were carried out for the respective currency pairs, in terms of the net risk to show the implications on profit for the period and equity. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

2019	Profit for t	the period	Equity	
Effect in kEUR	5% increase	5% decrease	5% increase	5% decrease
CHF	-77	77	-77	77
SEK	-63	63	-63	63
INR	-506	506	-506	506
USD	-1,892	1,892	-1,892	1,892
CNY	-102	102	-102	102
ZAR	-55	55	-55	55
DKK	-155	155	-155	155
JPY		40		40
	-2,890	2,890	-2,890	2,890

2018	Profit for t	he period	Equity	
Effect in kEUR	5% increase	5% decrease	5% increase	5% decrease
CHF	-89	89	-89	89
SEK	-71	71	-71	71
INR	-120	120	-120	120
USD	-1,607	1,607	-1,607	1,607
CNY	-88	88	-88	88
ZAR	-43	43	-43	43
DKK	-58	58	-58	58
JPY	-54	54	-54	54
	-2,130	2,130	-2,130	2,130

2017	Profit for t	he period	Equ	uity
Effect in kEUR	5% increase	5% decrease	5% increase	5% decrease
CHF	-4	4	-4	4
SEK	-80	80	-80	80
INR	-129	129	-129	129
USD	-636	636	-636	636
CNY	0	0	0	0
ZAR	0	0	0	0
DKK	-45	45	-45	45
JPY	-1	1	-1	1
	-895	895	-895	895

Nagarro hedges some of the cash flows to reduce its currency risks. Details are provided in section D.19. Financial instruments.

# VII. Tax risks

Income tax items are regularly assessed particularly considering the numerous changes in tax laws, tax regulations, legal decisions and ongoing tax audits. Nagarro is responding to this circumstance, applying IFRIC 23, by continuously identifying and assessing the tax environment and the resulting effects. The most current information is then incorporated into the estimate parameters necessary for recognizing and measuring the tax provisions.

## VIII. Events after the balance sheet date

In the period between December 31, 2019 and the date when the Combined Financial Statements were authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors of Nagarro SE, the following events of particular importance exist:

### **Legal reorganization**

In fiscal year 2020 the legal reorganization to establish Nagarro as a group of entities under the control of a parent company as defined by IFRS 10 "Consolidated Financial Statements" has been completed. That is, all businesses that are to be part of the new Nagarro have been transferred to Nagarro SE prior to the demerger (Abspaltung) and the listing of Nagarro SE shares on the stock exchange, whereas the transfer has been executed in several stages.

In the second quarter Allgeier Consulting Services GmbH has been merged into Nagarro Allgeier ES GmbH. In the third quarter Nagarro Holding GmbH acquired the remaining 10.00% of shares in Nagarro Allgeier ES GmbH from Allgeier Enterprise Services AG. Prior to this, the shares in AES SPP GmbH held by Non-Controlling Interests have been purchased by Allgeier Enterprise Services AG and AES SPP has been merged into Allgeier Enterprise Services AG. For the previous acquisition of 90.00% of the shares in Nagarro Allgeier ES GmbH and Allgeier Consulting Services GmbH by Nagarro Holding GmbH in fiscal year 2019 refer to section B.II. *Scope of combination*.

In the third quarter all shares in Nagarro iQuest Holding GmbH have been sold and transferred by Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH to Nagarro Holding GmbH and all shares in Objectiva Software Solutions Inc. have been sold and transferred by Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH to Nagarro Inc., a subsidiary of Nagarro Holding GmbH. Prior to the sale of 100% of the shares in Nagarro iQuest Holding GmbH the remaining shares of 26.40% in Nagarro iQuest Holding GmbH and 32.44% in iQuest SPP GmbH, held by the management of the company and former owners, have been repurchased by Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH and iQuest SPP GmbH has been merged into Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH in the first half of fiscal year 2020.

Subsequent to the above transfers all shares directly or indirectly held by Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH in SPP Co-Investor Verwaltungs GmbH, SPP Co-Investor GmbH & Co. KG, Nagarro SPP GmbH, Nagarro Beteiligungs GmbH and Nagarro Holding GmbH (see section B.II *Scope of combination*) have been sold and transferred to Nagarro SE, including the related SPP.

Accordingly, as of September 30, 2020 Nagarro constitute a group in accordance with IFRS 10, for which interim consolidated financial statement for the nine months period then ending will be prepared for the purpose of the security prospectus. Allgeier Connect AG, as such not being a business in accordance with IFRS 3 and therefore not included in the Combined Financial Statements, will also not be included in the scope of consolidation in the interim consolidated financial statement. Allgeier Connect AG will become part of the Nagarro when the demerger of its shares currently held by Allgeier SE becomes effective and Allgeier SE loses control over Nagarro. Contemplating the demerger to take place in December 2020 there will be a statutory requirement to prepare IFRS consolidated financial statements for the Nagarro as of and for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020, then including Allgeier Connect AG (the "stand-alone consolidated financial statements").

For Nagarro the legal reorganization results in purchase price liabilities in the total amount of kEUR 277,832, for which deferred payment with a fixed interest rate of 3.0% is agreed.

As in the interim consolidated financial statements Allgeier Connect AG is not being included in the scope of consolidation, the equity contribution may not yet be considered in the consolidation. Hence, due to the structure and timing of the legal reorganization equity will temporarily decrease by kEUR 277,832 in the interim consolidated financial statements for Nagarro for the nine months period ending September 30, 2020.

For the purpose of the contemplated spin-off Allgeier Group simultaneously contributed its purchase price receivables from the sale and transfer of shares to Nagarro into equity of Allgeier Connect AG with a total amount of kEUR 243,608 as an increase of

capital. In the stand-alone consolidated financial statements purchase price liabilities and receivables would be offset in the course of the intercompany elimination. The remaining liability of kEUR 34,224 would result in a respective decrease in equity.

In April and August 2020 kUSD 11,000 (kEUR 10,246) have been paid by Allgeier Project Solutions GmbH for the contingent purchase price liabilities related to the historic acquisitions of Nagarro Objectiva (see sections B.III. *Carve-out specific accounting principles*, D.19. *Financial Instruments* and H.I. *Business Combinations*). Along with the transfer of the shares in Objectiva Software Solutions Inc. the outstanding liability has been partially legally assigned to Nagarro Inc. with an amount of kUSD 6,500 (kEUR 5,513).

## **Financing**

A syndicated loan agreement for the financing of Nagarro is to be concluded before the demerger of Allgeier Connect AG becomes effective. A consortium consisting of several banks has committed to this in a Commitment Letter to Nagarro SE in August 2020. The credit agreement will include a redeemable credit line in the amount of EUR 100 million and a revolving credit line in the amount of EUR 100 million. The credit lines will have a minimum term of three years. The credit lines will initially serve to refinance existing loans to the remaining Allgeier Group. The revolving credit line is also available to finance general working capital requirements. Standard market conditions have been agreed. Amount and term of the credit lines were determined to ensure that Nagarro has sufficient liquidity and flexibility in the medium term in line with its business planning.

The existing syndicated loan facility of the Allgeier Group shall be adjusted accordingly. Among others, the volume will be reduced and the group of companies included will be amended.

Further, in September 2020, Nagarro has entered into a new factoring facility with a limit of kEUR 20,000.

#### COVID-19

COVID-19 and the actions taken globally since the beginning of fiscal year 2020 to limit the spread of the SARS-CoV-2 virus led to a global economic depression and affected almost all markets relevant for Nagarro. The so-called corona crisis is a major challenge for our customers, but also for our employees. Our business model, which allows most of our project work to be carried out without a personal presence in the office or at the customer's premises, has proven to be largely stable so far in fiscal year 2020 in the light of COVID-19. The general need of customers for services to digitize their business models and to operate and improve their IT systems has not declined fundamentally up to now. Our employees are generally able to work remotely from their home office for longer periods of time. In some cases, productivity is even higher due to the absence of commuting and business trips. Therefore, there have been no major temporary declines in our business so far.

However, due to the current crisis caused by the global spread of the SARS-CoV-2 virus, there is still considerable uncertainty about the extent of the impact on the global economy and a sustained stabilization of the international capital and financial markets. Despite the expected significant reduction in growth in the German market as well as in some other markets due to the medium- and long-term effects of COVID-19, which cannot yet be fully assessed, as well as uncertainties due to international crisis such as trade conflicts, an unregulated Brexit or social disruption, we consider ourselves to be very well prepared for a continued organic growth.

In the recent months of fiscal year 2020, despite COVID-19, we achieved nearly a growth in revenue at the level originally planned before COVID-19 occurred. Due to lower costs, we achieved an EBITDA that was even significantly higher than originally budgeted for the first half of the year. There are no relevant concentration risks on the side of our customers, that is due to the high diversification of our customer portfolio in terms of size, region, industries and business models. However, should entire economies be affected by a prolonged economic depression in the course of or as a result of the pandemic, and should demand in certain

Nagarro Combined Financial Statements

markets or sectors of the economy decline massively, this will most likely also have an impact on the short- and medium-term development and further growth of Nagarro for the remaining fiscal year. As a result, the potential impact on Nagarro's revenue and financial performance cannot be accurately estimated at this point in time. Although we do not expect a significant decrease in corporate and public spending on digitization and IT, the negative impact on individual customers or industries may also have a selective negative impact on our business. Therefore, management continues to monitor those risks whose probability of occurrence has increased due to COVID-19 and those risks that affect the business, assets, liabilities, financial position and results of operations of Nagarro.

Munich, October 05, 2020

Nagarro SE, Munich

Annette Mainka Director

# **General Engagement Terms**

for

Wirtschaftsprüfer and Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaften [German Public Auditors and Public Audit Firms] as of January 1, 2017

#### 1. Scope of application

- (1) These engagement terms apply to contracts between German Public Auditors (Wirtschaftsprüfer) or German Public Audit Firms (Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaften) hereinafter collectively referred to as "German Public Auditors" and their engaging parties for assurance services, tax advisory services, advice on business matters and other engagements except as otherwise agreed in writing or prescribed by a mandatory rule.
- (2) Third parties may derive claims from contracts between German Public Auditors and engaging parties only when this is expressly agreed or results from mandatory rules prescribed by law. In relation to such claims, these engagement terms also apply to these third parties.

#### 2. Scope and execution of the engagement

- (1) Object of the engagement is the agreed service not a particular economic result. The engagement will be performed in accordance with the German Principles of Proper Professional Conduct (*Grundsätze ordnungsmäßiger Berufsausübung*). The German Public Auditor does not assume any management functions in connection with his services. The German Public Auditor is not responsible for the use or implementation of the results of his services. The German Public Auditor is entitled to make use of competent persons to conduct the engagement.
- (2) Except for assurance engagements (betriebswirtschaftliche Prüfungen), the consideration of foreign law requires an express written agreement.
- (3) If circumstances or the legal situation change subsequent to the release of the final professional statement, the German Public Auditor is not obligated to refer the engaging party to changes or any consequences resulting therefrom.

## 3. The obligations of the engaging party to cooperate

- (1) The engaging party shall ensure that all documents and further information necessary for the performance of the engagement are provided to the German Public Auditor on a timely basis, and that he is informed of all events and circumstances that may be of significance to the performance of the engagement. This also applies to those documents and further information, events and circumstances that first become known during the German Public Auditor's work. The engaging party will also designate suitable persons to provide information.
- (2) Upon the request of the German Public Auditor, the engaging party shall confirm the completeness of the documents and further information provided as well as the explanations and statements, in a written statement drafted by the German Public Auditor.

### 4. Ensuring independence

- (1) The engaging party shall refrain from anything that endangers the independence of the German Public Auditor's staff. This applies throughout the term of the engagement, and in particular to offers of employment or to assume an executive or non-executive role, and to offers to accept engagements on their own behalf.
- (2) Were the performance of the engagement to impair the independence of the German Public Auditor, of related firms, firms within his network, or such firms associated with him, to which the independence requirements apply in the same way as to the German Public Auditor in other engagement relationships, the German Public Auditor is entitled to terminate the engagement for good cause.

#### 5. Reporting and oral information

To the extent that the German Public Auditor is required to present results in writing as part of the work in executing the engagement, only that written work is authoritative. Drafts are non-binding. Except as otherwise agreed, oral statements and explanations by the German Public Auditor are binding only when they are confirmed in writing. Statements and information of the German Public Auditor outside of the engagement are always non-binding.

#### 6. Distribution of a German Public Auditor's professional statement

- (1) The distribution to a third party of professional statements of the German Public Auditor (results of work or extracts of the results of work whether in draft or in a final version) or information about the German Public Auditor acting for the engaging party requires the German Public Auditor's written consent, unless the engaging party is obligated to distribute or inform due to law or a regulatory requirement.
- (2) The use by the engaging party for promotional purposes of the German Public Auditor's professional statements and of information about the German Public Auditor acting for the engaging party is prohibited.

#### 7. Deficiency rectification

- (1) In case there are any deficiencies, the engaging party is entitled to specific subsequent performance by the German Public Auditor. The engaging party may reduce the fees or cancel the contract for failure of such subsequent performance, for subsequent non-performance or unjustified refusal to perform subsequently, or for unconscionability or impossibility of subsequent performance. If the engagement was not commissioned by a consumer, the engaging party may only cancel the contract due to a deficiency if the service rendered is not relevant to him due to failure of subsequent performance, to subsequent non-performance, to unconscionability or impossibility of subsequent performance. No. 9 applies to the extent that further claims for damages exist.
- (2) The engaging party must assert a claim for the rectification of deficiencies in writing (Textform) [Translators Note: The German term "Textform" means in written form, but without requiring a signature] without delay. Claims pursuant to paragraph 1 not arising from an intentional act expire after one year subsequent to the commencement of the time limit under the statute of limitations.
- (3) Apparent deficiencies, such as clerical errors, arithmetical errors and deficiencies associated with technicalities contained in a German Public Auditor's professional statement (long-form reports, expert opinions etc.) may be corrected also versus third parties by the German Public Auditor at any time. Misstatements which may call into question the results contained in a German Public Auditor's professional statement entitle the German Public Auditor to withdraw such statement also versus third parties. In such cases the German Public Auditor should first hear the engaging party, if practicable.

#### 8. Confidentiality towards third parties, and data protection

- (1) Pursuant to the law (§ [Article] 323 Abs 1 [paragraph 1] HGB [German Commercial Code: *Handelsgesetzbuch*], § 43 WPO [German Law regulating the Profession of Wirtschaftsprüfer: *Wirtschaftsprüferordnung*], § 203 StGB [German Criminal Code: *Strafgesetzbuch*]) the German Public Auditor is obligated to maintain confidentiality regarding facts and circumstances confided to him or of which he becomes aware in the course of his professional work, unless the engaging party releases him from this confidentiality obligation.
- (2) When processing personal data, the German Public Auditor will observe national and European legal provisions on data protection.

#### 9. Liability

- (1) For legally required services by German Public Auditors, in particular audits, the respective legal limitations of liability, in particular the limitation of liability pursuant to § 323 Abs. 2 HGB, apply.
- (2) Insofar neither a statutory limitation of liability is applicable, nor an individual contractual limitation of liability exists, the liability of the German Public Auditor for claims for damages of any other kind, except for damages resulting from injury to life, body or health as well as for damages that constitute a duty of replacement by a producer pursuant to § 1 ProdHaftG [German Product Liability Act: *Produkthaftungsgesetz*], for an individual case of damages caused by negligence is limited to € 4 million pursuant to § 54 a Abs. 1 Nr. 2 WPO.
- (3) The German Public Auditor is entitled to invoke demurs and defenses based on the contractual relationship with the engaging party also towards third parties.

- (4) When multiple claimants assert a claim for damages arising from an existing contractual relationship with the German Public Auditor due to the German Public Auditor's negligent breach of duty, the maximum amount stipulated in paragraph 2 applies to the respective claims of all claimants collectively.
- (5) An individual case of damages within the meaning of paragraph 2 also exists in relation to a uniform damage arising from a number of breaches of duty. The individual case of damages encompasses all consequences from a breach of duty regardless of whether the damages occurred in one year or in a number of successive years. In this case, multiple acts or omissions based on the same source of error or on a source of error of an equivalent nature are deemed to be a single breach of duty if the matters in question are legally or economically connected to one another. In this event the claim against the German Public Auditor is limited to  $\in$  5 million. The limitation to the fivefold of the minimum amount insured does not apply to compulsory audits required by law.
- (6) A claim for damages expires if a suit is not filed within six months subsequent to the written refusal of acceptance of the indemnity and the engaging party has been informed of this consequence. This does not apply to claims for damages resulting from scienter, a culpable injury to life, body or health as well as for damages that constitute a liability for replacement by a producer pursuant to § 1 ProdHaftG. The right to invoke a plea of the statute of limitations remains unaffected.

#### 10. Supplementary provisions for audit engagements

(1) If the engaging party subsequently amends the financial statements or management report audited by a German Public Auditor and accompanied by an auditor's report, he may no longer use this auditor's report.

If the German Public Auditor has not issued an auditor's report, a reference to the audit conducted by the German Public Auditor in the management report or any other public reference is permitted only with the German Public Auditor's written consent and with a wording authorized by him.

- (2) If the German Public Auditor revokes the auditor's report, it may no longer be used. If the engaging party has already made use of the auditor's report, then upon the request of the German Public Auditor he must give notification of the revocation.
- (3) The engaging party has a right to five official copies of the report. Additional official copies will be charged separately.

## 11. Supplementary provisions for assistance in tax matters

- (1) When advising on an individual tax issue as well as when providing ongoing tax advice, the German Public Auditor is entitled to use as a correct and complete basis the facts provided by the engaging party especially numerical disclosures; this also applies to bookkeeping engagements. Nevertheless, he is obligated to indicate to the engaging party any errors he has identified.
- (2) The tax advisory engagement does not encompass procedures required to observe deadlines, unless the German Public Auditor has explicitly accepted a corresponding engagement. In this case the engaging party must provide the German Public Auditor with all documents required to observe deadlines in particular tax assessments on such a timely basis that the German Public Auditor has an appropriate lead time.
- (3) Except as agreed otherwise in writing, ongoing tax advice encompasses the following work during the contract period:
- a) preparation of annual tax returns for income tax, corporate tax and business tax, as well as wealth tax returns, namely on the basis of the annual financial statements, and on other schedules and evidence documents required for the taxation, to be provided by the engaging party.
- examination of tax assessments in relation to the taxes referred to in
   (a)
- negotiations with tax authorities in connection with the returns and assessments mentioned in (a) and (b)
- d) support in tax audits and evaluation of the results of tax audits with respect to the taxes referred to in (a)
- participation in petition or protest and appeal procedures with respect to the taxes mentioned in (a).

In the aforementioned tasks the German Public Auditor takes into account material published legal decisions and administrative interpretations.

- (4) If the German Public auditor receives a fixed fee for ongoing tax advice, the work mentioned under paragraph 3 (d) and (e) is to be remunerated separately, except as agreed otherwise in writing.
- (5) Insofar the German Public Auditor is also a German Tax Advisor and the German Tax Advice Remuneration Regulation (Steuerberatungsvergütungsverordnung) is to be applied to calculate the remuneration, a greater or lesser remuneration than the legal default remuneration can be agreed in writing (Textform).

- (6) Work relating to special individual issues for income tax, corporate tax, business tax, valuation assessments for property units, wealth tax, as well as all issues in relation to sales tax, payroll tax, other taxes and dues requires a separate engagement. This also applies to:
- work on non-recurring tax matters, e.g. in the field of estate tax, capital transactions tax, and real estate sales tax;
- b) support and representation in proceedings before tax and administrative courts and in criminal tax matters;
- advisory work and work related to expert opinions in connection with changes in legal form and other re-organizations, capital increases and reductions, insolvency related business reorganizations, admission and retirement of owners, sale of a business, liquidations and the like, and
- d) support in complying with disclosure and documentation obligations.
- (7) To the extent that the preparation of the annual sales tax return is undertaken as additional work, this includes neither the review of any special accounting prerequisites nor the issue as to whether all potential sales tax allowances have been identified. No guarantee is given for the complete compilation of documents to claim the input tax credit.

#### 12. Electronic communication

Communication between the German Public Auditor and the engaging party may be via e-mail. In the event that the engaging party does not wish to communicate via e-mail or sets special security requirements, such as the encryption of e-mails, the engaging party will inform the German Public Auditor in writing (*Textform*) accordingly.

#### 13. Remuneration

- (1) In addition to his claims for fees, the German Public Auditor is entitled to claim reimbursement of his expenses; sales tax will be billed additionally. He may claim appropriate advances on remuneration and reimbursement of expenses and may make the delivery of his services dependent upon the complete satisfaction of his claims. Multiple engaging parties are jointly and severally liable.
- (2) If the engaging party is not a consumer, then a set-off against the German Public Auditor's claims for remuneration and reimbursement of expenses is admissible only for undisputed claims or claims determined to be legally binding.

#### 14. Dispute Settlement

The German Public Auditor is not prepared to participate in dispute settlement procedures before a consumer arbitration board (*Verbraucherschlichtungsstelle*) within the meaning of § 2 of the German Act on Consumer Dispute Settlements (*Verbraucherstreitbeilegungsgesetz*).

#### 15. Applicable law

The contract, the performance of the services and all claims resulting therefrom are exclusively governed by German law.